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ARICOM LIMITED
Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report on the affairs of Ancom Limited {the Company), together with
the financial statements and auditor’'s repont, for the year ended 31 December 2010

The Directors’ Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
2006 applicable to small companies

Review of Activities

Commencing 5 August 2010, the Company has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of IRC
Limited group, itself a subsidiary of Petropaviovsk PLC, which 1s the ultimate parent company
The restructuring of Petropavlovsk PLC group was completed in order to list the non-precious
metals division of Petropaviovsk PLC group on the Stock Exchange Hong Kong Limited

As part of the restructuning, and as described in note 18 to the prior year financial statements, a
number of investments were disposed to Petropaviovsk PLC, which reduced the level of the
investments held in the company

Further, a dividend of US$644,437 thousand was distributed to Petropaviovsk PLC to facilitate
the restructunng of the Group in preparation for the listng of the non-precious metals division
noted above onto the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

These financial statements have been prepared for the year ended 31 December 2010 The
main activities of the Company during the year were those of a holding company

The Company has no employees as it 1s believed that the Directors have the necessary skills and
knowledge to fulfil the aimed activities of the Company

The Company does not have any social and community 1ssues or environmental matters due to
the scope of its activities The information relevant to the Company's subsidiaries 1s disclosed in
the Petropaviovsk PLC 2010 Report and Accounts which are availlable at www petropavicvsk net

The Company's Directors believe that key performance indicators for the Company are not
necessary or appropriate for an understanding of the development, performance or position of
the business

The details of significant events since the balance sheet date are included in note 18 to the
financial statements

Going Concern Basis

The Directors have considered the use of the going concern basis Iin the preparation of the
financial statements in ight of current market conditions and concluded that 1t 1s appropriate In
reaching this conclusion, the Directors have specifically considered the Company’s relationship
with its immediate parent company and the assessment of working capital position and possible
commitments and contingencies The Company has received a letter of financial support from its
parent company Further details are set out In note 2 to the financial statements

Results

The loss for the year before taxation amounted to US$17,076 thousand (2009 loss US$156,612
thousand)

A dividend of US$ 644,437 thousand (2009 US$ NIL) was paid during the year to companies
within the Petropaviovsk PLC group




ARICOM LIMITED
Directors’ Report

Directors
Jay Hambro served as a Director throughout the year

The following changes to the directorate took place during the year

Kar Tung Raymond Woo Appointed 17 September 2010

Andrey Maruta Appointed 22 February 2010, resigned
17 September 2010

Brnian Egan Resigned 17 September 2010

Company Secretary

Amanda Whalley Appointed 19 May 2011

Anna-Karolina Subczynska-Samberger Appointed 25 June 2010, resigned 17
September 2010, reappointed 31 January
2011, resigned 19 May 2011

Lucille Dolor Appointed 17 September 2010, resigned 31
January 2011
Heather Willams Resigned 25 June 2010

Directors' indemnities

The Company has made no qualfying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its
Directors during the penod or which remain in force at the date of this report other than the
Directors’ and Officers’ insurance policy maintained by IRC Limited

Supplier Payment Policy

It 1s Company policy to agree and clearly communicate the terms of payment as part of the
commercial arrangement negotated with supplers and then to pay accordingly to those terms
based upon receipt of an accurate invoice

Auditor

Each of the persons who 1s a Director of the Company at the date of approval of this report
confirms

» so far as the Director 1s aware, there 15 no relevant audit inffermation of which the
Company’s Auditor 1s unaware, and

= the Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director to make
himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's
Auditor 1s aware of that information




ARICOM LIMITED
Directors’ Report

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of
the Companies Act 2006

Deloitte LLP have indicated their wilingness to be reappointed for another term and appropriate
arrangements have been put into place for them to be deemed reappointed as auditor In the
absence of an Annual General Meeting

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors of Ancom Limited and signed on its behalf

by

Jay Hambro
Director
o' June 2011




ARICOM LIMITED
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial penod
Under that law the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards
and applicable law) Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
and of the profit or loss of the company for that period In prepanng these financial statements,
the Directors are required to

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent, and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s inappropriate to
presume that the Company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to
show and explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other wregularities

By order of the Board
Jay Hambr

Director
M June 2011




ARICOM LIMITED
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aricom Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Ancom Limited for the year ended 31 December
2010 which comprise the Profit and Loss Account, the Balance Sheet and the related notes 1 to
19 The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, 1n accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’'s members those matters we are required to state to them in an audrtor’s
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’'s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and farr
view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opimion on the financial statements In
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for

Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining ewvidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
rmatenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This Includes an assessment of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applled and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Directors, and the overali presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements
« give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2010 and
of its loss for the year then ended,
s have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, and
» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the
financial statements are prepared I1s consistent with the financial statements




ARICOM LIMITED
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Aricom Limited (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you If, in our opinion
¢ adequate accounting records have not heen kept, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us, or
« the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
o certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
¢ we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Douglas King (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom

Wl . 2o\




ARICOM LIMITED
Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009

Note uUs$’'000 Us$’'000

Turnover - 10
Cost of sales - {8)
Gross profit 2
Net operating expenses 4 (23,849) (172,384)
Operating loss {23,849) {(172,382)
Change in fair value of derivatives 1,711 (1,711)
Profit on the disposal of a subsidiary 4,469 -
Finance income 6 593 17,481
(Loss) on ordinary activities before taxation {17,076) {156,612)
Taxation 8 - 2,395
Loss for the year {17,076) {154,217)

All gains or losses are recognised In the profit and loss account in both the current and previous
year, and therefore no separate statement of total recognised gains and losses has been

presented

All results relate to continuing activities




ARICOM LIMITED
Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note Us$000 us$’'000

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 9 - 717
Tangible assets 10 211 6,953
Investments 11 115,451 579,137

115,662 586,807
Current assets
Debtors due within one year 12 859 19,761
Cash at bank and on hand 11,879 180

12,738 19,941

Creditors amounts falling due within one year 13 (12,370) {110)
Derivative financial instruments - (1,711}

(12,370) (1,821)
Net current assets 368 18,120
Total assets less current liabilities 116,030 604,927
Net assets 116,030 604,927
Capital and Reserves
Called up share capital 14,15 2,457 2,265
Share premium 15 19,161 1,183,520
Share option reserve 15 9,200 9,200
Translation reserve 15 (75,411) (75,411)
QOther reserves 15 24,094 23,872
Profit and loss account 15 136,529 (538,519)
Shareholders’ Funds 116,030 604,927

The financial statements of Ancom Limited, registered number 4897906 were approved by the
Board of Directors and authorised for 1ssue on 9" June 2011 and signed on their behalf by

Jay
Director




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1 General information
Artcom Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in England and Wales on 12 September 2003

At 31 December 2010, the Company’s ultimate parent entity was Petropaviovsk PLC {note 19)
Petropaviovsk PLC and its subsidiaries are hereinafter referred to as the "Petropaviovsk PLC
group”

2 Basis of accounting

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
generally accepted accounting principles ("UK GAAP”) and in accordance with UK Company law
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis

A summary of the principal accounting policies 1s set out below These accounting policies have
been applied consistently throughout the reporting penod

The Company 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of IRC group, itself a subsidiary of Petropaviovsk
PLC group and 1s included in the conschdated financial statements of IRC Limited and
Petropavlovsk PLC, which are both publicly avallable The Company has taken advantage of the
exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements under s401 of the Companies Act
2006

The Company has also taken advantage of the exemptions from preparing a cash flow statement
under the terms of FRS 1 “Cash Flow Statements” and FRS 29 Financial Instrument Disclosure

Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the Company's financial position as at 31 December 2010, cash
flow forecasts and operating projections as part of their consideration of going concern As at 31
December 2010, the Company has net current assets of US$368 thousand (2009 US$18,120
thousand) The future cash flow and operating projections are primarily subject to the financing
activity with the subsidianes, joint ventures and associates of the IRC group, these arrangements
allow the Company to generate suffictent cash flows to cover its ongoing expenses The
Company has also received a letter of financial support from IRC Limited for a one year period
from the date when these financial statements are authorised and issued Accordingly the
Directors are satisfied that the Company wili have sufficient iquidity and cash resources in order
to meet its current and future obhgations and they continues to adopt the going concern basis Iin
preparing the financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets represent licensed intellectual property purchased in relation to the
processing of titamum sponge These intangibles are measured at cost and are amortised on a
straight ine basis over their estimated useful life, which 1s a period of up to ten years, but
dependent upon the start-up date of the Titanium Sponge Plant

10




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Other tangible fixed assets and depreciation

Other tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation Depreciation I1s
provided on all such tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation of
each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life or the Iife of the relevant licence,
whichever is less, as follows

Average life In years

Land and bulldings 50
Plant and machinery 7-20
Office equipment 3-10
Computer equipment 3-6

Until they are brought into use fixed assets and equipment to be installed are included within
assets under construction

The cost of maintenance, repairs and replacement of minor items of tangible fixed assets are
charged to the profit and loss account Renewals and betterments are capitalised Upon sale or
retirement of tangible fixed assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated
from the Financial Statements Any resulting gains or losses are included in the profit and loss
account

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there 1s any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any)

The recoverable amount i1s the higher of farr value less costs to sell and value in use In
assessing value In use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to therr present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the nsks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted

If the recoverable amount of an asset 1s estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset 1s reduced to its recoverable amount An imparrment loss 1s
recognised as an expense immedately, unless the relevant asset i1s carned at a revalued
amount, in which case the iImparrment loss 1s treated as a revaluation decrease

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 1s increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the ¢arrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years A reversal of an impairment loss 1s recognised as income
immediately, unless the relevant asset 1s carned at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss 1s treated as a revaluation increase

11




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)

Finance costs

Finance costs of financial habilities are recognised in the profit and loss account over the term of
such instruments at a constant rate of the carrying amount

Finance costs which are directly attributable to the construction of tangible fixed assets are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets The commencement of the capitalisation begins
when both finance costs and expenditures for the asset are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to get the assets ready for use are In progress Capitalisation ceases when
substantially all the activities that are necessary to get the asset ready for use are complete

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in other currencies, including the 1ssue of shares, are translated at the
rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habilites that are
denominated in other currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailling on the balance sheet
date Exchange differences are charged or credited to the profit and loss account in the year in
which they arise

The rates of exchange used to translate monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign
currencies into US Dollars are set out below

31 December 2010

GB Pounds Sterling 064

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabiities are recognised on the Company’s balance sheet when
the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are measured on mitial recognition at far value, and are subsequently
measured at cost less allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts Approprate allowances
for estimated rrecoverable amounts are recognised in the profit and loss when there 1s objective
evidence that the asset 1s impaired The allowance recognised 1s measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition

12




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an
investment 1s under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned and are initially measured at cost, including
transaction costs

Other investments are classified as either held-for-trading or avallable-for-sale, and are
measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value Where secunties are held for trading
purposes, gains and losses arsing from changes in fair value are included in net profit or loss for
the period

Cash in bank and on hand

Cash in bank and on hand comprises cash on hand held by the Company and short-term bank
deposits with an original matunity of three months or less

Taxation including deferred taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be

paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date

Full provision 1s made for deferred taxation on all timing differences that have arisen but not
reversed at the balance sheet date, except that deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it 1s more hkely than not that they will be recovered Deferred tax 1s measured on a
non-discounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the penods in which timing
differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantially enacted at the balance
sheet date

4 Net operating expenses

2010 2009

US$'000 Us$’000
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of
the Company’s accounts pursuant to legislation 32 7
Depreciation 71 12
Payroll - 2,404
Consulting services 88 236
Travel and entertainment 68 206
Insurance 15 528
Cost associated with acquisition of Aricom by
Petropaviovsk PLC - 5,617
Impairment loss (note 5) 23,484 162,270
Foreign exchange loss 11 165
Other operating expenses 80 939
Net operating expenses 23,849 172,384

13




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

The Company had no employees for the year ended 31 December 2010
5 Impairment

In 2010, the Company was advised that its joint venture partner Aluminium Corporation of China
Limited (“Chinalco”™) had decided to withdraw from some of its non-core ventures and
consequently no longer wishes to proceed with the Titanium Sponge Joint Venture To date the
Company Invested approximately US$20,815 thousand (this amount was offset by a translation
difference of US$3,723 thousand recogrised in 2008) in the joint venture, and a further
US$15,288 thousand in the titanium sponge processing technology, which was expected to be
recharged to the joint venture The company has made the decision to defer the the bullding of
the plant and there Is uncertainty as to the eventual outcome of the joint venture activities As a
consequence of this the recoverability of the amounts invested 1s in doubt

Therefore, the directors have concluded that the most appropnate course of action 1s to provide
for impairment against the invested amounts of US$28,863 thousand This impairment has been
aliocated to intangible assets US$717 thousand, assets under construction US$14,571 thousand
and interest in joint venture US$13,575 thousand The impairment took into account the
recoverable value of the Company’s share of the joint venture of US$3,517 thousand which
reflected the Company 65% share of the cash within the joint venture, net of its llabthties

A reversal of previous impairment in receivables from Peter Hambro Mining Treasury UK Limited
for the amount of US$5,379 was also recognised as a result of the repayment of the onginal lean
amount in full

6 Finance income

2010 2009
US$’000 US$’000
Investment Income
Income from cash and cash equivalents - (180)
Interest earned on amounts lent to
subsidiaries of IRC group (593) (566)@
Dividend received from subsidianes of
IRC group - (17,025)@
(17,771)
Less
Other finance charges - 290
Net finance income (593) (17,481)

(a) The amounts as at 31 December 2009 related to balances with companies of
Petropaviovsk PLC Group

14




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

7 Directors’ Remuneration

The Directors received no emoluments in respect of their services as Directors of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2010 The Directors are also Directors of IRC Limited and their
remuneration 1n respect of ther rotes as Directors of IRC Limited 1s set out in the Directors’
Remuneration report in the annual report for IRC Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010
The annual report 1s publicly avallable at www ircgroup com hk

8 Taxation
The tax credit compnises

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000
Pror year adjustment - {1,567)
Deferred tax prior year adjustment - (828)
Total current tax credit - {2,395)

The difference between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying
the standard rate of UK corporation tax to the profit/loss before tax 1s as follows

2010 2009

Us$'000 US$’000

Loss on ordinary activities before tax (17,076) {156,612)
Tax credit at the UK corporation tax rate of 28% {4,781) (43,851)
Non-deductible expenses 8,082 46,821
Non-taxable income (3,237) (2,545)
Tax effect of tosses not recognised - (425)
Prior year losses utiised (64) -
Pnor year adjustment - (1,567)
Current tax credit for the penod - {1,567)

At 31 December 2010 the Company has unused tax losses of US$1,818 thousand (2009
US$2,046 thousand) No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses as
there 1s no sufficient certainty that there will be sufficient taxable profit against which to offset
these losses in future

13




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

9 Intangible assets
Intellectual
property Total
US$'000 US$'000
Cost or valuation
Cost at 1 January 2010 717 717
Additions
Impairment losses (717) (717)

At 31 December 2010

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2010 - -
Charge for the year - -

At 31 December 2010 - -

Net book value - -

Intangible assets represent amounts paid to acquire hcensed intellectual property in relation to
the processing of titanium sponge The Company reviewed the carrying amount of its intangible
assets and determined that those assets have suffered an impairment loss (note 5)

10 Tangible fixed assets

Equipment, Other fixed  Assets under
fixtures and fittings assets construction Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$’000 US$'000

Cost or valuation
Cost at 1 January 2010 118 125 6,766 7,009
Additions - - 7,800 7,900
Disposals - - - -
Impairment - - (14,571) (14,571)
At 31 December 2010 118 125 95 338
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2010 (47) - (9) {56)
Charge for the year (71) - - {71)
At 31 December 2010 (118) - (9 (127)
Net book value
At 31 December 2010 - 125 86 211
At 31 December 2009 71 125 6,757 6,953

Assets under construction represent amounts paid in relation to the construction of the Titanum
Sponge Plant JV As at 31 December 2010 the investment in the Titamum Sponge project was

impaired (note 5)

16




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

11 Investments

Investments in  Investments

IRC group injoint Other

subsidiaries ventures Investments Total

uUS$’000 Us$’000 US$’000 UsS$'000

At 1 January 2010 561,692 17,092 353 579,137

Additions (1) 14,164 - - 14,164

Disposals (i) (464,275) - - (464,275)
Impairment losses - (13,575) - (13,575)

At 31 December 2010 111,581 3,517 353 115,451

Additions to investments n IRC group companies during the current year represent capital
injections into the companies Significant changes to the Company’s investments are outlined

below

() The Company invested an additional US$14,164 thousand in Aricom UK Limited, of which
US$222 thousand reflects the cost of the LTIP awards granted to employees of its
subsidianes Full information on the LTIP awards 1s given in the consolidated accounts of

IRC Limited

)y ©On 10 June 2010 the entire shareholding in Ancom Treasury of US3%62,004 thousand and in
Ancom Finance of US$402,271 thousand were sold to Petropavlovsk PLC for consideration

of US$63,145 thousand and US$405,599 thousand respectively

The Company has invested In the following IRC Limited group subsidianes

Country of Proportion of
incorporation Principal activity shares held
Arcom UK Limited United Kingdom  Hoiding company 100%
Arfin Limited Cyprus Finance company 100%
OO0 Rubicon Russia Bridge project 90%@

(a) The company has indirect holding of 100% in OO0 Rubicon

The Company has invested in the following joint ventures

Country of Proportion of
incorporation Principal activity shares held
Hellongpang Jaital Titanium Co , China Titanium Joint 65%
Limited Venture project

17




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

12 Debtors
2010 2009
US$’000 US$'000
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
VAT recoverable within one year 771 759
Amounts due from Petropaviovsk PLC - 3,358
Amounts due from subsidiarnies of Petropavlovsk PLC group - 15,578
Prepayments and accrued incocme 39 59
Other debtors 49 7
859 19,761
13 Creditors
2010 2009
US$’'000 US$'000
Trade creditors - 9
Other creditors 1 1
Accruals and deferred income 7.827 86
Amounts due to Petropavlovsk PLC 24 7
Amounts due to subsidiaries of IRC _group 4,418 7@
12,370 110

(a) The amounts as at 31 December 2009 related to balances with companies of

Petropaviovsk PLC Group

The Directors estimate that the carrying amount of creditors approximates their fair value

14 Share Capital
31 December

31 December

2010 2009
No. of shares No. of shares

‘000 US$000 ‘000 UsS$’000
Authonsed
Ordinary shares of £0 0001
each 20,000,000 20,000,000 -
Allotted, called up and fully
paid
Ordinary shares of £0 0001
each 13,163,537 2,457 11,828,638 2,265

Details of the ordinary shares in i1ssue at the commencement of the year, ordinary shares 1ssued
during the year and ordinary shares in issue at the year-end are given in the table below

18



ARICOM LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

14 Share capital (continued)

Date Description Price GBP No of shares
01 January 2010 Number of ordinary shares in issue at 11,828,637,632
the commencement of the year
26 May 2010 Ordinary shares 1ssued 008 1,330,000,000
31 August 2010 QOrdinary shares 1ssued 1 00000021874 1,761,854
01 September 2010 | Ordinary shares 1ssued 1 00000012000 2,450,336
12 October 2010 Qrdinary shares 1ssued 1 00000497440 69,034
19 November 2010 | Ordinary shares issued 1 0000005177 544 117
17 December 2010 | Ordinary shares 1gsued 99 99983234270 74,162
31 December 2010 | Number of ordinary shares in 1ssue at
the end of the year 13,163,537,135
15 Reserves
Share Profit
Share Share option andloss Translation Other
Capital premium reserve account reserve reserves Total
UsS$'000 UsS$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$’000 UsS’000 US$000
At 1 January 2010 2,265 1,183,520 9,200 (538,519) (75,411} 23,872 604,927
Total recognised loss - - - (17,076) - - (17,076)
Issue of ordinary shares 192 172,202 - - - - 172,394
Reduction in share
premium @ - (1,336,561) - 1,336,561 - ) -
Dividend paid to
Petropaviovsk PLC®™ - . - (844,437) - - (644,437)
Parent Capital contnbution
(note 16) - - - - - 222 222
At 31 December 2010 2,457 19,161 9,200 136,529 {75,411) 24,094 116,030
At 1 January 2009 2,265 1,183,520 10,955 (386,211) (75,210) 22,200 757,519
Total recognised loss - - - (154,217) (201) - {154,418)
Share-based payments - - 154 - - - 154
Parent Capital contnbution - - - - - 1,672 1,672
Option replaced on
acquisition - - (1,909) 1,909 - - -
At 31 December 2009 2,265 1,183,520 9,200 (538,519) (75.411) 23,872 604,927

(a) On 27 May 2010 the Company undertook a capital reduction following a solvency statement under
section 642 of the Companies Act 2006

(b) On 21 June 2010 the Company distnbuted dividends 1n the amount of $644,437 thousand
to Petropavlovsk PLC to facilitate the Group restructuring in preparation for the listing of
the Iron Ore division on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange Of this amount $22,460
thousand was paid in cash, the remainder was offset against amounts owing by

Petropavilovsk PLC

19




ARICOM LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

16 Share-based payments

For the year ended 31 December 2010 Company recorded an expense of US$222 thousand
(2009 US$1,634 thousand) in respect of the Aricom LTIP and the Replacement LTIP

The full details of equity-settled share awards are disclosed 1n IRC Limited annual report The
annual report 1s publicly available at www ircgroup com hk

17 Related party transactions
The Company applied exemption provided by FRS 8 Related Party Disclosures Iin relation to
disclosure of transactions with wholly-owned subsidiaries of the IRC group

Petropaviovsk PLC, the ultimate holding company and its subsidiaries and joint ventures are
considered to be related parties due to Mr Peter Hambro, Mr George Jay Hambro and Dr Pavel
Maslovskly shareholdings and directorships in those companies and Petropaviovsk PLC

Mr Peter Hambro 1s a Director and beneficiary owner of Peter Hambro Limited

Transactions with related parties the Company entered into during the year ended 31 December
2010 and 2009 are set out below

Trading Transactions

Related party transactions the Company entered into that relate to the day to day operation of the
business are set out below

Sales to related Purchases from
parties related parties

2010 2009 2010 2009
US$’000 US$'000  US$'000 US$'000

Petropavlovsk PLC . - 104 168
Peter Hambro Limited - - - 36
Millennium Implementation Limited - - - 56
Aricom Rouble Treasury UK Limited 17 - - -
Ancom Finance UK Limited 26 - - -
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17 Related party transactions (continued)

Trading Transactions (continued)

The outstanding balances with related parties at 31 December 2010 and 2008 are as follows

Amounts owed by
related parties

Amounts owed to
related parties

2010 2008 2010 2009

UsS$’'000 US$'000 US$000 US$000

Petropavlovsk PLC - - 24 -
Arncom Finance UK Limited 26 - - -
Aricom Rouble Treasury UK Limited 17 - - -

18 Subsequent events

From January to Apnl 2011, the Company issued 4,784,913 ordinary shares for a total

consideration of US$7,500 thousand

19 Parent undertaking

The Company’'s immediate parent 1s Thorholdco Limited, which in itself 1s a subsidiary of IRC
Limited group Copies of the consolidated accounts of IRC Limited are publicly avallable at

www Ircqroup com hk

The Company’s ultimate parent i1s Petropaviovsk PLC, a company registered in England and
Wales Copies of the consolidated accounts of Petropaviovsk PLC are avallable from Companies
House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ or on the internet at www petropaviovsk net
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Aricom Limited (registered number 4897906} has taken advantage of the exemption from
preparing consohdated financial statements under s401 of the Companies Act 2006 Aricom
Limited 1s consolidated into IRC Limited whose accounts are provided below
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Corporate
Governance Report

The Management and Board of IRC are committed
to promoting good ccrporate governance to
safeguard the interests of the shareholders and to
enhance the Group's performa_nce Throughout the
year, the Company was in compliance with the code

provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Pracuices as set outin Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securines on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Liruted (the “Usting Rules”)

Directors’ securities

transactions

ThexCompany has adopted the Model Code for

. Skcunities Transachons by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out tn Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”} The Directors have complied with
the standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2010

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (the “Board”} of the
Company provides leadership and supervises the
overall direction of the Group’s businesses The day-
today management however has been delegated
to the Executwve Directors The Board comprises

ot exght Directors, three Executive Directors, three
Independent Non-Executive Directors and two
Non-Executve Directors One of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors possesses the approprate
professional accounting qualifications or related
hnancaial management expertise as required under
the Listing Rules

Each of the Independent Non-Executive Drrectors
has made an annual confirmaton of independence
pursuant to rule 3 13 of the Listing Rules The Board
meets regularly to review financial statements,
matenal investments (N new projects, dividend
policy, major financings, treasury policies and
changes in accounting policies Afl Directors have
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access to board papers and related matenals which
are provided on a amely manner

The Company Secretary keeps the minutes of Board
meetngs

The full Board met twice 1a 2010 Anendance of
tndividual Birectors is listed below

Attendance
Executive Directors

Mr G ) Hambro, Charrman 2/2
Mr YV Makarov, Chief Executive Officer 2/2
Mr R KT Woe, Chief Finanaal Officer 2/2

Independent Non-Executive
Directors

Mr D R Bradshaw, senior independent Non kxecutive Divector 2/2
MrJ E Martin Smith, 2/2
MrCF Li,2/2

Non-Executive Directors

Dr PA Maslovskly, 2/2
Mr S Murray, CBE, Chevolier de lo Legion d'honneur™, 2/2

“ Appointed on 3 September 2010, resigneo on 14
September and reappomnted on 16 November 2010

Mr YV Makarov, Chief Executive Officer, 1s the
stepson of Dr PA Maslovskly, a Non-Executive
Director Mr G § Hambro s the son of Mr PC P
Hambro, a substanhal shareholder in Petropaviovsk
PLC

The independent Non-Executive Directors are
appointed for a specific term and are subject to
retirement by rotation
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Governance Report
Continued

Remuneraticn Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established by
the Board on 3 September 2010 The Commitiee

consists of the three Independent Non-Execuve
Directors

The Commitiee met once in 2010 Attendance of

individuat Directors 1s listed below

Attendance

Mr ] E Martin Smith — Charman of the Remuneration Commuttee 1/ 1
Mr D R Bradshaw — Independent Non-Executve Director 1/1

Mr CF L — independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

The principal duty of the Committee 1s to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
pohcy and siructure for allremuneraton of Directors
and senior management In doing this, professronatl
adwvice may be sought f constdered necessary No
Directors or any of his/her associates 1s involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31st December 2010, fees
payable to IRC's auditor for audit and non-audit
services amounted to US$459,000 and US$2,838,000
respectively

LTl e
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established by the Board
on 3 September 2010

The Committes met once 1in 2010 Attendance of
individual Directors 1s listed below

Mr C F Li ~ Chairman of the Audit Commustee 1/1
Mr D R Bradshaw — indepeadent Non Execunve Birector 1/1
Mr | E Martin Smith — Independent Non Executive Director /1

By reference to “A Guide for The Formation of An
Audit Committee” published by the Hong Kong
nstitute of Certhed Public Accountants and the
code prowision C3 3 (the “Code Provision”} of the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices, Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules, written terms of reference {the
Terms”) which describe the authority and dutes of
the Audit Committee were prepared and adopted
by the Board of the Company on 3 September 2010
The principa!l duties of the Audit Committee include
the review and supervision of the Group’s financtal
reporting svstem and internal control procedures
Duning 2010, the Audit Committee met to review the
2010 annuai report and accounts and held discussions
witn the external auditor regarding financial reperning,
comphliance, scope of audit, policies for maintaining
independence and reported to the Board

The Boara acknowledges s responsibility to
ensure that sound and effective internal control
systems are maintamed so as to safeguard the
Group's assets and the interest of shareholders
The Board 1s responsible for reviewing the mnternal
control policies and has deiegated the day-to-

day management of operational nsks to the
Executive Committee During the year, independent
consultants were hired to assist the Board to
perform a high-level nsk assessment of the Group,
which entails identifying, analysing and assessing
key risks faced by the Group By reference to a

globally recognised internal controls framework, the
high-level risk assessment covered all key controls
including financial, compliance and operatonal
controls and risk management systems

Health, Safety and Environment Committee
The Health, Safety and Environment Committee was
established by the Board on 3 September 2010

The Health, Safety and Environment Committee
oversees the Company’s positon in relaton to
these matters

Directors’ Responsibility
Statement

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financal statements of the Group

in accordance with statutory requirements and
apphcable accounting standards The Group’s
annual results and interim results are announced i
a omely manner

The Auditors’ Report to the shareholders states the
auditors’ reportung responsibilines

Qn behalf of the Board

\ i |
- _ _lr_ _-__.}14‘ (-F,:_;v.,_ {_u’t}

\,___J ',l
i
G J Hambro

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 February 2011




The Directors present their annual report and the audrted
consalidated financial statements of the Company and 1ts
subsidiaries {coliectively referred to as the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2010

Corporate reorganisation and
Initial Public Offering

The Company was incorporated with imited liability
in Hong Kong on 4 June 2010 under the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

Pursuant to a rearganisation scheme to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the public
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company
became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group on 5 August 2010

Details of the group reorganisation are set out i note 2 to
the consolidated financiat statements and the Company’s
Prospectus dated 30 September 2010

The shares of the Cormpany were listed on the Stock
Exchange with effect from 21 October 2010

Principal activities

The Company ts principally engaged in the productnon and
development of industrial commodites products that are
used in industry across the world The activities of the
Group are set out 0 note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements

The analysis of the prinapal activities and geographical
locations of the operaton of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 201015 set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financral statements

Results

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated
income statement and statement of comprehensive
income on page 60 and in the accornpanying notes to the
cansohidated financial statements

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year s set outn the Results of Operatons
section on page 54 of this annual report
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Dividend

The Board does not recommend the distribunaon of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2010

Property, plant and equipment

Detalls of the mavements in property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out In note 20to
the consohdated financial statements

Share capital

Details of the movements In the share capital of the
Companv during the year are set cutin note 33to
the consohdated financial statements

Share option scheme

Information on the share option scheme 1s set out
n note 38 to the consolidated financial statements

Reserves

Detalls of movements n reserves during the year
are set out i the sechon “Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity” of the conschdated financial
statements

Directors

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
during the year and up to the date of this report
WEre

George Jay Hambro (appointed on 4 June 2010}
Yury Makarov {appointed on 4 June 2010)
Raymond Kar Tung Woo (appointed on 30 luly 2010}
Dr Pavei Maslovskyy
{appointed on 3 September 2010}
Daniel Rochfort Bradshaw
(appointed on 3 September 2010}
Jonathan Eric Martn Smith
{appointed on 3 September 2010)
Chuang-fel Lt (appainted on 3 Septermber 2010)

Simen Murray, CBE, Chevaher de le Legion o’ honneur
(appointed on 3 Sepiember 2010,
resigned on 14 September 2010, and
re-appointed on 16 November 2010)

The Hon Nicholas John Powell*

(appainted on 3 September 2010 and
resigned on 14 September 2010)

Karen Jane Benest**

[appaunted on 4 June 2010 and
resigned on 6 August 2010)

Mark Patrick Gerard Lewis**

[appointed on 4 June 2010 and
resigned on 6 August 2010)

Richard John Stobart Prosser™®

(appointed an 4 june 2010 and

resigned on 6 August 2010}

alternate to Simon Murray for the pre IPO pecod
appeinted as temporaty direciors for the purpose of

re structunng

Directors’ service contracts

The Company has entered into letters of
appointment with each of its Directors, pursuant to
which each Director 1s appointed for a term of three
years and are subject to terminanon n accordance
with their respective terms

Directors’ interests

As at 31 December 2010, the mnterests or short
positions of the Directors and chief execunives of
the Company n the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of Its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securines and Futures Ordinance {“SFO”) which
were nohfied to the Company ang The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuaat to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the

SFO (including interests o short positons which
they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company
under Sechion 352 of the SFO, or which were




42

IRC Annuat Report 2010

required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securittes Transactigns by Directors as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules and adopted by the Company (the “Model Code”), to be noufed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows

Long positions in shares of the company
Percentage of

Number of 1ssued shares

shares in the in the

Name of director Mature of interest Company Company
George Jay Hambro Contingent beneficial interest? 23,220,000 069%
Yury Makarov Contingent beneficial interast! 20,317,500 Q 60%
Raymond Kar Tung Woo Contingent benehaial interest! 14,512,504 043%
No of sharesn Percentage of

Petropavlovsk PLC 1ssued shares in

Name of director Nature of interest {“Petropavlovsk”) Petropavlovsk
George lay Hambro Contingent beneficial interest 54,166 0 08%*
Yury Makarov Conuingent benehcial interest 41,666 007%3
Beneficial interest 53,846 0 03%"

Dr Pavel Maslovskiy Interest of a controlled corporation and 16,861,696 8 98%*

beneficial interest

Mr George lay Hambro is the son of Mr Peter Hambro, the Chairman of Petropaviovsk PLC Mr Yury Makarov
15 the stepson of Dr Pavel Maslovskiy, the Chief Executive Officer of Petropaviovsk PLC and a Non-Executive
Director of IRC

' An Employee Benefit Trust (“EBT") was established for the purpose of making appointments and setthng awards made under the
Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIF"} The LTIP is to provide equity mcenbives over already issued Shares to selected employees
of the Group, including executive directors of the Company but excluding directors of Petropaviovsk The trustee of the EBT 1s 5G
Hambros Trust Company (Channel Islands) Limited 111§ intended that the EBT shall not hold more than 5% of the outstanding
share capital of the Company at any hme As at 31 December 2010, the £BT held 116,100,000 shares of the Company, represenning
3 45% of the total ssued share capual of the Company Awards may be granted and appointrmeants may be made in accordance
with the terms of the EBT to eligible employees for the benefit of therr families under the terms of the LTIP by the EBT Any such
award shall be subject to the recommendahon of the Remuneraton Commitiee of the Board (the “Commuttee '), with respect to
the terms of such award and the exer¢ise of any discrenons The same vesting condinons shalt be appled to awards granted by the
EBT as are apphed to awards granted at the same tme by the Commitiee

2 These are condihonal interests in shares in Petropaviovsk held in Petropaviovsk s employee benefit trust {the ‘Petropaviovsk
EBT™) ard rrlaie '6 performance share awards which the wrustes of the Petropaviovsk EBT granted on 26 June 2010 under
PLUropaviovsh s long Lerm mgentive plan and in accardance wilh the terms of the Petropaviovsk EBT for the benefit of the famibres
of each of Jay Bambro and Yury Makarov

? Assuming the 1ssued share capital of Petropavlovsk 15 increased only by the number of shares to be issued 10 Yury Makarov upon

the vesting of the shares awarded to lum pursuant to Petropavlovsk's long term incennve plan on 26 June 2010

Yury Maharov wds awarded shares in Petropaviovsk 1n Apnt 2005 pursuant 1o the merger of Artcom and Petropaviovsk {then

known as Peter Hambro Mining plc) These shares vested i February 2010 and are currently held in the Petropaviovsk EBT

s Dr Pavel Maslovskiy and his associated corporations had, in aggregate, a 8 98% interest in Petropaviovsk Subsequent to 31
December, 2010, D1 Pavel Masiovskiy ant his associated corporations decreased their Shareholdings o 14,798,486 shares,
representing a 7 B8% interest in Petropaviovsk
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Long positions in shares of an associated corporation

Name of

Name of Director associated corporation

Capacity and

nature of interest Number of Shares

Dr Pavel Maslovskiy Petropaviovsk

Mr George Jay Hambro Petropavlovsk

Mr Yury Makarov Petropavlovsk

Directors’ interests in
competing businesses

Except as described below, none of the Directors
of the Company or their respective associates was
interested in, apart from the Group’s businesses,
any business which competes or 1 likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group

Petropaviovsk 1s the ulftmate holding company

of the Company after group reorganisation
Petropaviovsk and 1ts subsidiaries (“Petropaviovsk
Group”} are principally engaged in the exploration,
development and production of precious metal
deposits in Russia The Directors do not consider
Petropaviovsk to be a competitor of the Company
because Petropavlovsk focuses on different
commodites to the Company However, the
Company and Petropaviovsk have entered into a
Deed of Non-Compenten (the “Deed”} to ensure
that their respective businesses do not compete
The Deed, dated 22 September 2010, commenced
from tne Lisung Date (21 October 2010) and shall
connnue in force untl such tme as the shares of the
Companvy cease to be hsted on the Stock Exchange
or until Petropavlovsk controls less than 50% of the
issued share capital of the Company

The airectors confirm that the company was in
comphance with the terms of the Deed during the
year ended 31 December 2010

Beneficial owner and 16,861,696°
interest of a controlled
corporanon
Contngent beneficial interest 54,166
Contingent beneficial interest 95,512

and beneficial owner

During the year and up to the date of this report,
the following Directors (not betng the independent
non-executive directors) have Interests in
Petropaviovsk

(1)  Dr Pavel Masiovskiy s a director and
shareholder of Petropaviovsk,

() George Jay Hambreo and Yury Makarov are
shareholders of Petropavlovsk, and

{in}) George Jay Hambro serves as a part-nme
consultant to Petropaviovsk

Directors’ interests in contracts

No Director had a matenial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any contract of sigrificance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party during the year ended
31 December 2010

Appointment of Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the
tndependent non-executive directors, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3 13 of the Listing Rules The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent

' Or Pavel Maslovskiy and his associated corporanons had, in aggregate a 8 98% interestin Petropaviovsk Subsequent to 31 December,
2010 D Pavel Maslovskiy and his associated corporations decreased ther Shareholdings to 14 798,486 shares, representng a 7 88%

interest in Petropavicovsk
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Substantial shareholders” and other persons’ interests

So far as 1s known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2010, the Company'’s
sharenolders {other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions

in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the

provisions of Divisians 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company as under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows

Name of shareholder

Capacity

Number of Shares

Petropavlovsk PLC

Caywron Limited™

Blackrock, Inc

General Enterprise Management
Services Limited {"GEMS”)

ARF Investment Management Limited

As1a Resources Fund Limited

Development Bank of Japan In¢c ***

General Enterprise Management
Serwvices {internanonal) Limited

Marbella Holdings Limited **

Corporate interest

Interest of a controlled corporation
Interest of a controlled corperaton
Interest of a controlled corparation

Investment manager

Interest of a controlled corporation
Interest of a controlled corperation
Interest of a controlled corporanon

Beneficial owner

i Cayiran Limited 15 a wholly owned subsidiary of Petropaviovsk PLC

2,205,500,000
2,205,500,000
219,600,000
215,568,000

215,568,000
215,568,000
215,568,000
215,568,000

215,568,000

Marbella Holdings Limited 15 5 wholly-owned subsidhary of Asia Resources Fund Limited, which s managed by ARF Investment

Management Limited whuch 1s 3 wholly owned subsidiary of General Enterprise Management Services (International) Lim:ted

***  Dgvelopment Bank of Japaa Inc holds a 46 51% interest in Asia Resourcas Fund Limited

Save as disclosed above and those disclosed under
“Directors’ Interests”, the Group had not been

notified of other interests representing 5% or more
of the 1ssued share capital of the Company as at 31

December 2010

As at 31 December 2010, the Company had not
been notihed of any short posihons being held by
any substantal sharehalder in shares or underlying
shares of the Company, which are required to be

recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of Part XV of the Securites and Futures

Purchase, sale or redemption ot Ordinance
the Company’s listed securities

During the year neither the Company nor any of its

subsidianes has purchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s hsted securities
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the following non-exempt connected transactions require disclosure

in the annual report of the Company

Actual

amount

Connected transacnons Connected Persons Cap for 2010 for 2010
UsS$’000 Uss'000

A |Shared Services Agreement Petropaviovsk and/ar its subsidiaries 2,035 1,437
B |Technical Services Agreement Petropaviovsk and/or its subsidiaries 42,000 28,939
C |Helcopter Lease Agreement  Petropaviovsk and/or its subsidiaries 1,000 805
D |Hebcopter Services Agreemenl Petropaviovsk and/or s subsidianes 2,000 218
E jAircraft Agreement Milenntum lmplementation Linited 1,000 Ml
F |Banking Arrangements 0J5C Asian-Pacific Bank 30,000 13,531
G | Apatit Services Agreements  OJSC Apant 5,000 3,974
The actual amount of these transactons did not space, (1) legal services, () management

exceed the respective caps

The connected fransactions descrioed in items

A to D, concern transactions between the Group
and Petropaviovsk Petropaviovsk, throughits
wholly-owned subsidiary Cayiron Limited, 15 3
substannal shareholder of the Company, and
therefore a connected persen pursuant to Lisiing
Rule 14A 11(1) Furthermore, Petropaviovsk’s
subsidiaries are also connected persons of the
Company as they are associates of Petropaviovsk
Accardingly, transactions between the Group
and Petropavlovsk, and between the Group

and Petropaviovsk's subsidiaries, are connected
transactions for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules

A Shared Services Agreement
The Group procures certain services from
Petropaviovsk, and provides certain services
to Petropaviovsk {“Shared Services”) On
29 September 2010, the Company and
Petropavlovsk entered inio an agreement
in respect of Shared Services {the “Shared
services Agreement”}, for a term of three
years The Shared Services Agreement IS
intended to provide an overarching framework
for provision of the shared services The
Shared Services cormnprise {1 shared office

and information technology services,

{iv} administrative services and (v} an
equipment lease Excepi for {v) equipment
lease, which 15 based on arm’s length basis,
all other services are recharged based on cost
plus a markup of 10%

Technical Services Agreement

On 29 Septernber 2010, the Group and
Petropavlovsk entered Into a techmeal
services agreement (the “Technical Services
Agreement”) for a term of three years The
Technical Services Agreement provides

an overarching agreement which governs
Petropaviovsk’s provision of technical services
to the Group Prior to the merger of Aricom
and Petropaviovsk, Ancom procured technical
services from Petropaviovsk on a "cost plus
margin” basis The independent directors of
Aricom considered that this was a reasonable
arm’s length basis on whien technical services
could be procured The Group has adopted

a “cost plus 10% markup” approach, and

the Directors consiger that it represants
reasonable arm’s tength terms The technical
services comprise (1} constructhion services,
(1} engingering anc design services and

(1} exploration and geological services
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Helicopter Lease Agreement

LLC GMMC, 2 subsidiary of the Company,
provides MC Petropavlovsk with helicopter
services pursuant to a helicopter lease
agreement ("Helicopter Lease Agreement”)
dated 29 September 2010 Under the
Helicopter Lease Agreement, LLC GMMC
leases its helicopter to MC Petropaviovsk

for use in Petropaviovsk’s operations MC
Petropaviovsk is a subsidiary of Petropavlovsk,
and therefore 1t 1s @ connected person of

the Company for the purposes of Chapter
144 of the Listing Rules Although the
Petropavlovsk Group owns two helicopters,
1t 1s still necessary for it to procure heltcopter
services from the Group This s because at
various ttmes one or both of the helicopters
may be under repar and maintenance This
arrangement provides the Patropaviovsk
Group with continuous access to a helicopter
service The terms and condinons of the
Helicopter Lease Agraerment are no more
favourable to MC Petropavlovsk than those
vhat would be offered to independent third
parties The agreement has oeenin place

for a year, with MC Petropaviovsk paying
USS900,000 for helicopter services provided
in 2009 The Helicopter Lease Agreement
has been amended and varied pursuant to

a deed of variation to ensure compliance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rutes and,
under the terms of the amended agreement,
the amount charged to MC Petropavlovsk

15 calculated on the total ¢ost, including
amortisaton and overheads plus a margin of
10%, attributable to actual flight ime

Helicopter Services Agreement

On 29 September 2010, the Group and MC
Petropaviovsk entered into an agreement
relating to the provision of helicopter services
{"Helicopter Services Agreement”} The
Helicopter Services Agreement Is a continuing
connected transachon Under the agreement,
MC Petropavlovsk provides the Group with the
use of its helicopter The use of a helicopter

1s critical for the Group's business due to the
distances between the Group’s assets and
offices The Group owns a helicopter and, as
noted above in item C, 1t leases 1ts helicopter
te MC Petropavlovsk The reason the Group
procures a helicopter service from MC
Petropavlovsk under the present arrangement
15 to ensure that it has continuous access

to a helcopter service This will be relevant
where the Group’s own helicopter 1s under
repair and maintenance, or where the Group's
personnel require an extended service MC
Petropavlovsk recharges the Group for total
cost, including amortisabon and overheads
plus a margin of 10%, attnbutable to actual
flight tme
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The followtng continuing connected transacthons
are between the Group and persons other than
Petropavlovsk or 1ts subsidiaries

E Arrcraft Agreement
The Group uses an aircraft owned by
Millenmium Implementation Linited
Millennium Implementation Limited 1s &
company associated with Dr Pavel Maslovsky,
a Non-Executive Director, and 1s accordingly
a connected person of the Company The
arrangement assists directors and employees
to visit the locanons of the Group's major
operanons guickly

On 29 September 2010, the Company and
Millennium implementabon Limited entered
into an agreement {the “Arcraft Agreement”)
under which the Company agrees 1o
renmburse Millennium Implementation
Limited for the use of the aircraft by the
Group The cost paid by the Company Is based
on a fixed hourly charge which includes fixed
cost and variable cost components The hourly
charge 15 muloplied by the number of hours
flown

F Bankmg Arrangements
On 29 September 2010, the Group entered
into an agreement with QJ5C Asian-Pacific
Bank {“Asan-Paaific Bank”) to mamtain bank
deposits on commercial terms (“Banking
Arrangements”) Dr Pavel Maslovskly, a Non-
Executive Director, and Mr Peter Hambro, the
father of a Director, each hold a 25% interest
tn the company, ¥ M HY Holdings Limited,
a 98% shareholder of the Russian company
PRFIN Holding, which in turn holds a 67 6%
ynterest in Asian-Pacthc Bank The interests
of Dr Pavel Maslovskiy and Mr George Jay
Hambro are aggregated unger Listing Rule
14A 11, with the result that Asian-Pacific
Bank 1s a connected person of the Company
Accordingly, the Banking Arrangements
are classihed as a continuing connected
transacnon for the purposes of the Lisaing
Rules

The Group elects to depostt a portion of 115
surplus funds with Astan-Pacific Bank for two
reasons

Firstly, Asian-Pacific Bank offers a compenitive
deposit rate i respect of US doltar depaosits
The Directors consider that the deposit rate
offered by Asian-Pacihc Bank represents
normal commercial terms, having regard to
Asian-Pacihic Bank’s credit rating, and also

in comparison to the deposit rates offered

by other unconnected banks in Russia The
deposit rate offered by Asian-Pacific Bank to
the Group 1s on commercial terms and reflects
the prevalling deposit rate offered by Asian-
Pacific Bank to third parties The Group is

not subject to a maximum or miimum datly
palance requirement in respect of amounts
deposited with Asian-Pactfic Bank, noris the
Group required io provide secunty to Asian-
Pacshe Bank

secondly, Asian-Pactfic Bank s located in
Blagoveshchensk in the Amur Region Itis
one of the most estabhshed banks in the
Amur Region and the EAQ, and accordingly it
is famihar with the area in which the Group's
operabons are located The Directors believe
that maintaining a rothng deposit with Asian-
Pacific Bank of an amount ug to the annual
cap of US$30 million will enable the Group
to meet Its anncipated day 1o day working
capital requirements and to procure supplies
and caprtal expenditure from vendors located
in the Russian Far East, while also earning a
compettive deposit rate, which isin the best
interests of the Group
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Apant Services Agreements

JSC PhosAgro {"PhosAgro”) holds a 25%
interest 1n Giproruda, a subsidiary of

the Company Accordingly, PhosAgrois a
connected person of the Company Apant, 2
subsidiary of PhosAgro, 15 also a connected
person of the Company because 1t 1s an
assocrate of PhosAgro for the purposes of
Chapter 144

Apatit procures mine des:ign services from
Giproruda in respect of its mining operations
located in the west of Russia {“Apatit Services
Agreements”) The Apatit Services Agreements
are continuing connected transachions
Giproruda provides the services on similar
terms to those 1t would provide to a third
party, and the services are typical of the
services It provides to other third parties

Each Continuing Connected Transaction has
been reviewed by the Directors, including
the Independent Non-executive Direclors
The Directors confirm that the Contnuing
Connected Transactions set out above have
been entered into

. in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Company,

. on normal commercial terms or, (f
there are not sufficient comparable
transacnons to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on
terms no less favorable to the Company
than terms avarlable to or from, as
appropriate, independent third partes,
and

. in aecordance with the relevant
agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole

Pursuant to Rule 14A 38 of the Listing Rules,

the Company has engaged the auditor of

the Company to perform certain work in

accordance with Hong Kong Standard on

Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance

Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews

of Histoncal Finangial Information” and with

reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s

Letter on Continuing Connected Transactons

under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” 1ssued |
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public '
Accountants (the “HKICPA"}

The auditor has provided a letter to the board
of directors of the Company and confirmed
that for the year ending 31 December 2010

the Continuing Connected Transachons (i}

have received the approval of the board of
directors of the Company, (1) are in accordance
with the pricing pofictes of the Company for
those Transacnons that tnvolve provision of
goods or services by the Group, {u} have been
entered into 1in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transacthons and

{iv) have not exceeded the cap disclosed n

the Prospectus issued by the Company on 30 \
September 2010 in connection with the Hong
Kong Offering and the listing of 1ts shares on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

The Directors confirm that the Company has
comphied with the disclosure requirements Iin
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules

The above connected transactions are

also reported in Note 42 of the Financial
Statements of this Annual Report as Related
Party Transactions

Emolument policy

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
note 10 to the consoldated financial staterments

The emolument policy of the emplayees of the
Group 1s set up by the Executive Committee on the !
basis of their ment, qualificanons and competence
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The emoluments payable to Directors will depend
on thelir respecaive contractual terms under therr
employment contracts or service contracts as
approved by the board of directors of the Company
on the recommendation of the Remuneraton
Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operanng results, individual performance and
comparahle market statisocs

A key element of senior management remuneration
15 the Long Term incentive Plan (“LTIP"} The LTiP

1 designed to ahgn the interests of management
with those of shareholders, and to incentivise
performance

Major customers and suppliers

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 93% of the total
revenue for the year The largest of them accounted
for 49% of the total revenue Also, the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
supphers taken together represented 48% of the
Group's total purchases for the year The largest
supplier representad 23% of the Group's tatal
purchase for the year

None of the Directors, thewr associates or any
shareholder {which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in the Group's five
fargest suppliers or customers

Purchase, sale or redemption of
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securnities dunng the year

Guarantee

During the year, the Group obtaned a banking
facility of US$340,000,000 which 1s guaranteed by
Petropaviovsk, the controlling shareholder of the
Company The banking faciity agreement contains
certaln covenants on Petropavlovsk, the details of

which are set out 1n note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements

Corporate governance

The Company s committed to mamtaining a high
standard of corporate governance practices
Informaton on the corporate governance prachees
adopted by the Company 1$ set outn the Corporate
Governance Report on page 36 of this annual
report

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that 1s publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, as at the date of this report, the Company
has mantained a sufficient pubhc float as required
under the Listing Rules

Auditor

During the year, Messrs Delaitte Touche Tohmatsu
was appointed as the auditor of the Company

A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the suditor of the Company is
to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting

Review by the Audit Committee

The audited financial statements have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company,
which comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors MrCF L, MrDR Bradshaw and MrJ E
Maron Sruth Mr C F Lus the Chairman of the Audit
Committee

On behalf of the Board

l,f — . {..“-U’

CHAIRMAN
28 February 2011
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Results of operations

The following table sets forth iIncome statement data for IRC for the years ended 31 December 2009

and 2010 As 2010 has been a year of transformation for IRC with the Company’s first mme mowving into

production, 2010 results are not directly comparable to those of 2009

Far the year ended
31 December

2010 2009
Uss'000 Uss'c0C
Revenue 25,792 8,260
Net operating expenses _
Cosis of sales and sernce costs {22,258 {5,305)
Admimstranen expenses and other net operating income {39,326) {35,250)
(61,584) {40,555}
Impairment charges {35,972) (97,371)
{71,764) {129,6606)
Share of results of joint ventures {135} {s0)
Net operating loss (71,899) (125,756)
Other gains and losses and other expenses {5,570) (13,552}
Financial income 10,829 15,145
Financial expenses {11,813) {10 337)
Loss before taxaton (78,353) {138 S00)
Taxation expense {3,676) {637)
Loss for the year (82,029} (139,137)
Loss for the year attnbutable to
Owners of the Company (82 358) {139,291}
Nan-controlimg interests 329 154
(§2,029) {139,137)
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Revenue

Compared to 2009, revenue increased by Uss1i7 5
million to US$25 8 million in 2010 Thus was
primarily attributable te the commencement of
operations and sales generated from Kuranakh,
IRC’s first producing mine  IRC began the first
regular sales to a customer in China in September
2010 and recorded revenue af US$12 6 mullion
Engineering service revenues from IRC's Giproruda
business increased by 59% from USS8 3 milhon

to USS13 2 milhon, compared to 2009, reflecting
recovery of the mining sector in the secand half of
2009, which also contributed ta revenue growth this
year

Net operating expenses

Casts of sales and service costs

IRC’s costs of sales and service costs increased

by US$17 O mullion from WS$S5 3 million in 2009

to US522 3 million for 2010 This increase was
primarily attnbutable to the commencement of
operations of IRC's Kuranakh processing plant

in the second half of 2010, including the cost of
iron ore concentrate sold and the raillway tanff
incurred The increase 1n corresponding staff cost
i IRC’s engineenng busmness to generate addinonal
ENZINE&r INg SErvICe revenue as mentioned above
also contnbuted to the increase in IRC's operatng
expenses

Administration expenses and other net operating
income

IRC’s administrative expenses increased by 11 6% to
US$39 3 mirllion (2008 USS3S 3 million) This was
due in part to an increase in staff costs in relanon
1o increase in personnel at IRC's project sites at
Kuranakh and K&S, and to the establishment of
IRC’s Hong Kong headguarters, as well as to an
increase in professional fees incurred dunng 2010,
attributable to audit, legal and consultancy fees and
fees relating to financing transactions in addition to
engineering consultancy fees paid

Impairment charges

IRC recognised impairment charges of US536 0
mullion 1n 2010 compared to US557 4 million last
year

The impairment in 2010 arose pnimarily as a result
of writing down IRC's assets tn relation to the liata
Titanium joint venture (US534 9 miliion} due to
uncertainty regarding future prospects, as tRC's
partner advised us of its intention to retire from this
venture The balance (US51 1 millien) related to the
impairment of amounts advanced to an associate,
LLC Uralmining, in connechon with Bolsho Seym
Project

Impairment charges in 2009 related to Kuranakh
Project {USS87 9 million) and Belsnal Seym Project
(USSS 5 mithon}

Net operating loss

As a result of the above, compared to 2009 IRC's net
operating loss in 2010 amounted to USS$71 9 mullion,
decreased by US557 9 mullon, or 44 6%




IRC Annudl Report 2010 5 7

Other gains and losses and
other expenses

The net decrease of US$8 0 mullion from US513 6
mulion in 2009 to USSS & million in 2010 arose as a
result of the extinguishment of the financial hability
related to Aricom warrants, which were converted
in May 2010, and an increase in net foreign
exchange gain contrary 1o foreign exchange loss

it 2009 as a result of a weakening of the Russian
rouble against the US dollar Against this, IRC
incurred expenses of USSS 4 million as a result of
IRC's IPO which exceeded costs incurred in 2009 of
US55 6 mithon in relanon to the merger of Anicom
with Petropavlovsk

Financial income

Financial income decreased by US54 2 million, or
27 8% from USS15 1 milhon in 2009 to USS10 9
million i 2010, primanly gue to the reduction of
interest income received on amounts loaned to
Petropavlovsk Group after the acquisiion of Aricem
in April 2009 The loan amount has been fully
repatd in second half of 2010

Financial expenses

Financial expenses increased by USS1 5 million, or
14 3%, from US5$10 3 mulhion for

2009 to USS11 8 mitlion for 2010 This increase was
primarily attributable to the increase of

interest pard on the amounts loaned by the
Petropavlovsk Group following the

acquisibon of Ancom in Apnl 2009 The amounts
loaned by the Petropavlovsk Group were transferred
10 entities within IRC 1n June 2010 as part of the
restructunng ol IRC, and subsequent repaid in
second half of 2010

Taxation

while IRC’s Russian tax expense remaimed flat at
approximately USSQ 5 milhion 1n 2010 compared

to USS0 6 million 1n 2009, IRC’s total tax charge
increased by US$3 1 million to USS3 7 mullion for
2010 This was primarily attributabie to an increase
of approximately US$2 7 milhion in UK corporate
tax expense, due to the increase in financial income
and intra-group Anancing acavinesn 2010 1RC has
used a tax loss previously incurred by Petropavlovsk
Group to offset such tax expense

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

As a result of the above, IRC recorded a toss of

U582 4 milion for 2010, a decrease of 40 8% from
20095 of US5139 3 million
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Independent auditor’s report

TO THE MEMBERS OF IRC LIMITED
BIREARRAT

(incorporated 1 Hong Kong with limited hiability)

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of IRC Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 60 to 141, which comprise

the consolidated and Company’s statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2010, and
the consolidated income statement, consolidated
staterment of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consohdated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting pelicies
and other explanatory information

Directors’ responsitnhity for the consohdated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for
the preparation of consolidated fnancial statements
that grve a true and fair view 1n accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong
Companias Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine 1s necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from matena! misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility 1s to express an optnion on

these financial statements based on our audit and
to report our opinton soiely to you, as 2 body, in
accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
habihity to any other perscon for the contents of this
report We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
HKICPA Those standards require that we comply
with ethecai requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from matenal misstaternent

An zudit involves performing procedures to obtan
audit evidence about the amaunts and disclosures
in the consohdated financral statements The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks

of material mussiatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audst procedures that are appropriate

In the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinon on the effectiveness

of the entity's internal control An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounaing policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentaton of the
conschdated financial statements

We believe that the audit ewidence we have
obtained 1s sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit oprrion
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Independent auditor’s report

Optimon

in our opinion, the consoltdated nnancial
statements give a true and fair view ot the state ot
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2010, and of the Group’s loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the
Hong Kong Compames Ordinance

\\Dz’la:-rhl{’ Touc,(-e._ —C-e,we}f—: :

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certifien Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 February 2011




60 IRC Annual Report 2010

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2010

NOTES 2010 2009
Us3'000 Uss'000
Revenue 7 25,792 8,260
MNet operaning expenses 8 (61,584) {40,555)
Impairment charges 11 {35,972) (97,371)
{71,764) (125 666)
Share of results of joint ventures 23 [135) {90}
Net operaang loss {71 8%9) (125 756}
Other gains and losses and other expenses 12 (5,570) {13,552}
Financial Income 13 10,929 15,145
Financial expenses i4 {11,813) (10,337}
Loss before taxahon {78.353) (138,500}
Taxation expense 15 (3,676} (637}
Loss for the year (82,079) (139,137)
Loss for the year attributable to
Owners of the Company (82,358) (135,291)
Non-controlling interests 329 154
(82,029) {135,137)
Loss per share (US cents) 17
Basic and diluted ! {362) (7 66)
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2010
2010 2009
Us5'000 Uss'000
Loss for the year {82,029) (139,137)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the year (net of tax)
bxchenge differences on translanon of foreign
aperations and transtation to presentatton currency 7656 {458)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year (81,263} (139,595)
Total comprehensive expenses attnibutable to
Qwners of the Company (81,552} (139,633}
Non-controlling interests 289 38
{81,263} {139,595}
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Consolidated statement of financial position
At 31 December 2010

NOTES 2010 2009
Uss'000 Uss'000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 33 4,330 2,265
Share premium 1,028,463 1,183,520
Treasury shares 34 (43,000) -
Capral reserve 16,946 6,903
Reserves 29,684 21,583
Accumulated losses {236,1386) (619,700)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 800,292 594 976
NON CONTROULING INTERESTS 4328 4364
TOTAL £EQUITY 804,618 559,340

The consolidated hnancial statements on pages 60 to 141 were approved and authorised for 1ssue by the Board of

Directors on 28 February 2011 and are signed on 1ts behalf by

| U_ i T -
R e o / ‘
r‘\f [ - ld:"ﬁM&A LJ(}D
q v

DIRECTOR DIRECTCR
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Consolidated statement of financial position

At 31 December 2010

NOTES 2010 2009
Uss'000 USs'000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets 19 31,533 28,650
Property, plant and equipment 20 494,270 404,741
Interast in an associate 22 - .
Interests in joint ventures 23 10,346 22,692
Other non-current assets 24 44,550 4,173
585,699 460,296
CURRENT ASSETS
lnventanes 25 27,121 13,033
Trade and other recevables 26 29,231 19,739
Loans due from related parties 27 - 375,384
Cash and cash equivalents 29 225,468 18,415
281,820 426,571
TOTAL ASSETS 867,519 886,867
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 30 (57,085) (16,437)
Current income tax payable {185) {270}
Dervative inancial instruments 40 - {1,711}
{57,270} (18,418)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 224,550 408,153
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 210,249 868,449
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax habilines 3 {2,024) {1,961)
Provision for ciose down and restoration costs 32 (3,607) {2,990)
Loans due to a related party 27 - (264,158)
{5,631) {269,109}
TOTAL LIABILITIES {62,901) (287,527}
NET ASSETS 804,618 599,340
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Consolidated statement of financial position
At 31 December 2010

NOTES 2010 2009
Us55'000 USS’000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 33 4,330 2,265
Share premum 1,028,468 1,183,520
Treasury shares 34 (43,000) -
Capial reserve 16,946 6,908
Reserves 29,684 21,983
Accumulated losses (236,136) {619,700)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 800,292 594,976
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 4,326 4,364
TOTAL EGUITY 804,618 599,340

The consolidated hrancial statements on pages 60 10 141 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 28 February 2011 and are signed on 1its behalf by

| F : ‘ . -~
i _\;n‘ = e A M) ( \- Y
r\.‘- jc I'" : r"_y C’.}ﬁ_{}'ﬂ_ﬁﬂf‘}\ (_/\Jj C"O
\ ¢
1

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Statement of financial position

At 31 December 2010

NOTES USS000
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 20 51
Investment in subsidiartes 21 877 300
877,352
CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables 26 134
Amounts due from subsidiaries 28 11
Cash and cash eguivalents 29 146,793
146,938
TOTAL ASSETS 1,024,289
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amount due to ultimate holding company 28 {246)
Accruals and other payables 30 {5,951}
{6,197)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 140,741
NET ASSETS 1,018,092
CAPITAL AND RLSERVES
Share caprtal 33 4,330
Share premium 1028,468
Capstal eserve 254
Share based payment reserve 38 1,334
Accumulated losses 35 (16,294}
TOTAL EQUITY 1,018,092
ey LG ™ "
=T T TR WL N Lo ] -
Nl oA L0
4 f *,‘
{7
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DIRECTOR

DIRECTOR
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity®®
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Share Share Captal

camiat premum reserve

USs'000 uss'a00 Uss'000

Balance at 1 January 2009 2,265 1,183,520 -

Loss for the year - . -
Other comprehensive expenses for the year
gxchange differences on translation of foreign operations and translation
to presentational currency - -

Total comprehensive expenses for the year - -

Share-based payments - - R
Transfer to an equity holder [note 33) - - .
Deemed contribution from an equity holder® - 6,908
Derecogmnon of Employee Beneht Trust ("EBT”) (note 38{b}) - -

Balance at 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 2,265 1,183,520 6,908

Loss for the year - - .
Other comprehensive expenses for the year
Exchange differences on translaton of foreign operations and translation
o presentatonal currency - -

Jotal comprehensive {expenses) income for the year - R -

Exercise of warrants 1ssued 192 153,040 -
Capntal reducnont - (1,336,560} .
Internim dividend {note 16) - -

Share-based payments B - -
Shares acgquired by EBT - - .
Deemed contributon from an equity holder® - - 10,038
Transfer to an equity holder {note 33(b)) . . .
Transfer from an equnty holder (note 33(c)} - . .
Issue of shares and combination of Aricor Limited {"Ancom”) and

Arnicom’s sebsidianes {collechvely the "Ancom Group”} {note 33{a}) - 697,637 -
Deemed contribution arising from Group Restructuring!®! {2,457) - B
Capitabsation of share capital 2,990 (2,990} -
Transachon costs attributable to issue of new shares - {11,578) -
Issue of new shares 1,340 295,813 -
Contribubhon from a parent company - 45,586 -

Dividend distnibuton to non-controlling interests - - .

Balance at 31 December 2010 4,330 1,028,468 16,946

1 This consohdated statement of changes in equity 1s presenied 1n pages 64 and 65

™ The amount represents certan ceatral admisistranon expenses and tax expenses of the Group patwd by the ulbmate holding company
This amount 1s reco-ded in capital reserve as a deemed contribution from the ulhmate holding company

% 0n 27 May 2010, a reduction of Ancom s share capital was undertaken In accoraance with the Companies Act 2006 {United
ningdom}, this reducnon is considered to be a realised prohit and accordingly the share premium of US$1,336 550 000 was
transferred to accurnulated losses

¥ As part of the Group Restructunng set out in note 2 Thorholdeo Limited a subsidiary of the Company acquired from Petropaviovsk
PLC the entire 1ssied share capsial of Arncom an S August 2010 and became the holding company of the Arcom Group The amount
payable by the Company toits then shareholders {or the acquisinon of the tnterest in Arcom s regarded as 2 deemed distribunon to
shareholders and the share cagtal of Anicom s thus regarded as 8 deerned contnbunon from s sharcholders since the consohdated
financial staternents have been prepared as if the Company had always been the holding company of Ancom

"l The amount arpse from acquesinon of minonty interests and deemed contrsbubon ansing from Group Restruciunng
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity (Continued)®
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share-based

Treasury Accumulated payments Translation Other* Non-controlling Total
shares losses reserve reserve reserves Sub-total® Interests equity™
Uss'000 Uss'000 Uss’000 uUss'000 UsS'000 Uss 000 Us5"000 Uss’000
(24,801} (435,623) 10,955 {12,376) 29,600 753,540 4,326 757,866
{139,291) . . (139,291) 154 (139,137)

(242) - (342} {116) {458)

{139,291) - (342} - {135,633) 38 {139 595)

2007 153 - - 2160 - 2,160

(46,582) - (46,582) - {46,582}

- - - - 6,908 - 6908
24,801 (211) - {6,007) B 18 583 - 18,583
- (619,700} 11,108 {18,725) 29,600 594,976 4,364 599,340
(82,358) - - - (82,358} 329 (82,029)

- - 806 - 806 {40} 766

{82,358) - 806 - {81,552} 289 (81 263)

- - - - 153,232 - 153 232

1,336,560 - - - - - -

. {644,437) . - - (644,437) - (644,437}

- 1,334 - - 133a - 1,334
(43,000) - (43,000} - (43,000)
- - 10,038 - 10,038

(171,613} . 3,104 (168,509) - {168,509)

205,412 - - - 205,412 - 205,412

(260 000) - - - 437 637 - 437,637

- - . 2,457 - -

. . . (11578) - {11,578

- 301,153 301 153

- - 45 586 - 15 H86

- - - - {327} (327)

{43,000} {236,135} 12,842 {14 815) 32,057 800,292 4,326 204,618
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2010

NOTES 2010 2009
Uss’oo0 uss 000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash used in operahons 36 (49,111) (26,094)
Interest expenses paid - {1,178)
Income tax paid {674) (457)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES {49,785} (27,729}

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest recewed 1,505 2,239
Proceeds on disposal of short-term investments 3
Proceeds on disposa’ of property, plant and equipment 3713 -
Purchases of property plant and equipment and mtangible assets (122,680) {73 945)
Loan issued to related parnes 27 (6,035) (176,194)
loint venture registe-ed capital contribution 23 {4,731) {2021)
Repayment of ican :ssued to related partes 22,506 -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES {105,722} (249,610)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid to shareholders of Aricom Lirnited {22,460) -
Dividends paid to nan-controlhng interests of subsichanes (327) -
Debt arrangement costs {4,080) (290)
Proceeds on issuance of new shares 301,153 -
Expenses paid in connection with the 1ssue of new shares {6,564) -
Purchase ot own shares by EBT 34 (43,000) -
Loans advanced from a related party 27 94,370 38,944
Contribubon from a parent company 45,586 -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 364,668 38,654

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS FOR THE YEAR 209,161 (238,685)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF YEAR 18,415 257,822
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2,108) (722)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF YEAR 225,468 18,415
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Notes To The Consoclidated Financial Statements

Far the year ended 31 December 2010

1. General

IRC Lirited {“the Company”) 15 a public imited
company tncorperated in Hong Kong and 1ts shares
have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 21
October 2010 its immediate holding company is
Cayiron Limited, which was incorporated in the
Cayman Istands The directors of the Company
{the “Directors”) consider that s ullimate holding
company is Petropaviovsk PLC The Company
togetner with its subsidianies are herenafter
referred to as the “Group”

The address of the registered office of business of
the Company is 6H, 9 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong The censolidated financial statements are
presented in Umited States Doflars (“US Dollars”),
which 1s also the functional currency of the
Company

The principal activity of the Company 1s investment
holding The Group s principally engaged in

the production and development of industrial
commodities products that are used in industry
across the world The man activines of the

Group are In Russia and China and the Group
predominantly serves the Russian and Chinese
markets The activines of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 44

Under a group restructunng to rabenalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the histing
of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange,
the Company became the holding company of

the Aricom Limited {“Ancom”) and its subsidianies
{collechively referred as the “Aricom Group”) on 5
August 2010 Detalls of the Group Reorganisation
are set out below

2. Group restructuring and basis
of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

Aricoim s a imited liability company incerporated
1n the United Kingdom on 12 Sepltember 2003
Aricom’s shares were listed on the Official List of
the Financial Services Authority and admitted to
trading on the mawn market of the Londen Stock
Exchange plc on 29 October 2007 On 6 February
2009, the Ingependent Committees of the Board of
Directors of both Petropaviovsk PLC, whose shares
are also listed on the main market of the London
Stock Exchange plc, and Ancom announced that
both parhes had reached agreement on the terms
of a recommended all share offer to be made by
Petropavlovsk PLC for the entire tssued and to be
issued share capital of Aricom (“the Acguisition”)

The Acqursition provided for the acquisiaon of
Artcom’s shares by way of a court sanchoned
scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the United
Kingdom (“UK"} Companies Act 2006 involving a
capital reduction of Aricom under section 135 of
the UK Companies Act 2006 (“the Scheme”) The
purpose of the Scheme was to enable Petropavlovsk
PLC to acquire the entire 1ssued and to be rssued
ordinary share capital of Aricem

Under the terms of the Acquisition, Aricom’s
shareholders receved one fully paid new
Petropavlovsk PLC share in exchange for 16 fully
paid shares of Aricom The Acquisinon was
completed on 22 Apnl 2009 On 19 May 2009,
Ancom plc, which was formerly registered as

a public company, re-registered under the UK
Companies Act 2006 and became a private hmited
company under the name of Anicom Limited

The Company was incorporated on 4 June 2010 in
Hong Kong as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cayiron
Limited which in tuin s 3 wholly-owned subsidiary
of Petropavlovsk PLC, the ultimate holding company
of Artcom
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On 14 june 2010, the Company acquired the
ennre 1ssued share capitat of Thorholdco Limited
(a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands)
from Cayiron Limited :n exchange for the issue

of shares to Cayiron Limited Following receipt

of the necessary Russian regulatory approvals on
23 July 2010, Thorheldco Limited acquired from
Petropavlovsk PLC the entire 1ssued share capital
of Ancomn, which 1s the indirect holding company
of the Group's mineral and processing assets, on

S August 2010, for US$260,000,000, payment for
which has been offset agamst the promussory note
of the same amount owed by Petropaviovsk PLC to
Thorholdco Limited  As part of this restructuring,
related party payables and receivables of the
Aricom Group due to and from the subsidianes

of Petropavlovsk PLC were transferred to two
subsidiary compan:es of Thorheldco Limited
("Thorholdco™), Thorrouble Limited (" Thorrouble™)
and Thordotlar Limited ("Thordollar”), respectively
In addinon, certain subsidianies held by Aricom
Limsted and Ancom UK Limited {Aricom’s
sunsidianes), which were unrelated te the Anicom
business listed on the London Stock Exchange

ple, representing shares in Aricom Finance UK
Limsted and Aricom Treasury UK Linuted and
respechve subsidiaries, were sold to Petropaviovsk
PLC (see note 42} {collechvely referred to as the
“Restructuring”)

The consalidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared as if the Company had always
been the hoiding company of Aricom Group The
consolidated income statement, consclidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
staternent of changes in equity and consohdated
statement of cash flows of the Group for each of
the year ended 31 December 2010 and 2003 have
been prepared as if the current group structure
had been in existence throughout each of the vears
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, or since the
respectve dates of incorporaton/estabhishment of
ihe relevant companies now comprising the Group
where this is a shorter period

The consohdated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
enubes controiled by the Company {its subsidiaries)
Control 1s achieved where the Cempany has the
power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benehts from its
activities

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed

of (other than business combinanons involving
entnes under common control} are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective date of acquisithon or up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into hne with those used by
other members of the Group

All intra-group transacnons and nalances between
the group companies are elimmated in ful! on
consolidation

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of
consolidated subsidianes are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therem Non-controliing
mterests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the onignal business
combination and the non-controlling interests’
share of changes in equity since the date of the
combmation

Allocation of the total comprehensive income ta
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of

a subsidiary 1s attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-contralling interests having
a defiot balance Prior to 1 January 2010, losses
apphcable to the non-controling interests in excess
of the non-controlling mterests in the subsidiary's
equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the non-controlling
interests have a binding obhgation and are able to
make an additional investment to cover the losses
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3. Application of new and
revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards
{“HKFRSs"”)

In the current year, the Group has applied a number
of new and revised Standards and interpretations
1ssued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants {“HKICPA”) that are mandatonly
effective for the 2010 financial year

The application of the new and revised Standards
and Interpretations in the current year has had
no matenal effect on the amounts reported in
these consohidated financial statements and/or
disclosures set out i these consohdated finanaial
statements

The Group has not early applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations that have been issued but are not
yet effectve

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued In

{Amendments) 2010 except for the amendments
to HKFRS 3{as revisaed in 2008),
HKAS 1 and HKAS 28}

HKFRS 7 Disclosures - Transfers of Financial
{Amendments) Assets?

HKFRS 9 Finanaial Instruments®

HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Recovery of
{Amendments) Underlying Assets®

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures®

(as revised 1n 2003}

HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues?

{Amengments)

HK (IFRIC) - Int 14
[Amendments)

Prepayments of a Mintmum
Funding Requirement®

HK {IFRIC) - Int 19 Exonguishing Financial Liabilimes

with Equity Instruments?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 july 2010 or 1 January 2011, as appropriate

2Effectwe for annual perods beginning on or after
1 July 2010

*Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1July 2011

* Effecove for annual pencds begmnimg on or after
1january 2013

*Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2012

¢ Effective for annual periods beginming on or after
1 January 2011

TEffective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 February 2010

HKFRS 9 Finencial Instruments {os issued in
November 2009) introduces new requirements for
the classification and measurement of finanacial
assets HKFRS 9 Financeel Instruments (us revised
n November 2010) adds requirements for financial
lizbiines and for derecognition

Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets

that are within the scope of HKAS 39 financial
Instruments Recogrition and Measurement are
subsequently measured at either amortised cost or
fawr value Speafically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objecuve 1s to
coltect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods  All other debt
investments and egquity nvestments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting pericds
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in relation to Ananaial habilities, the significant
change relates to financial kabihnes that are
designated as at fair vatue through profit or loss
Speafically, under HKFRS 9, for financial rabilities
that are designated as at fair value through profit or
loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial habibity that 1s attributable to changes in
the credit nsk of that hability 1s presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the presentation

of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit

risk in other comprehensive income would create
or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit

or loss Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial hability’s credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss  Previously, under HKAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value
of the financial liability designated as at fair value
through profit or loss was presented in profit

or loss

HKFRS 9 1s effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted

The Directors anticspate that HKFRS 9 that will

be adopted 0 the Group's consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2013
and that application of the standard may not have
sigmificant impacts on the amounts reported in
respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabihihes

The amendments to HKFRS 7 titled Disclosures -
Transfers of Financiol Assets increase the disclosure
requirements for transactons involving transfers
of hnancial assets These amendments are
intended to provide greater transparency around
risk exposures when a fimancial asset 1s transferred
but the transferor retains some level of continuing
exposure in the asset The amendments also
require disclosures where transfers of financial
assets are not evenly distnbuted throughout

the periad

The Directors do not antcipate that these
amendments to HKFRS 7 will have a significant
effect on the Group's disclasures regarding '
transfers of trade recevables previcusly effected

If the Group, however, enters 1nto ather types of

transfers of financial assets in the future, disclosures

regarding those transfers may be affected

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in
2008) modifies the definihion of arelated party

and simplifies disclosures for government-related
entities The disclosure exemptions introduced in
HKAS 24 (as revised 1n 2009) do not affect the Group
because the Group 1s not a government-related
entty However, disciosures regarding related party
transachons and baiances in these consolidated
financial statements may be affected when the
revised version of the Standard is applied in future
accounting periods because certain counterparties
that did not previousiy meet the definihion of 3
related party may come within the scope of the
Standard

The amendments to HKAS 32 titled Classtfication

of Rights Issues address the classificanon of certain
rights 1ssues denomrmated 1n a foregn currency

as either an equity instrument or as a Ainancial !
labthity To date, the Group has not entered into
any arrangements that would fall within the scope
of the amendments However, if the Group does
enter Into any rights 1ssues within the scope of the
amendments in future accouniing penods, the
amendments to HKAS 32 will have an impact on the
classification of those rights issues

HK({IFRIC) - Int 19 provides guidance regarding the
accounting for the exanguishment of a financial
hability by the issue of equity instruments To date,
the Group has not entered into transactions of this
nature However, if the Group does enter into any
such transactions in the future, HK(IFRIC) - Int 19
will affect the required accountng In particular,
under HK{IFRIC) - Int 19, equity instruments 1ssued
under such arrangements wil be measured at their
fair value, and any difference between the carrying
amount of the financial hability extinguished and
the fair value of equity instruments 1ssued will be
recognised in profit or loss
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4. Significant
accounting policies

1 Basis of Preparaton

The consolidated financia! statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Finanaial
Reporung Standards issued by the HKICPA (n
addihion, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listng of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Cormpanies
Grdinance

The consohdated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values, as explained i the accounting poltcies
set out below

The principal accounting polictes are set out below
Business combimations not under commeon contro!

Business combinahons not under common control
arising on acquistions pror to 1 January 2010

Acquistiion of businesses was accounted for using
the purchase method The cost of the acquisition
was measured at the aggregate of the fair values,
at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity iInstruments
1ssued by the Group in exchange for controf of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination The acquiree’s identifiable
assets, habihties and contingent Lhabilines that
met the relevant condihans for recogniton

were generally recognised at fair value at the
acquisinon date  Goodwill arising on acquisiion
was recognised as an asset and irutally measured
at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combinanon over the Group’s interest In the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, iabdines and
contingent habilities recognised  If the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
idennfiable assets, iabilites and contingent
habilites exceeds the cost of the business
combination, the excess, after reassessment, Is
recognised immediately in profit or loss

The mnority interest in the acquiree was imitially
measured at the minority interest’s proporionate
share of the recognised amounts of the assets,
habilines and contingent Labilities of the acquiree

Contingent consideranon was recognised, 1f and
only if, the contingent consideration was probable
and could be measured reliably Subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideraton were
recogmised against the cost of the acquisiton

Business combinations achieved in stages were
accounied for as separate steps Goodwilf was
determ:ned at each step Any additonal acquisihion
did not affect the previously recognised goodwill

Business combinations net under common control
arising on acquisitions on or after 1 January 2010

Acguisitions of businesses are accounted for

using the acquisiton method The consideration
transferred in a business combination 1s measured
at fair vatue, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquision-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, habihnes incurred by the Group

to former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group 1n exchange for
contral of the acquiree Acquisiben-reiated costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred

At the acquisition date, the acquiree’s identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilihes assumed are
recognised at their far values at the acquistnon
date, except that

. deferred tax assets or liabilites and hiabilities
or assets related to employze benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 fncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively,

. habilines or equity Instruments related to
the share-based payment transactions of
the acquiree or replacement of an acquiree’s




72 IRC Annual Report 2010

share-based payment transachons with the
share-based payment transaction of the Group
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisiion date,
and

= assets {or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Mon-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured In accordance with
that Standard

Goodwill 1s measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of

the acquisiton-date amounts of the rdentiftable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed If, after
assessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identfiable net assets exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree

and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously

held interest in the acquiree {If any), the excess I1s
recognised immediaiely in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain

Nen-controliing interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of iguidation may be inibally measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s iIdentifiable net assets The choice

of measurement basis 15 made on a transachon-by-
transaction basis Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or another
measurement basis required by another Standard

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiarnes

Cnanges in the Group’s ownership interests in
existng subsidiaries on or gfter 1 Jonuary 2010

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as

equity transachons The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controliing
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received s recognised drrectly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company

When the Group loses control of 2 subsidiary,

the profit or loss on disposal 1s calculated as the
difference between 1) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration recewved and the fair
value of any retained interest and (u) the previous
carrying ameount of the assets (including goodwili),
and habiltnes of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests Where certain assets of the

subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or faw
values and the related cumulative gain or loss has
been recognised tn other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the
Company had directly disposed of the related assets
{1 e reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained earnings) The fair value of

any investment retained in the former subsidiary

at the date when control 1s lost s regarded as the
fair value on imtial recognition for subsequent

accounting under HKAS 39 Finoncial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicabie,
the cost on initial recogmition of an investment in an
assoclate or a jointly controlled entity

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests n
existing subsidiaries prior to 1 January 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were
treated In the same manner as the acquisition of
subsidianies, with goodwill or a bargain purchase
gain being recognised where appropriate For
decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of
whether the disposals would result in the Group
losing control over the subsidianies, the difference
between the consideration received and the
adjustment to the non-controlling nterests was
recognised in profit or loss




IRC Anrual Report 2010 7 3

Acquisition of assets '

Where an acquisiton of miming licences 15 effected
through a non-operating corporate structure that
does not represent a business, 1t 1s considered that
such a transaction does not meet the definibon of a
business combination  Accordingly the transaction
is accounted for as the acquisition of an asset The
net assets acquired are recognised at cost allocated
hased on the fair value of the respective assets
acquired

Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture 1s 3 contractual arrangement
whereby the Group and other parties undertake
an econoemic achivity that s subject to joint control
(1 e when the strategic financial and operating
pohicy decisions relating to the activities of the
joint venture require the unanimous consent

of the parties sharing control) Joint venture
arrangements that involve the establishment of

a separate entity in which each venturer has an
interest are referred to as Jjointly controlled entines

The Group’s Interests in jointly controlled entibes
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting, except when the investment s classified
as held for sale, in which case it 1s accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations  Interests

in joint ventures are carried in the consolidated
statement of inancial position at cost as adjusted
by post-acquisinon changes 1n the Group’s share of
the prohit or lass and other comprehensive iIncome
of the joint ventures, less any impairment in the
value of individual iInvestments

When the Group’s share of losses of a jointly
controlled entity equals or exceeds 1ts interest tn
that jontly controlied entity {which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled
entity), the Group discontinues recognising 1ts share
of further losses Addihonal losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that jontly controiled entity

Any excess of the cost of acquisiion over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identhable
assets, habilines and contingent habilines of the
jointly controlled entily recognised at the date of
acquisinon 1s recogrused as goodwill The goodwill
1s included within tne carrying ameunt of the
investment and 15 assessed for impairment as part
of that investment Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the \denthable assets,
liabiines and contngent liabihiies over the cost

of acquisihion, after reassessment, 1s recognised
immediately in profit or loss

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to
determine whether 1t 1s necessary to recognise

any impairment loss with respect to the Group's
investment in a Jjointly controlled entity When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with riKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets as a single asset by comparing 1ts
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs to sell} with its carrying amount,
any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment  Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised 1 accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases
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From 1 January 2010 onwards, upon disposal of a
jointly controlled entity that results in the Group
losing joint control over that jointly controlled
enfity, any retained investment 1s measured

at fair value at that date and the fair value ss
regarded as its far value on initsal recogmtion as

a financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39 The
difference between the previous carrying amount
of the jointly controlled entity attnbutable 1o the
retained interest and its farr value 1s included in
the determinahon of the gain or loss on disposal of
the jointly controlled entity In addraon, the Group
accounts for all amounts previcusly recognised

in other comprehensive iIncome 1n relation to

that jointly controlled ennity on the same basis as
would be required f that jointly controlled entity
had directly disposed of the related assets or
hatnlites Therefore, If a gatn or loss previously
recogmised in other comprehensive income by that
jointly controlled entity would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or habilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss {as a reclassification
adjustment} when it loses joint control over tnat
jointty controiled enbity

When a group entity transacts with its jointly
controlled entity, profits and losses resulting from
the transachons with the jointly controlled entity
are recognised in the Group’ consehdated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
jointly controfled enbity that are not related to the
Groun

Investments 1n subsidiaries
Investmends in subsidiates are incluced e the

Company’s statement of hinancial position at cast
less any idennfied impairment losses

Investments in associates

An associate Is an entity over which the Group s
In a position to exercise significant influence and
that s neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
jomnt venture  Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
deasions of the investee but i1s not control or joint
control over those policies

Investments 1n associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment 1s classified as held for sale, in which
case 1t 1s accounted for 1n accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operobions Investments in associates are carmied
in the consolidated statement of inancial position
ai cost as adjusted by post-acquisiton changes in
the Group’s share of the profit orloss and ather
comprehensive incame of the associate, iess any
impaiyment in the value of individual investments
Losses of an associate in excess of the Group's
interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment tn the assoclate) are
recogrused only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the assocate

Any excess of the cost of acquisiton over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identfiable
assets, hahiiies and contingent hiabihihes of the
associate recogresed at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill The goodwill 1s included
within the carrymg amount of the investment and 1s
assessed for impairment as part of tnat iInvestment
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair velue
oi thesdenufiable assets habilines and contingent
iabitaes over the cos: of acquisition, afier
reassessment s recognised immediately in proht
or loss
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The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to
determune whether 1t 1s necessary to recognise
any tmpairment loss with respect to the Group’s
mvestment in an associate When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) s tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount {higher
of value in use and far value less costs to sell}

with I1ts carrying amount Anyimpairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment Any reversal of that impaiwrment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverahble amount of the
investment subsequently increases

From 1 January 2010 onwards, upon disposal of an
associate that results in the Group losing sigruficant
influence over that associate, any retained
investment 1s measured at fair value at that date
and the fair value 1s regarded as s fair value on
imitial recognition as a financral asset m accordance
with HKAS 3§ The difference between the previous
carrying amount of the associate attnbutable to

the retained interest and its fair value 1s inciuded

in the determmation of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate [n addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive incorme In relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required If that
assoclate had directly disposed of the related assets
or habilties Therefore, If 3 gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabtlines, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
proht or loss (as a reclassificanon adjustment) when
it loses sigmhcantiniluence over that associate

When a Group entity transacts with an assoclate
of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's interest in the relevant
associate Losses may provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred in which case
appropnate provision is made for the impairment

Foreign currencies

In preparing the hnancial statements of the
individual companies, transacnons in CuUrrencies
other than the enbty’s funchonal currency

{foreign currencies) are recorded In tne respective
functional currency (1 e United States Dollars) at
the rates of exchange prevalling on the dates of
the transactions At the end of each reporning
period, monetary assets and habilites that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
penod Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated n foreign currencies are
translated at the rates prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined Non-monetary items
that are measured 1n terms of historical costin a
foreign currency are not retranslated

Exchange differences ansing on the settlement

of monetary 1tems, and on tne retransiation of
monetary ttems, are included 1n profit or loss in

the period in which they anse, except for exchange
differences anising on a monetary 1tem that forms
part of the Company’s netinvestment in a foreign
operation, 1n which case, such exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity and wilt ne reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign
operation Exchange differences anising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carrted at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the year

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and habilities of the
Group's entines which have a functional currency
other than US Dollars are translated at exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the repertuing period
date Income and expense items are translated

at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate sigmficantly duning that
year, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transachions are used Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised within equily and transferred
to the Group's translation reserve

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisinon of a foreign entity are treated as assets
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and habilines of the forergn entity and translated at
the closing rate, with exchange differences arising
recognised in the translation reserve

From 1 January 2010 onwards, upon the disposal
of a forewgn operation (1 e 3 disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity
that inctudes a foreign operaton, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity

in respect of that aperation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
orloss In addition, 1n relation to a partal disposal
of a subsichary that does not resubt 1n the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attnibuied to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss  For all other partal
disposals {t e parual disposals of associates or
jointly controlied entinies that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence ar joint control},
the properhonate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss

Goodwill

Goodwill 1s inihally recogmsed as an asset at cost
and 15 subseguently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses  Goodwill which s
recognised as an asset is reviewed for impairment
atleast annually Any impairment is recognised
immediately in proft or loss and 1s not subsequently
reversed

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units {“CGUs") expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combinaton Cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated are tested

for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there I1s an indication that the unit may be imparred
If the recoverable zmount of the CGU s less than
the carrying amount of the umg, the imparment
loss 1s altocated first to reduce the carrying amount

of any goodwll allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unig

On disposal of a business, the attnbutable amount
of goodwills inciuded in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal

Intangible assets

Exploration and evaluation expenditure and mineral
rights acquired

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred

in relabion to those projects for which such
expenditure i1s considered iikely to be recoverable
through future extrachon actwity or sale, or for
which the explarabon activities have not reached a
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the
existence of reserves, is capitalised and recorded

on the consolidated statement of inancial position
within intangible assets for muining projects at the
exploraton stage

Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprise
costs directly attributable to

* Researching and analysing existing exploration
data,

* Conductng geological studies, expioratory
drilling and sampling,

* Examining and testing extrachon and treatment
methods,

*  Compiling pre-feasibility and feasibility studies,
and

+ Costs incurred in acquiring mineral nights, the
entry premiums patd to gain access to areas of
interest and amounts payable to third parties to
acquire interests in existing projects

whneral rights acquired through a business
combtnation or an asset acquisiion are caprtahised
separately from goodwill If the asset I1s separable
or anses from contractual or legal nghis and

the fair value can be measured reliably on

inttial recognition  Exploration and evaluabion
expenditure caprtahsed and mining rights acquired
are subsequently valued at cost less impairment
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In circumstances where a project 1s abandoned,
the cumulatve capitalised costs related to the
project are written off in the period when such
decisionis made Exploration and evaluation
expendtture capitalised and mining nghts wathin
intangible assets are not depreciated These assets
are transferred to mine development costs within
property, plant and equipment when a decision s
taken (o proceed with the development of

the project

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets represent licensed
intellectual property purchased in relation to the
processing of htamum sponge These intangibles
are measured at cost less any accumulated
imparrment losses and are amortsed on a straight-
line basts over their eshmated useful life, which s a
period of up to 10 years, but dependent upen the
commissioning date of the titanium sponge plant

Property, plant and equipment
Non-rmining assets

On imtial recogrution, non-mintng assets are valued
at cost, being the purchase price and the directly
attributable cost of acquisinon or constructhion
required to bring the asset to the locanon and
condition necessary for the asset to be capable of
operanng i the mannerntended by the Group

Assets in the course of constructien are capitahised
in the capital construction tn progress account On
completion, the cost of construcnon s transferred
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equtpment

Mine developmeant costs

Development expenditure incurred by or on
behaif of the Group 15 accumulated separately
for eacn area of interest in which economically
recoverable resources have beenidentified Such
expenditure includes costs directly attributable
to the construction of a mine and the related
infrastructure  Once a development decision has

been taken, the carrying amount of the exploration
and evaluaton expenditure in respect of the area
of interest s aggregated with the development
expenditure and classihed under non-current
assets as “mine development costs”, this includes
any property, plant and equipment acquired to
undertake mining activities Mine development
costs are reclassihed as “mining assets” at the end
of the commissioning phase, when the mine I1s
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management Depreciation policy for muning assets
are set outn below under “Depreciation” Mine
developmenti costs are tested for impairment

Deferred stripping costs

In open pit operations the removal of overburden
and waste matenals, referred to as stnipping, s
required to obtain access o the ore body

Such costs when incurred during the development
of the mine are deferred on the statement of
financial posinion as part of mine development
costs, and charged to the profit or loss over the life
of the mine on a umits of producnon basis During
the production phase of a mine such costs are
deferred based on the rato obtained by dividing
the tonnage of the waste mined by the quantty of
the ore muned {“stripping rato”)  Stripping costs
incurred 1n the period are deferred to the extent
that the current period stripping ratio exceeds the
hfe-of-mine rano for each mine Such deferred
costs are then amortised 1n subsequent periods

to the extent that the penod’s stripping ratio falls
below the hfe-of-mine rato  The ife-of-mine rato s
based on the mineable reserves of the mine

The lffe-of-mine waste-to-ore ratio 1s a function

of anindividual mine’s pit design and therefore
changes to that design will generally result in
changes to theraho Changes in other technical and
economic parameters that impact reserves will also
have an impact on the life-of-mine rano even i1 they
do not affect the mine’s pit design  Changes to the
hfe-of-mine ratio are accounted for prospecavely

Deferred stripping costs are inciuded within
non-current assets as “Mine development costs”
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Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropnate, only when it 1s probable that
future econormc benehis associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item

can be measured rehably All other repaws and
maintenance are charged to the income statement
duning the financial period in which they are
incurred

Depreciatinn

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
using a urits of production method or straight-line
basis as set out below

Miming assets for which economic benefits fraom

.he asset aie consuinea in a pattern hnked to the
produchon level are depregiated using a ‘units of
SJooducnon melnod nased on ore reserves, whichin
turn resulis in a depreciation charge proportonai to

the depleton of reserves

Mon-miring assets are depreciaten on a straight-ine
basis based on estimated useful lives

Mine development costs and capital construction
In progress are not depreaated, except for

that property, plant and equipment used in the
aevelopment o a mune  Such properiy, plant ano
ecuipment are depreciated on a sttaight-line basis
nased on estimatec useful lives and depreciation 1s
capitahsed as oart of mine development costs

Estimated useful lives of non-rmining assets normally

vary as set out below

SRR A T A D
Tt i o p]THEGROUP . ' .
Estimated useful life

Number of years

Buildings 15-50
e
Vehicles 5-7
Office equipment 2-10
Computer equipment 3-5

o e e |

T EME COMPANT i oh s 2t 5 ]
s 0 [ THE COMPANY.og o 254,

Estmated useful life

Number of years
Leasehald improvements 2

Furmiture fixtures and

equipment 2
Office equipmentg

Computer equipment

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period Changes to the estimated residual values or
useful hves are accounted for prospectively

impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwll

At the enc of each reporting penad, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of 1ts tangible and
intangible assets to determuine whether there 1s
any indicabon that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss  If any such indicanon exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset Is estimated in
orger to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (:f any) Where the asset does not generate
cash flows that are independent from other assets,
the Group estimaies the recoverable amount of the
CGU to which the asset belongs

A S
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The recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value
less costs to selt and value in use In assessing
value in use, the esbmated ruture cash flows are
discounted to therr present value using 4a pre-

tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the nme value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted

If the recoverabie amount of an asset (or CGU) is

estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset {or CGU) s reduced

to 1ts recoverable amount An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately

Where an imparrment loss subseguently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset {or CGU)} 15
increased to the revised estimate of 1ts recoverable
amournt, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset {or CGU) 1n prior years

A reversal of an impairment loss 1s recognised as

ncoma immediately

Petaiis of the assumplions used when assessing the
impairment of the Group’s tangible and intangible
assets, and the effect of those assumptions, can be
found in note 11

Provision for close down and restoration costs

Close down and restoration costs include the
dismanthng and demolinon of infrastructure and
the removal of residual materials and remedianon
of disturbed areas Close down and restoration
costs are provided for In the accounting period
when the legal or constructive obligation arising
from the related disturbance occurs, whether this
occurs during the mine development or during the
production phase, based on the net present value
of estimated future costs Prowision for close down
and restoranon costs do not include any additional
obligahons which are expected to anse from future
disturbance The costs are esumated on the basis
of a closure plan The cost estimates are calculated
annually during the ife of the operation to reflect
known developments and are subject to formal
review at regular intervals

The amortisation or unwinding of the discount
apphed in establishing the net present value of
prowvision 1§ charged to profit or loss for the year
The amorusation of the discount 1s shown as a
financing cost, rather than as an operatng cost
Other movements in the proviston {or close down
and restorabon costs, Including those resulting from
new disturbance, updated cost eshmates, changes
to the lives of operations and revisions to discount
rates are capitalised within property, plant and
equipment These costs are then depreciated over
the lives of the assets to which they relate

Where rehabilitation 15 conductes systematicaliy
over the life of the operation, rather than at

the time of closure, prowvision 1s made for the
outstanding continuous rehabilitaton work at the
end of each reporting period All other costs of
continuous rehabihtation are charged to profit or
loss as incurred

Financial instruments

Financial assets and finanaal habshtes are
recogrused on the Group's consohidated statements
of financial position when the Group becomes

a party to the contractual provisions of the
tnsirument

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following
specihed categories financial assets ‘at fair value
through profit or loss’ and ‘loans and receivables’
The ¢lassification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at
the nme of mihal recognition
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Fingncral ossets ot for volue through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at
fair vatue through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) where
the Group acquires the financial asset principally
for the purpose of selling in the near term, the
financial asset 1s a part of an 1denthed portfoio

of financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-
term proht taking as well as alf derivatives that are
not designated as effective hedging instruments
Financiat assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit
orloss The net gamn or loss recognised in profit or
ioss includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset

Effective interest method

The effective interest method 1s a method of
caleulating the amortsed cost of 2 financial asset
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period The effective interest rate s the rate that
exactly discounts esobmated future cash receipts
through the expected hife of the financial asset, or
if appropriate, a shorter penod to the net carrying
amount on mimal recogmition

Loans and recevables

Trade recewables, loans, and other receivables
that have fixed or determinable payments that

are not quoted In an active market are classified
as loans and receivables Lozns and receivabies
are measured at amornsed cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment  Interest
Income 15 recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables
when the recognition of interest would be
immaterial

impairment of financial assets

Finanoial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are
assessed for indicators of imparment at the end of
each reporting peniod Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or mare events that occurred after the inimal
recogninion of the financial asset, the estmated
future cash flows of the investment have been
impacted For loans and recevables, the amount
of the impairment 15 the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate

The carrying amount of the finanaal asset 1s
reduced by the impairment loss directly for

all inancial assets with the exception of trade
recewables where the carrying amount 1s reduced
through the use of an allowance account In the
event that a trade recevable s uncollectible, 1t 1s
written off against the allowance account Changes
n the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recogrused in profit or loss

Cash and cosh equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and other short-term highly
hiquid investments that are readily convernble to

a known amount of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value

Financial hiabilities and equity instruments
Financral iabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the

contractual arrangements entered into

Financial habilities are classified as either financial
liabihties at FYTPL or other financial labifities
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Financial habiltnes at FVTPL

Fmancial habihoies are classified as FVTPL where
the financial habilitv Is either held for trading or it s
designated as at FVTPL

A financial habihty 1s classified as held for trading f

* it has been incurred prinaipally for the purpose
of disposal in the near future, or

* iti1sapart of an idennfied portfolio of financial
instrements that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
pront-taking, or

s 1tis a derivative that 1s not designated and
effective as a hedge instrument

A financial hatility other than a financial frabihity
held {or trading may be designated as at FVTPL
upon ininal recognibon if

+ such designation eliminates or sign:ficantly
reguces a measurement or recogniion
inconsistency that would otherwise arise, or

» the financial iability forms part of a group of
financial assets or hnancral habilines or both,
which 1s managed and its performance 1s
evaluated on a fair value basis, In accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management
or Investment strategy, and information about
the Group 1s provided internally on that basis, or

« stforms part of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS
39 Financiol Instruments Recognition and
Measurement permits the entire combined
contract {asset or habihty) to be designated as at
FVTPL

Financial iabibnes at FVYTPL are stated at fair value,
with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit

or loss The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial

hability

Warrants not denorminated in the functhional currency
of the 1ssuing entity do not meet the definition of
equity, and are recogrused at thewr fair value as a
lrabihty of the entity Changes in the fair value of the
warrants are recognised 1n profit or loss

Other financial habilites

Other financial habilities are inihally measured at
fair value, net of transaction costs Other financial
ltabilites are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, with
Interest expense recognised on an effechve yield
basis The effective interest method 1s a method of
calculating the amortsed cost of a financial hiabilizy
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period The effective interest rate 15 the rate that
exactly discounts esttmated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial hability, or,
if appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on inital recogniton

Transaction costs an bank borrowings

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the raising of bank borrowings are recognised on
the statement of financial positien on an accrual
basis Such costs will be deducted from the fair
value of the bank borrowings on inital recogniion
{that 15, when the relevant borrowings are drawn)
They form part of the bank borrowings and will be
accounted for using an effective 1nterest method
over the loan perniod as discussed above

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting ali of its habilines  Equity instruments
1ssued are recorded at the proceeds receved, net of
direct issue costs

Derecogmbtion

Financial assets are derecogrused when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or the
financal assets are transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownershup of the inanaal assets On derecogniion
of a financral asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration recerved and recesvable and the
cumulanve gaimn or loss that had been recognised

in other comprehensive ncome Is recognised in
profit or loss If the Group retamns substantally

all the nisks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and recognise a coilateralised
borrowing for proceeds received
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Frnancial habilites are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the retevant contract 1s
discharged, cancelled or exptres The difference
between the carrying amount of the inancial
liability derecogmsed and the consideration paid
and payabie 1s recognised in profit or loss

Inventories

Inventories and work in progress are valued at
the iower of cost and net realisable value Cost
comprises direct matenals and, where applicable,
direct labour costs and those overheads that
have been incurred in bringing the inventories

to their present location and condinon Cost of
raw matertals and consumables is determined on
the first-in-first-out basis Net reahsable value
represents the estimated selling price less all
estimated costs of completion and costs to he
wncurred in marketing, selling and distributien

Leasing

Leases are ctassthed as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substannally all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee All other
leases are classified as operating leases

The Group os lessor

Equipment and other assets may be leased to
cantractors under an operating lease, for use In the
construchon of mining properties Income from
lessees under these operanng leases are set off
against the cost of constructhion in the period to
which they relate

Rental income from operating leases 1s recognised
on a straight-hne basis over the term of the relevant
lease

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as
assets of the Group at thewr fair value or, if lower, at
the present value of the mimimum lease payments,
each determined at the inception of the lease The
corresponding habihty to the lessoris included in
the consolidated statement of hnancial posihion

as a finance lease obligahon Lease payments

are appornoned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the hability Finance charges are charged directly
against income, uniess they are directly attributable
to quahfying assets, in which case they are
tapitalised 1n accordance with the Group’s general
policy on borrowing costs

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged
to income on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease

Revenue recogmition

Revenue 1s measured at the farr value of the
cansideration received or recewvable and represents
amounts recervable for goods sold and services
provided in the narmal course of business, net

of discounts, value-added taxes and other sales-
related taxes

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are
delivered and ttle has passed

interest income1s accrued on 2 ime basis, by
reference to the principal cutstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected ife of the financizal
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount

Revenue from engineering contracts ts recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on
engineering contracts, as set out below
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Engineernng contracts

In the event that the outcome of a contract can be
esttmated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of complenon of the
contract activity at the end of each reperting penod
The stage of completion 1s measured by reference
to estimates of work performed to date

In the event that the outcome of a contract
cannot be reliably eshmated, contract revenue I1s
recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred
where 1115 probable they will be recoverable
Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred

In the event that 1t 1s probable that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenug, the
expected loss 15 recognised as an expense
immeatatety

Borrowing costs

Borrowing cosis directly attributable to the
acquisiton, construction or production of quabfying
assets, which are assets that necessanly take a
substannal period of time to get ready for therr
intencea use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, untl such time as the assets are substanually
ready for their intended use or sale Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets 1s deducted from the borrow:ng
costs eligible for capitabisation

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the year in which they are incurred

Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax

The tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit
for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the iIncome statement because 1t excludes
iterns of Income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deducnible The Group’s
labthty for current tax 1s calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting penod

Deferred tax I1s recognised for the tax expected

to be payable or recoverable on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assels and liabilities in the consehdated Anancial
staterments and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit Deferred tax
habiimes are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductble differences
to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable
profits will be available against waich deduchbie
temporary dtfferences can be unlised 5Such assets
and habilibes are not recognised if the temporary
difference anses from the :nihal recognihon of
goodwill or from the tninal recogiinon {other than
In a bustness combination] of other assets and
habitines in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax habdities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences ansing on investments

in subsidiaries, Interest Iin associates and joint
ventures, except where the Group 1s able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and 1t

15 probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future Deferred
tax assets ansing from deduchbie temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that

1t 1s probable that there will be sufftcient taxable
profits against which to utlise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse In the foreseeable future
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting penod and
reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits wall be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

Deferred tax i1s calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the year when the hability

1s settled or the asset is reahsed, based on tax

rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substannally enacted by the end of the reporting
penod Deferred tax s charged or credited in the
income statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case
the deferrea ta« 1s also dealt witn in equity

The measurement of deferreg tax habihibes and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assels
and kabihites DOererred tax s recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive iIncome or
arectly in equity, 1In whicn case the deferred tax 1s
also recogrmised in ather comprehensive iIncome or
directly 1n equity respectively

Deferred tax assets and habiines are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off currant
tax assels against current tax habiliaes and when
they relate to iIncome taxes levied by the same
taxaton avtnority and the Group mntends to seitle
s current tax assets and habilibes on a net basis

Share-based payments

Certain employees of the Group receive equity-
settled and cash-setiled share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions) at the date of grant
The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-hased payments 1s expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will
eventually vest, adjusted for the effect of non
market-based vesting conditons

Fair value 1s measured by the use of an appropriate
valuaton model The expected hves used

1n the models have been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-
transferabality, exercise restrictions and behawvioural
considerations

A liaotlity that equals to the portion of the goods
or services received 1s recognised at the current
fair value cetermined at the end of each reporting
period for cash-setlled share-based payments

Employee benefit trust

The carrying value of shares held by the EBT are
recorded as treasury shares, shown as a deduction
to shareholders’ equity

Retirement beneht costs

The Group does not operate a pension scheme
However, payments are made to defined
contribution retirement benefit arrangements for
certain employees and these are cnargec as an
expense as they fall due




IRC Annual Report 2010 8 5

5. Key sources of
estimation uncertainty

In the apphcaton of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, management has
made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recogmsed in the
consolidated inancial statements

Impairment of assets and assessment of cash
genercting units

The Group reviews the carrying value of its
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and interests in joint veniures to determine
whether there 15 any indication that those assets are
impaired  In making assessments for impairment,
assets that do not generate independent cash

flows are allocated to an appropriate CGL The
recoverable amount of those assets, or CGU, 15
measured at the hugher of thewr fair value less costs
to sell and value in use

Management necessarily applies 1ts judgement

in allocating assets to CGUs, 1n esomanng the
probability, ming and value of underlying cash
flows and in selecting appropriate discount rates

to be applied within the value in use calculation
Subsequent changes to CGU allocation or estmates
and assumptions in the value in use calculation could
impact the carrying value of the respective assets

Changes to the assumptions underlying the
assessment of the recoverable value may result

in changes to impairment charges, either through
further rmpairment charges or reversal of previously
recognised impatrments, which could have a
ssgnitficant impact on the financial informanon in
future penods In additon, further delays, increases
in the total forecast cost of planned projects or
negative ocuicomes to exploraben and evaluanon
actvities could lead to further impairment charges
in the future

Ore reserve estimates

The Group estimates ts ore reserves and minerat
resources based on the Australasian Code for
Reportng of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources
and Ore Reserves of December 2004 {the "JORC
Code”) The JORC Code requires the use of
reasonable investment assumptiens when reporting
reserves, Including future production esiimates,
expected future commoedity prices and production
cash costs

Ore reserve esniimates are used in the calculation
of deprectation of miming assets using a units of
production method, impairment charges and for
forecasting the nming of the payment of closedown
and restoraton costs  Also, ror the purpose of
impairment review and the assessment of hife of
mrne for forecasnng the bming of the payment of
close down and restaration costs, the Group may
take into account mineral resources in addition
to are reserves where there 1s a high degree of
conhidence that such resources will be extracted

Ore reserve esiimates may change from period

to period as addimional geological data becomes
avallabie during the course of operations or
economic assumpnons used to estimate reserves
change Such changesinestimated reserves may
affect the Group’s financial results and financial
posthon in a number of ways, including the following

= Asset carrying values due to changes in
eshmated future cash flows,

* Deprecianon chargedin the income statement
where such charges are determined by using a
units of productnon method or where the useful
econormuic lives of assets are determined with
reference to the hfe of the mine,

+ Prowisions for ¢close down and restoranion costs
where changes in estmated reserves affect
expectations about the tming of the payment of
such costs, and

* Carrying value of deferred tax assets and
habiines where changes in estimated reserves
affect the carrying value of the relevant assets
and habiltes




IRC Annual Report 2010

Exploranion and evaluation costs

The Group’s accounting policy for explaration and
evaluation expenditure results in such expenditure
being capitalised for those projects for which such
expenditure Is considered likely to be recoverable
through future extrachion acbwity or sale, or for
which the exploration activities have not reached

a stage which permits a reasonable assessment

of the existence of reserves This policy requires
management to make certain esmates and
assumptions as to future events and circumstances,
in particular whether the Group will proceed

with development based on existence of reserves
or whether an economically viable extraction
operanen can be estabhshed Such estbmates and
assumptions may change from penod to period as
new informaton becomes avallable i subsequent
10 the exploration and evaluation expenditure
capitalised, a judgement 1s made that recovery of
the expenditure 1s unlikely or the project s to be
abandoned, the relevant capitalised amount will be
written off to proht or loss

Provision for restoration, rehabiiitation and
environmentol costs

Costs ansing from site restoration works, and the
decommussioning of plant, discounted to therr
present value, are provided for and caprtalised at
the start of each project, as soon as the obligation
to incur such costs arises The prowvision s based

on estimates prepared by external consultants
Management uses its judgement and expertence to
provide for these costs The ultimate costs of site
restoration and decommussioning are uncertan, and
cost estimates can vary in response to many factors
including changes to relevant legal requirements,
the emergence of new restoration technigques

or experience at otaer mine sites  The expected
uming and exteni of expenditure can aiso change,
for example 10 response to changes in ore reserves
or processing levels As a result, there could be
signuficant adyustments to the prowvisions established
which would affect future financial results

Assumptions related to the valuahon of share-based
payments

In order to value ophtions granted, the Group has
made judgements as to the volatility of 1ts own
ordinary shares, the probablie lite of the options
granted and the time of exercise of those options
The Company has also made a judgement as to
which methodology to use 1n valuing the options In
each case

Esttmation of percentoge completion of engineering
contracts of QJSC Institute for Engineering of Ore
Mining Enterprises Giproruda (“Giproruda®)

To estimate the percentage completion of
engineering contracts and therefore determine

the amount of contract revenue and associated
costs to recognise requires that management
makes an assessment of the stage of completion of
the contract activity at the end of each reporting
pertod The Directors consider that these esnmates
are made by suitably gualified project managers

Tax provisions and tax legisiotion

The Group 15 subject to income tax in the UK,
Russian Federatnon and Cyprus Assessing the
outcome of uncertain tax poSINONS requires
Judgements to be made The Group recognises
ltabilities for anticipated tax 1ssues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes wiil be due,
such estimates are based on the status of ongoing
discussions with the relévant tax authonties and
advice from independent tax advisers Russian tax
and currency contro! legislation is subyect to varying
interpretations Fines and penaltes for any errors
and omissions could be significant The Directors
beheve that there have been no matenal breaches
of Russian tax regulanons and that these financial
statements contain all neccessary provisions in
respect of the Group's tax hiabiites 1n Russia

Deferred tax

Recognition of deferred tax assets requires
management 1o assess the hkelhood that future tax
profits will be avadable which the deferred tax asset
can be vbbsed to offset  This requires management
to assess future profits of the business and the
likehhood and tming of these amounts
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6. Segment information

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires the Group
to disclose reported segments in accordance
with internal reports that are provided to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker The
Group considers i1ts Executive Commitiee to be the
chief operating decision maker For management
purposes, the Group 1s orgamised into four
operating segments, Mines in Produchon, Mines
n Development, Engineering, and Other These
operating segments form the basis on which the
Group's Executive Committee makes decisions
about resource allocation and performance
assessment The Group has four reportable
segments under HKFRS 8

+ Minesin Production segment {"Mines 1n
Praduction™), comprising iron ore projects 1n
production phase The segmentincludes the
Kuranakh project™

«  Minesin Development segment {“"Mines in
Development”), comprising iron ore projects in
the exploration and development phase The
segment incluces the Kuranakh project” and
the K&S project, and mines in the exploraton
and evaluation stage including the Gannskoye
praject ano the Belshol Seym project (held by
an assoctate) as well as the Kostenginskoye and
Gannskoye Flanks projects

» Engineering segment { ‘Enginearing”),
comprising in-house engineering and scientfic
expertse refated to Giproruda

* Other segment {(“Other”} primarily includes tne
Group’s interest in joint venture arrangements for
the design and development of a titamum sponge
produchon plant in the People’s Republic of China
{“PRC"), the Group's Interest In joint veniure
arrangements for the proaucnon of vanadium
pentoxtdes and related products in the PRC &as
well as various other projects, wnicn nave stmillar
economic cnaractenstc and acovites

*  The Kuranakh project was grouped under Mines in
Development when it was under exploration and
development phase Upon the commencement of
production, 1t 15 reporied as o separole segment, Adines in

Production since September 2010

The accounting pohicies of the reportable segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 4 Segment results represent
the results earned by each segment without the
allocation of central administranon costs, central
depreciation and amortisation, other gains and
losses and other expenses, financial income,
financial expenses and taxatien

Segment results represents the profit (loss)
generated by each segment for the purpose of
monmitoring segment performance

For the purposes of monitoring segment
performances and allocating resources between
segments

+ all assets are allocared to reporianle segments
other than loans and other receivabies om
related partes and central cash and cash
equivalents, and

o all habiines are alfocated to reporiable
segments other than deferred tax, derivative
fnancial instruments and loans payable to a
related party

L
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For the year ended 31 December 2010

Mines in Mines In
production develgpment  Engineering Other Totat
USS'000 uss’000 Uss'o00 Uss'000 Uss'000
Revenue
External sales 12,634 - 13,158 - 25,792
Total revenue 12 634 - 13,158 - 25,792
Net gperating expenses {14,947) {7,796) (10,863) {40,597) {74,203)
Net operating expenses include
Impairment charges B {1,028) - {34 944) (35,972)
Depreciabion and amornsaton {2,368) {1,402} (621) (28} (4,419}
Share of results of joint ventures - - - (135} {135)
Segment results [2,313) {7.796) 2,295 {40,732} (48 546)
Central administration (22,847}
Central depreciation and amorbsaton {506)
Other gans and losses and other expenses (5,570}
Financial income 10,929
Financial expenses {11 813)
Taxation expense (3,676)
Loss for the year (82,029)
Other segment information
Addihons to non-cusrent assets
- Capital expenditure - 113 545 353 7,846 121,844
Interasts in jomt ventures - - - 4,731 2731
Lxploranon and evaluaton expenditure
capitalised within intangible assets - 3323 - - 3323
Segment assets 132,191 495,596 19,492 17,412 664,691
Central cash and cash equivalents 202,828
Total assets 867,519
Segment habilimes {8,763} (31,640) (2,597) {17,877} {60,877}
Deferred tax iabihues {2,0228)

Total habilines

{62,901}
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

Minesn
development Engineering Other Total
USS'000 UsSs' 000 Uss'ou0 UsSs'000
Revenue
External sales - 8,260 - 8,260
Total revenue - 8,260 - 8,260
Net gperabng expenses {106,000) {7,431) {1,973) (115,406)
Net pperating expenses include
Impairment charges (97,371) - - (97,371)
Depreciation and amortisation {376) {169) - {S45}
Share of results of joint ventures - (90} {90)
Segmeant results {106,000) 829 {2,065) {107,236}
Central administration (22 077y
Central depreciatnon and amornsanon {443)
(Other gains and losses and other expenses (13,552)
Financial income 15,145
Financial expenses (10,337)
Taxanon expense {637)
Loss for the year {139,137}
Other segment information
Additions 10 non-current assets
Other additions to intangible assets - - 104 104
Capital expenditure 81,236 436 788 82,460
Interests In Joint ventures - - 2,021 2,021
Exploranon and evaluation expenditure
capitalised within intangible assets 422 - - 422
Segment assets 439,657 18,468 42,370 500 495
Central cash and cash equivalents 10,688
Loans and other recevables from refated parties 375,384
Tolal assets 886,867
Segment habihnes (14,909) (2 302) (2,486) (19,697}
Deferred tax habilines {1,561}
Dervative financial instruments {1,711}
Loans payable to a related party {264,158)

Total hahuhties

(287,527)
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Revenue by
geographical location®

2010 2009
Uss'000 Uss'000

Russia and the Commonwealth

of Independent States {“CIS") 13,184 8260
PRC 12,608 -
25,792 8,260

Y Based on the locaton t¢ which the product was shipped
or 1 which the services weare provided

Non-current assets
by location of asset!™

2010 2009
USS$'000 Uss’000

Russia and CIS 575,237 428,252
PRC 10,411 31,973
Hong Kong 51 -
United Kingdom (“UK*"} - 71

585,699 460,296

Informenion about major customers

The Group's revenue included revenue ansing from

sales of iron ore concentrate and rendering engineering
services to a number of indiwndual third party customers
during the year ended 31 December 2010 and rendenng
engineering services to a number of individual third party
customers during the year ended 31 December 20089, that
indivdually amounted to more than 10% of the Group’s
total revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2010 sales were

made to Hellongprang hanlong Steel Company Limited
{US$12,593,000) attributable to the Mines in Production
segment, 0JSC Arkhangelskgeoldobycha {LUS54,688,000)
and OJSC Apatit (US54,040 000) attnbutable to the
Enpineening segment, respectvely compnising 49%, 18%
and 16% of the total revenue

for the year ended 31 December 2009 sales

were made o 0JSC Apatit (USS2 974,000), 0JSC
Arkhangelskgeoldobycha (US51,6£2,000), GJS5C
Kovdorskiy GOK (US5825 000) and latonal Center KPMS
RK {US5981 Q00) solely attributable te the Engingering
segment, respectively, comprising 36% 20%, 10% and
12% of the total revenue

7. Revenue

An analysis of the Group’s revenue 1s as follows

2010 2009
Us$'000 Us$'000

™ Excluding financial assets

Revenue
Sales of goods 12,634 -
Rendering of services 13,158 8,260

25,792 8,260
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8. Net operating expenses

2010 2009
Uss Goo Uss 000
Net operanng expenses
Costs of sales and service costs™ 22,258 5,305
Admimstranon expenses®™ 39,710 35,345
Other net operating income (384) {95}
61,584 40,555
4 Cost of sales and service costs
Staff costs 12,001 2,631
Fuel 2,280 -
Materals 7,953 1
Deprecianon and amortsaton 2,848 141
Movemeits in finished
goods and work i progress {16,289) -
Outside service fee 6,503 -
Electricity 1,143 1
Rovyalhes 544 -
inventory weitten off° - 239
Railway tarnif 4 853 -
Others 422 2,282
22,258 5 305
 Admunistration expenses
Staff costs 17,601 15,223
Depreviation 72t 847
Professional fees** 7,048 4,351
Bank charges 213 155
Insurance 372 749
Qfhice rent 2,155 2,833
Travel and entertainment 3,015 2,105
Share-based payments 1,589 2,449
Office costs 1,288 998
{Reversa! of allowance) allowance
for doubtful debts®*~ {42) 3,589
Loss on aisposal of property,
pltant and equipment 920 230
Others 4,830 1,816
39,710 35,345

o

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value At 31 Decernber 2010, no :nventory
was wrttten off, while at 31 December 2009, work

N progress was written down to its net realisable
value resultng 1n a charge to the consolidated
income statement of US5239,000 due to high

costs of production assoctated with the start-up of
operahons

Professional fees comprise audit fees, legal fees,
consulting fees, management services fees and
engineering consultancy fee

{Reversal of allowance) aliowance for doubtful debts
of approximately (US5$42,000) and USS$3,589,000
were recognised in profit and loss for the year
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, respectvely
The amount for the year ended 31 December 2009
represented full imparrment for {1} a deposit paid
in advance for construchon ot apartments, which
was constdered not recoverable as the contractor
has been declared bankrupt, and (0] a trade debtor
at Gproruta and a deposit paid for the acquisinon
of a railway locomouve which did not proceed as
the counter parties were in hnancial difficuitnes
The amount for the year ended 31 December 2010
reprasents certawin recovery of a trader debtor at
Giproruda
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9. Auditors’ remuneration

The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows

2010 2009
uss'o00 Uss'000
Audit fees
Fees payable 10 Group's auditors and their associates for the annual audit of the Group
and consoldiated financial statements 459 -
Fees payable to Aricom’s auditors and their associates for the audit of subsidiary
statutory accounts pursuant to legislahon®® - 105
Component of parent entity group audit fee allocated to Ancom™ - 228
459 333
Non-audit fees
Fees for reporting accountants services' 2,729 -
Tax services 4 29
Other services pursuant to legislation - intenm review fee - 24
Accounting advisory services - 33
Transachen based corparate services™ - 178
Other services 105 20
2,838 284
Total 3,287 617

B The amounts for 2009 represented fees payable for the audit of the Group s subsidiaries’ statutory accounts pursuant
to legislation only

B This amount related to the group audit of Petropaviovsk PLC and the costs were borne by Petropaviovsk PLC This
amoun, refiects an allocation of the fee based on the scope of Aricom within the Petropaviovsk PLC audrt

Fees for reporting actountants services represent remuneration for Group’s auditors and ther associates in conngction
with the listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange

W n 2009 transachon based corporate services related to professional services m relation to the acquisiion of Ancom by
Petropaviovsk PLC
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10. Directors’ and employees’ emoluments

The aggregate remuneration of employees (including directors) compnised

2010 2009
UssS'000 UsSS’000
Wages and salarnes 25,082 15,760
Social security and other benehis 4,365 2,025
Retirement beneft contribution 154 69
Share-based payments 1,589 2,449
31,190 20 303
2010 2008
USS'000 Uss'000
Directors’ Emoluments
Emoluments for executive directors
- salaries and other benehts 934 777
- performance bonus® 617 334
- retirement beneht contnbunon 118 91
- share-hased payments 779 940
Emoluments for non-executive directors
- directors’ fees 180 194
2,678 2 336

4 The performance bonus is determined by reference to the individual performance of the directors and approved by

the Remuneration Comnutiee
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For the year ended 31 December 2010

Salartes,
performance Retrement Share-
Directors’ bonus and benefit based
fees other benefits contribution payments Total
USS'000 US5'000 UsS5'000 Us5'000 Uss 000
Executve drrectors of Aricom
8rian £gan
(resigned 17 September 2010} 163 g 41 213
George iay Hambro - 263 21 65 350
Andrey Maruta
{appomted 22 February 2010 and
resigned 17 September 2010) - 81 6 17 104
- 507 36 124 667
Executve directors of the Company
George Jay Hambro
(appointed 4 June 2010) - 416 30 262 708
Yury Makarov
(appointed 4 June 2010) - 365 27 229 625
Raymond Wao
{appointed 30 July 2010} - 309 25 164 498
Non-executive directors of the Company
Non independent non-executive directors
Simon Murray
{appomted 16 Novermber 2010) 13 - - 13
Dr Pavel Maslovskry
{appointed 3 September 2010) 32 - - - 32
Independent non-executive directors
Daniel Bradshaw
{appointed 3 September 2010} a5 . - - 45
Jonathan Maran Smith
{appainted 3 September 2010} 45 - - - 45
Chuang-fer Li
{appointed 3 September 2010) 45 - - R 25
180 1,094 82 655 2011
Total 180 1,601 118 779 2,678
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

Salaries,
performance Retrement Share-
Directors’ benus and benefit based
fees other benefts  contribunon payments Total
uUss'000 Us5'000 Uss 000 Uss$'000 Uss'0og
executive directors of Aricom
Brian Egan - 343 30 227 600
George lay Hambro - 574 51 445 1070
Yury Makarov
{resigred 22 April 2009) - 100 - 142 242
Marnn Snuth
(resigned 22 Apnil 2009) - 94 10 126 230
Non-executive directors of Aricom
Non independent non-executive directors
Dr Pavel Maslovskiy
{resigned 22 April 2009) 45 - - 49
Peter Hambro
resigned 22 Apnl 2005} 27 - - 27
Independent non-executive directors
Sir Malcolm Fietd
{resigned 22 April 2009} 38 B - - 38
Sir Roderic Lyne
[resigned 22 Aprik 2009) 29 . - - 29
Teny Redman
{appointad 1 January 2009 and
resigned 22 April 2009) 51 - - - 51
Totai 194 i,111 91 94Q 2,336

Subsequent to 22 April 2009, Brian Egan and George Jay Hambro have also been employed by Petropavlovsk PLC
and the payment of their emeluments was centrahised and made by Petropaviovsk PLC For the period from 22
April 2009 to 31 December 2010, a component of their Petropaviovsk PLC remuneraton was allocated to Aricom to
reflect the proportion of their roles that relate to Ancom business

Andrey Maruta 1s employed by Petropaviovsk PLC For the period from his appointment on 22 February 2010 to
31 December 2010 a component of his Petropaviovsk PLC remuneration was allocated to Artcom to refiect the
proportion of his role that relates to Aricom business

Other than as disclosed above, no remuneraton was paid or payable by the Group to the executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive directors duning the year
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Five lughest poid individuols

For the year ended 31 December 2010 the five highest paid individuals in¢iuded three directors of the Company and Aricom
(2009 two directors of Ancom) The emoluments of the remairung highest pard mdividuals for the years ended 31 Decemnber

2009 and 2010 are as follows

2010 2009
uss'000 USS 000 ‘
Employees :
- salanes and other benehts 755 311 .
- share-based payments a3 857
798 1,168 '
Therr emoluments were within the foliowing bands
HK$1,500,001 to HKS2,000,000 (equivalent to approxamately
US§$192,802 to USS$257,068) 1 -
HKS$2 000 001 to HKS2 500,000 (equivalent to approximately
US5257,089 to USS321,337) R 2
HK54,000,000 to HK$4,500,001 (equwvalent to approximately
US$449 872 to USS578,406) 1 -
HKS$4,500,001 to HKS5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
USS578 407 to USS642,674) i
2 3

In both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join ar upon joining the Group MNone of the directors has waved any emoluments and no other amounts were paid by the
Group to the directors, or the five highest paid indaviduals, as compensation for loss of ofnce

11. Impairment charges

In 2008, in Lght of the delays in the commencement

of commereial produchon and increases in capizal
expenditure, management assessed the carrying value of
the CGU of a titanomagnetite concentrate and tmenite
concentrate project located n the Amur Region of the
Russian Federation {“Kuranakh project”} for imparrment
The revised recoverable amount also took inte account
signsficant increases o0 Russian ratlway tanffs for imenite
As a result, an impairment charge of US587 § mullion was
recognised against the Kuranakh project

At 31 December 2010, the Company considered whether
there were any indicators that further impairment or

the need to reverse previously recogmised impairment
enisted at Kuranakh and K&S, a magnebte project,

which is at the developmg stage and 1s located 1n the
Evreyskaya Avionomaya Oblast of the Russian Federation
{(“"EAD Region”) Management concluded that no further
impairment charge 15 required

For the purposes of teshing for impairment, recoverable
amounts have been deterouned as value in use, being
esbmated future cash flows discounted to their present
value, based on a number of assumptions The key
assumptions are presented in the table following
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2010

2009

Nominal discount rate post-iax

Nominal discount rate pre-tax

Average Russianinflation rate from
the year end to 2030

Average Russtan Rouble US dollar exchange rate from
the year end to 2030

Average ntanomagnetite concentrate prices from
the year end to 2024

Average ilmenite prices from the year end to 2024

Average Hamersiey fines iron ore price from
the year end to 2030

Forecast inflation rates and sales prices for short-term
ron ore were based on external sources and adjustments
to these were made for the expected quality of the
forecast production In addition, management have
estimated the long term forecast sales prices for
ntanomagnetite and Hamersley fine ron ore prices which
takes into account therr wews of the market, recent
volanlity and other external sources of infermanon
Judgement nas then veen apphed by management :in
determining a long-term price for each commodity The
npalrment assessments are parbiculanity sensitive to
changes in discount rate, commodity prices and foraign
exchange rates Changes to these assumptions would
result in changes to impairment charges, which could
have a significant impact on the cons?hdated financial
statements

In 2009, wnpairment charges of US$3,704,000 and
US$S5,740,000 were recognised 1n relation to the Arnicom
Group's interest 1n an associate and the amount owed
by that assotiate The Ancom Group has a 49% stake in
LLC Uralmining, holding a licence to develop the Bolshol
Seym deposit  Due to uncertainties about the commercial
viabulity of the project and the progression of the
develcpment of the project, it was decided to wrte off
the carrying value of the equity interest of USS3,704,000
and loans advanced of US$$5,740,000 In 2010, further
loans of US51,028,000 to LLC Uralmiming have been
impaired

In 2010 the Company was advised that :ts joint
venture partner had decided to withdraw from some
of 1ts non core ventures and consequently no longer
wished to proceed with the Jiata Titanium project

{as defined in note 23) To date the Company has
invested approximately US520 8 million in the yont
venture and a further US515 3 million on the ntarium
sponge processing technelogy, which was expected tg
be recharged to the joint venture As a consequence
the bullding of the plant was deferred and there 1s
uncertainty as to the eventual outcome of the yoint
venture activines and the recoverabihity of the amounts

13 8% and 9 0%
17 3% and 11 3%

20%
315

USS/tonne 104 7
UssS/tenne 1100

UsSS/tonne 86 3

13 5% and 15 5%
16 5% and 19 5%

22%
30

USS/tonne 94 1
Uss/tonne 105 0

USS/tonne 9G 7

invested  As aresult, the directors concluded that the
most appropriate course of action was {o prowide for

an impairment of US$34 9 million against the invested
amounts This impairment was allocated to intangible
assets (USS0 7 mithon), property, plant and equipment
(Us514 6 miflion) and interests i joint ventures

{USS19 6 milhon) The unpairment oK INto account
the racoverable value of the Group s share of the joint
venture of USS3 5 million which reflected the Group's
65% share of the cash within the joint venture net of its
habiines Foltowing discussions with 1ts joint venture
partner the Group has entered into an agreement
pursuant to which the 35% stake held by 1ts joint venture
partner will be independently appraised and, subject to
certain conditions including the recetpt of the necessary
approvals for the implementation of the transfer and

for an extension for the period in which the outstanding
capital has to be pad up and there being no material
adverse change, the Group will bid for the 35% stake at
the appraised value if the appraised value is at or below
RMB76 million or such higher number as the Group may
agree There 15 no certainty that the Group would be

a successful bidder, but it s considering how it would
proceed if it does acquire the 35% stake One route might
be to continue with the project alone and another to
proceed with a different joint veoture partner

In the event that the Company 15 successful in acquinng
the 35% stake interest and proceeds with the project
alone gr with a different joint venture partner, it may be
possible to reverse some or all of the impairment charge
In the event that the Company acquires the 35% stake but
ulumately does not preceed with the project or tailed to
acquired the 35% stake, a furtherimparrment charge may
be requured
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12. Other gains and losses and other expenses

2010 2009

uss'000 uss 000

Change in fair value of financial instruments at FVTPL {1,711) 1,711
Net foreign exchange {gain) loss {2,074) 6,224
Listing costs® 9,355 -
Costs associated with acguisition of Aricom by Petropavlovsk PLCP! - 5,617
5,570 13,552

" The amounts represented the proporton of the costs in relation to the hsting of the Company on the Stock Exchange
that relate to existing shares listed

I8 Costs assoaiated with the acquistoon of Anicom by Petropaviovsk PLC primanity related to professional fees incurred for the
preparation of the inancial informaton of Ancom

13. Financial income

2010 2009
uss'o00 Uss'000

interest income on ioans recewvable from related parhes
{see note 27) 10,585 12,505
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 275 2,105
Interest tncome on other loans and recevables 65 135
10,928 15,145

14. Financial expenses

2010 2008
Uss’000 Us$'000
interest expenses on loan wholly repayable to related parhes within five years 11,254 9,848
Unwinding of discount on environmental obligaton 549 191
Others 10 298

11,813 10,337
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15. Taxation expense

2010 2009

Uss'000 Uss$'000

UK current tax {3,062) (372}
Cyprus current tax {49} (71}
Russia current tax {481) (564)
Current 1ax expense {3,592) {1,007)
Deferred tax {expense) credit (84) 370
(3,676) {637)

UK corporation tax is ¢aleulated at 28% of the estimated assessable profit for both years

Cyprus corporabon tax is calculated at a rate of 10% of the estimated assessable profit for bath years
Russian corporation fax 1s calculated at a rate of 20% of the estimated assessable profit for soth vears

No Hong Kong prohts tax was provided for as the Group had no assessable profit ansing in or derived from
Hong Kong

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows

2010 2008
uss’aoe uss'00o
loss before taxabon {78,333} {138,500)
Tax at the UK corpeoranon tax rate of 28% for the year
ended 31 December 2009 and 2010 {21,938} {38,780)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries” operztnions in gther junisdichions 6,092 12,910
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 22 25
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 13,090 5,882
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determirung taxable profit® 16,337 22,245
Tax effect of income that are not taxable in deterruning taxable profit {5,940) -
Tax effect of uthlisation of previously not recognised deductible temporary differences {3,615) (4,737)
Adjustments in respect of prior years - {993)
Foreign exchange movements in respect of deductible temporary differences (372) 85
Taxation expense for the year 3,676 637

1 These amounts mainly related to the imparment charges of mine development projects allocated to property, plant and
equipment and the impairment of amounts invested in the hatar Titamum project (see note 11)
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16. Dividends

No dividend was paid or proposed by Ancom durning the year ended 31 December 2009 An interim dividend

of US5644 437,000 was proposed and approved by the directors of Anicom on 22 June 2010 0Oi this amount
U5522,460,000 was paid in cash and the remainder was offset against amounts owing to Petropavlovsk PLC prior
to the listng of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange under the group re-organisation (see note 33(b))

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the yearended 31
December 2010
17. Loss per share

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share aitnbutable to owners of the Company s based on the
following data

Loss
2010 2008
USS’000 uss’ooo
Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per ordinary
share being nat loss attnbutable to owners of the Company (82,358) {139,291}
Number of shares
2010 2009
Number Number
‘000 ‘000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes
ot basic loss per ordinary share 2,265032 1,817,58%

The number of ardinary shares for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share has been retrospectively adjustad for the
share sub-division as disclesed 1n note 33, the deemed bonus element relating to the shares of the Company 1ssued to Cayiron
Lirmited in August 2010 and the capitalisation 1ssue of the shares of the Company

The dencnunators used are the same as those detailled above for both basic and diluted earnings per share
Note The computanon of diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 does not assume the

conversion of Ancom’s outstanding warrants and share options since their exercise would result in a decrease in loss
per share
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18. Operating lease arrangements

The Group as a lessee

2010 2009
Uss'000 Uss'000
Minimum lease payments under operatng leases in
respect of the Group’s office premises recognised
as an expense 1n the year 1,856 2,210

At the end of the reporting peciod the Group had outstanding commitments for future mimimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operanng leases, which fall due as follows

2010 2009

US5'000 Uss'o00

Within cne year 1,070 1,098
in the second to fifth years inclusive 3,751 4,821
4,821 5,919

The Group as a lessor

The Group earned property rental income of approximatety US51,016,000 during the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009
U$$964,000), relating to the sub-let of part of the floor space of a building owned by a subsidiary of the Group, GJSC
Giproruda which formed part of the other net operating mcome {included in net operanng expenses) The lease contracts are
at fixed rates for a period not exceeding eleven months as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 At the end of the reporting peried,
the Group had contracted with tenants for minimum lease payments due within the first three months  The total minimum
jease payment s approximately U55987,000 and US51,000,000 as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 respactively This rental
income 15 shown net of the associated cost within other operating income

19. Intangible assets

The Group
2010 2009
Uss’ 000 Uss'000
At the beginning of year 28,690 613
Addinons 3,323 526
Transfers from plant, property and equipment 237 27,551
Impatrment (see note 11} {717}
At the end of year 31,533 28,690

buring the year ended 31 December 2009, and following its acquisthon by Petropaviovsk PLC, Anicom reassessed the
development plans for its vanous projects As a result of this assessment, Gannskoye and the Garnskoye and Kostengiskoye
Flanks have been transferred to exploration and evaluanon assets within intangible assets, because the decision to commence
with the development of these projects was reassessed in the context of the enlarged group’s priorines

in part addimons represent amounts paid to acquire hcences for intellectual property i relation to the processing of titanium
sponge which have subsequently been impasred in 2010, as set out in note 11
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20. Property, plant and equipment

The Group
Mine Non- Capital
development Mining ninINg  coastruction
costs assets assets In progress Tota!
UsSs'000 Uss'000 Uss'000 Uss$'000 US$’000
COSsT
At 1 lanuary 2005 767,164 - 55,410 10,551 833,125
Againons 62,508 - 7,010 5,i84 74,702
Acquisition of assets 7,508 - 249 - 7,758
Disposals - - {754) - (754)
Transfers - - 6,444 (6,444} .
Transfers to intangible assets {27 551) - - - (27,551)
Exchange adjustments - - {243) {133} (376}
At 31 December 2009 and
1 January 2010 809,630 - 68,116 9,158 £86,904
Addihons 110,201 - 3,364 8279 121 §aa
Disposals (6,068) - {308) - {6,376)
Transfers (70,581) 83,960 {12,006) {973) -
Transfers to intangible assets {237) - - - (237)
Transfer to joint venture® - - - (1,828) {1,828)
Exchange adjustments - - (&0} . (60}
At 31 December 2010 842,545 83,960 59,106 14,636 1,000,247
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND tMPAIRMENT
At 1 lanuary 2009 (386,407} - {4,108) . (390,515;
Depreciation charge for the year - - (3,902) - (3,902}
Ehminated on disposals - - 201 - 201
Impairment (see note 11) (65,216) - (22,713) - (87,929)
Exchange adjustments - - {18} - {18)
At 31 December 2005 and
1 January 2010 (451,623) - (30,540) - {482,163)
Depreciation charge for the year {1,456) {2,332) {1,979) - (5,767)
Eliminated on disposals 1,459 - 51 - 1,510
Transfers {2,130) {158} 2,288 . .
impairment (see note 11) - - - {14,572) (14,572}
Exchange adjustments - - 15 - 15
At 31 December 2010 {253,750} {2,490) {30,165) (14,572) (S00,977)
CARRYING AMQOUNTS
Al 31 Decambes 2010 388,795 81,470 28,941 6d 499,270
At 31 December 2009 358,007 - 37,576 9,158 404,741

™ This amount relates to costs on capral construcnion 1n progress that has now been considered to form part of investment in joint veniures
as capital injechon
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The Company

Furmitures
Leasehold Computer and Ofhice
improvements equipment fixtures equipment Total
Uss'000 USS 000 Uss'000 Uss'000 Uss'o00

COsT
At 4 June 2010, date of incorporation - - - - .
Addittons 9 [ 3 46 64
At 31 December 2010 9 6 3 46 64
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 4 June 2010 date of incorporation - - - B
Depreciation charge for the vear {2) (1) (1) (9} {13}
At 31 December 2010 (2) {1) (1) (9 {13)
CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2010 7 5 2 37 51

Al 31 December 2010, cumulative capitalised interest and borrowmng costs of US51,507,000 (31 December 2009
US$1,507,000) were included within mine development costs in the above table The effective rate of interest
capitalised for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2008 was ml  Depreciation of Us$842,000 relating pnmarily
Lo assets used 10 tne constructien of plant 1n LLC Olekmensky Rudnik and LLC KS GOK was capitalised during the
year ended 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009 US52,015,000)

Additions to mine development costs inciude deferred stripping costs incurred in the development of the mine of
USS$8,863,000 and US$7,61%,000 during each of the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 respectively which
relates to the removal of overburden at the Kuranakh mine

No assets were held under finance feases at 31 December 2009 and 2010
There are no restrichions on ttle and no property, plant and equipment were pledged as secunty

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisinon of
property, plant and equipment amounting to US$71,732,000 and US552,278,000 respectively At 31 December
2010 and 2009, this included the commitment to contribute US$48,700,000 to the share capital of hiatar Titanium
and at 31 December 2009 this included the commitment to contribuie USS2,600,000 to the share capital of the
Vanadium joint venture project as disclosed in note 23
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21. Investments in subsidiaries

The Company

2010
LSS 000
Unlisted shares at costs 877,300
The activines of the Company’s grincipal subsidianes are set out 1n note 44
22. Interest in an associate
The Group
2010 2009
USss'000 Uss'000
At the beginning of the year - 3,704
Imparrment {see note 11) - {3,704)

At the end of the year -

Interest tn an assooate held at 31 December 2010 and 2009 represented the Group’s 49% ownership interest in the ordinary
shares of LLC Uralmining (“Uralminung”™) Uralmining 1s incorporated and carries cutits mining and project develepment
principal activines in Russia, where 1t holds the icence to develep the Bolshol Seym deposit

In 2009, impairment charges of U553,704,000 and US55,740,000 were recogrnised in refation to the Aricom Group’s

interest in and the amount owed by Uralmining  Due to uncertainties about the commercial viability of the project and the
progression of the development of the project found at 31 December 2009, 1t was decided to impair the carrying value of the
equity interest of US53,704,000 and loans advanced of US$55,740,000 In 2010, further loans advanced to the associate of
US51,028,000 were also imparred, as the uncertainbes about the commercial viability of the project and the progression of
the development of the project stll existed as at 31 December 2010

There was no revenue generated by the associate duning the year end 31 December 2010 and 2009 Aggregated amounts
relating to Uralmirung are set out below

2010 2009

Uss'000 Uss'ooo

Total assets 15,709 14,964
Total labilies {15,709} (14,964)

Net assets
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23. Interests in joint ventures

The Group
2010 2009
US$'000 USS'000
At the beginning of year 22,652 20 387
Contribution of share capital 4,731 -
Acguired on incorporation® - 2,021
Share of results of joint ventures {135) (90)
fransiers from other non-current dssets 1,828 353
Exchange adjustments 885 21
Impairment (see note 11) {19,655} -
At the end of year 10,346 22,692

W |n accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement between the Company and a partner signed and approved
by the Chinese Ministry of Commerce on 12 August 2008 to establish a Chinese ttanium sponge processing joint venture
project {the “hatat Titantum project”), Hellongpang Jiatal Titamum Ce Limited ( Jiatal Titanium®™), was incorporated in
the PRC The Group holds 65% of Jratar Titanum and 35% s held by a partner with the parties exercising joint cantrol
and contributing RMB474 5 mithon {equivatent to USSE9 S nmuthion) ang RMB25S 5 million (eguivalent to US537 0 muihion})
respectively The mnterest held by the Group at 31 December 2009 and 2010 was 65% Contnibunaens to the regisieled
capital reflect these respective interests were to be made in tranches  The hrst trancne of US$20 8 milion was paid by
Ancom n September 2008 The remaining tranches to be contributed by the Group comprisec a US Deltar equivalert
of US$a8 7 rllion as at 31 December 2010 These amounts were due 1o be paid by 31 December 2005 In 2010 the
ivestment (n the Jiata Tiamum project was wnpairea  Refer to note 11 for further intormanon The iming and paymert
of thesc contributions are 1 cettan However tallowing discussions with the partner the Groug entered into an agreegment
with the partner on 25 August 2010 pursuant Lo wiich, and subjact to certain condinons one o/ which 15 the eatension for
the period in which the ontstanding capital has 1o be paid up the Group would mid 10 the pubhic hsting and bidding process
to be implemented 1IN «Cca eance wid Pnl 1aws w he pa laer o stake + haty Tamam Furthe cetmils of s agreement
are set out n acle 11 The 10ca author ity has epprover o furthe, eaend the ¢ e Gate 'O payi g uie registered caprtal to 3
September 2012

On 19 February 2009, the Gioup signed an agreement with Hedongpang hianlong Steel Comaany brmited and Kuranakn
lnvestment Co Limited to estanlish a Chinese Vanadium Production Joint Ventura project (the Vanadium yoint Venture”},
Hellongpang Jianlong Vanadium Industries Co Limnad which was incorporated in the PRC The Group holds 46% of the join.
venture and the remaining 49% and 5% are held by Helongpang Juaniong Steel Company Lunsted and Kuranaku Investment Co
Limuted respectwely, with the parhes exercising jont control  Contribunons to the registered capital reflect these respective
interests were made in tranches The first tranche of a US Dollar equivalent of US52 0 million was paid by the Group in
November 2009 and a further payment of US54 7 million was pasd n 2010 The interest held by the Group at 31 December

2009 and 2010 was 46%

There was no revenue generated by the above joint ventures in both years




106 IRC Annual Report 2010

The summary of the hnancial informanon of the Group’s joint ventures for the year as set out below

2010 2009
uss'ona uss'ooa
Share of joint ventures assets and habilines
Non-current assets 1605 14 736
Current assets 11 985 4,596
13,580 24,732
Current habilimes . .
Non-current hlabilites {3,244) {2,040)
The Group’s share of net assets 10,346 22,692
Share of joint ventures’ revenue and expenses
Revenue -
Net operating expenses {63) [138)
Operabng loss (63} {138}
Financial Income 20 a8
Financial expenses {92) -
The Group's share of loss for the year (133) (90)
24. Other non-current assets
The Group
2010 2009
uss 000 USS 000
Deferred insurance premium for bank facilines 22,518 -
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment 15,837 3,793
Deferred loan arrangement fee 5,780 -
Cash advances to employees 415 380
44,550 4,173
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25. Inventories

The Group
2010 2008
Uss'000 Uss'000
Stores and spares 18,545 11,437
Work tn progress 4,896 1,596
Finished goods 3,630 -
27,121 13,033

No inventonies had been pledged as secunity  Durning the year ended 31 December 2009, work 1n progress was written down
10 ts net realisable value resulbing in a charge to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income or U5$239,000, whiie
there was no work in progress written down during year ended 31 December 2010

The cost of inventory charged to the consolidated income statement was as follows

2010 2009

Uss 000 USsSs 000

Cost of sales 10,233 239
Administranve expenses 474 46
Other net operating tncome 2,685 2,912

13,352 3,197
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26. Trade and other receivables

The Group
2010 2009
uss'000 Uss000
VAT recoverable 12,399 9,907
Advances o suppliers 8,871 3,979
Amounts due from customers under engineering contracts 1,511 698
Trade recenables 5,054 1,833
Other debtors 1,395 3,322
29,231 19739

Amounts due from customers under engireering contracts are expected to be billed and settled wrthin one year,
and relate to the long-term contracts in progress

Amounts included in trade receivables at 31 December 2010 related to both won ores sold and services
performed under engineering contracts and invoiced to those customers, while the amounts included in trade
recervables at 31 December 2009 only reiated to services performed under engineering contracts and invoiced to
those customers

The Group has concentration of credit nisk as 72 7% (31 December 2009 Nii) of the total trade recevables

was due from the Group’s largest customer during the year The Group has implemented policies that require
appropriate credit checks on potential customers before granting credit The Group has adopted a policy of

only dealing with creditworthy counterparties The Group’s exposure and credit ratings of its counterparties are
monitored oy management The maximum credit risk of such financial assets 1s represented by the carrying value

of the asset
In determiming recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of
the trade receivable from the date credit was iminally granted up to the reporung date and no impairment s

necessary for these balances which are not past due

Below 15 an aged analysis of the Group’s trade receivables based an invoice date

2010 2009

Uss'000 Uss’000

Less than ene month 4,039 1,002
One month to three months 462 180
Over three months 10 six moenths I 10 g
Over six months \ 543 642
Total ! 5,054 1,833
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The Group allows credit peniods ranging from 5 days to 45 days to indvidual third party customers

The Directors considered that the carrying value of trade and other receivables 1s approximately equal to therr
fair value

Below 15 an aged anatysis of trade recewables based on wwoice date which are past due but not impaired

2010 2009

Uss’000 uss’000

Less than one month . .
One to three months 4 .
QOver three months to six menths 3 9
Qver six months 543 546
Total 550 555

The Group has not provided for impairment loss on trade recewables which are past aue as there has not
been a significant change in the credit quality and amounts are shlf considered recoverable based on histoncal
experience

The following shows an analysts of movementsin the allowances for doubtful debts in respect of advances to
suppliers and trade receivables

2010 2009

uss'ooc LS$'000

At the beginning of year 3,718 -
Change 1n allowance for doubtful debts {a2) 3,589
Exchange adjustmenis {546) 129
At the end of year 3,130 3,718

includad in the allowance for doubtful debts were indwvidually impaired a2dvances to supphers and trade
recervables with an aggregate balance of U553,130,000 and US$3,718,000 as at 31 December 2010 and 2009,
respectively The amount represented full impairment for (i) a deposit paid in advance for construction of

apariments, which was considered not recoverable as the contractor has been declared bankrupt, and {n} a trade

debtor at Giproruda and 2 deposit paid for the acquisinon of a raiway locomotive which did not proceed as the
counter parties were in financial difficuites The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances

The Company
2010
USS 000

Other debtors 134

The Directors considered that the carrying value of other recewvables 1s approximately equal to thetr fair value
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27. Loans due from (to) related parties

The Group

The Group held the following balances due from (payable to) related partes at the end of the reporting period

Repayment terms Interest rate 2010 2008
Uss'000 USsS'G00
Leans due from related parties
Petropaviovsk PLC Repayable on 23 April 2010 - - 3,350
Petropaviovsk PLC Repayable from 6 May 2010 771% - 103,816
to 4 June 2010
Peter Hambro Mining Treasury
UK Limited, a fellow subsichary Repayable on demand London - 171,317
Inter Bank
Qffered Rate
plus 5 916%
Peter Hambro Mining Treasury Repayable from 1 July 2010 771% - 36,587
UK Limited, a fellow subsidiary to 30 November 2011
Peter Hambro Miming Group Repayable on § May 2010 7 50% - 40,006
Finance Limited,
a fellow subsidiary
EBT Repayable by 31 December 2010 - 20,308
- 375 384
Loans payable to a related party
Peter Hambro Mining Rouble
Treasury Limited,
a fellow subsidiary Repayable on 31 December 2011 771% - (264,158)

in 2010, loans issued to related partes amounted to U$$6,035,000 (2009 USS176,194,000} The loans due from related parnes

were fully settled before 31 December 2010

In 2010, loans advanced from related parties amounted to US594,370,000 (2009 USS38,544,000) As the loans payable were

transferred to Thorrouble Limited {"Thorrouble”) and Thordollar Limited {*Thordolar”) as part of the Restructuring, these
ntercampany loans were eliminazed on consolidation at 31 December 2010 (see note 2)

The maximum amount outstanding in respect of non-trade amounts due from related comparies during the year 15 set out as

follows

| 2010 2009
. UssS'000 us5'000

I

Loans due from related partes
Petropaviovsk PLC 107,166 107,166
Peter Hambro Mining Treasury UK Ltd, a fellow subsidiary 207 904 207,904
Peter Hambro Mising Group Finance Linited, a fellow

subsidiary 10,006 40,006
FRIT 20,308 20,308
375 384 375,384
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28. Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries/ultimate holding company

The Company

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand

29. Cash and cash egquivalents

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group and the Company comprised cash and short-term bank deposits with an
orginal maturity of three months or less and short-term highly-hquid investments in money market funds The
carrying amount of these assets approximates therr fair value

The Group
2010 2009
Uss’0o0 Uss'ooo
Bank accounts and deposits 225,463 17,352
Money market funds - 1,063
225,468 18,415

Investments in money market funds were held for the purposes of diversification of risk  As these funds are
avaitaole on cemang and nave insignificant 7isk of change in value they are classined as cash equivalents The
nepstmer s monev market funds and the meney market portfolio represent investments in ighly iquid funds
which mav be invested in secunines or foreign currencies, with greater rales of return than deposit accounts held
with banks Further disclosures required under HKFRS 7 Financiol instruments Disclosures are set out in note 40

The Company
2010
55000

Bank accounts and deposits 146,793
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30. Trade and other payables

The Group
2010 2009
Uss 000 uss'oea
Trade creditors 12 360 5,866
Advances from customers 1261 5,801
Insurance premium payable 24,218 .
Accruals and other payables 19,246 4770
57,085 16,437

For individual third party trade creditors, the average credit penod on purchases of goods and services for the year was 22
days (2009 26 days)

The Directors constder that the carrying amount of trade crediters and other payables approximates their far value

Below is an aged analysis of the Group’s trade creditors

2010 2009

Uss'000 Uss'000

Less than one month 9 202 3,154

One month to three months 1,711 789

Over three months to six months 1,418 135

Gver six months 29 1,788

Total 12,360 5,866
The Company

2010

Uss'000

Accruals and other payables 5951

The Drrectors consider that the carrying amount of accruals and other payables approximates their far value
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31. Deferred tax liabilities

The Group

The following are the major deferred tax habiihes recogrised by the Group and movements thereon during the year

Capitalised
exploraton
Property, and Qther
plant ang evaluanon temporary
equipment Inventory  expenditure differences Total
Uss 000 Uss 000 Uss'coo Uss 000 Uss'000
At 1 January 2008 {1,826} - (65) (531) (2,422)
Credit {charge) to the consehdated
income statement 452 (258} - 176 370
Exchange adjustments {148) 226 - 13 91
At 31 December 2005 and
1 Janvary 2010 {1,522) (32} (65) {342} (1,961)
Credit (charge) to the consolidated
income statement 44 140 - (268) (84}
Exchange adjustments 13 (2} . 10 21
At 31 December 2010 (1,465) 106 {65) {600) {2,024}

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group had unused tax losses of UUSS$117 4 mullion and US543 2 million
respectively, which pnmarly expire from 2011 to 2019 For the tax losses as at 31 December 2010 and 2009, no
deferred tax asset was recognised as there was not sufficient certainty that there will be sufncient taxable profht
agamnst which to offset these losses

The Group had not recognised deferred tax assets of US$40 4 million and US$58 5 million during each of the
years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 respectively in respect of temporary differences that arose on certain
capitalised development costs

The Group did not record a deferred tax hability in respect of withholding tax and other taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings associated with investments in 1ts subsidiaries as the Group 1s able to contral
the tming of the reversal of those temporary differences and did notintend to reverse them In the foresecable
future Unremitted earnings that would be subject to taxation comprised an aggregate of USS8 2 mullion at 31
December 2010 and USS6 S million at 31 December 2009 respectively

Temporary differences ansing in connechon with the Aricom Group’s interests 1n joint ventures are tnsignificant
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32. Provision for close down and restoration costs

The Group
2010 2009
Uss'000 Uss’000
At the beginning of vear 2,990 2,108
Unwinding of discount 549 191
Exchange adjustments (24} 66
Change in estimates 92 625
At the end of year 3,607 2,990

The long-term prowision recogrised relates to mune closure, site and enwvironmental restoration costs for Kuranzkn
{the titanomagnette and simenite mine located in the Amur region of Russia), based on estimates provided by
external consultants in 2007, which form part of the Techrucal Economic Modei for Kuranzkh The expected
uming of the cash outflows in respect of tne provision 1s on the closure of mining operanons expecled to be after
2020 The provision was recognised on a consistent basts with prior years

33. Share capital

(a) Share capital of the Company

The Company was incorporated on 4 June 2010 In Hong Kong, as a wholly owned subsidiary of Cayiron Limited,
which 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of Petropaviovsk PLC One share was allotted and issued as fully pad to
Cayiron Limited as the ininal subscriber, pursuant to the written resoluhions passed by the shareholders of the
Company on 14 June 2010, each of the then issued and un-issued shares with a norminal value of HK$1 00 each
was subdivided into 100 shares with a nomenal value of HKS0 01 each Accordingly, the authorised share capital
of the Company, comprising 1,000 shares with a nominal value of HKS1 00 each, was subdivided into 100,000
shares with a nominal value of HKS0 01

On 14 June 2010, the Company acquired Thorholdco Limited { ‘Thorhoidco™} from Cayiron Limited in
consideraton for US$260,015,001, sanished by the 1ssue of 700 shares at a price of approximately US$371,450 per
share

On 25 june 2010, the Company acquired Thorrouble and Thordollar from Cayiron Limited 1n consideration for
US5437,621,872 satished by the issue by the Company of a further 800 shares to Cayiron Limited at a price of
approximately US5547,027 per share

On 11 August 2010, 1,600 shares were 1ssued to Cayiron Limited pursuant to, and in connecthon with, intra-group
equity hnancing of the Group’s mining operations for subscription price of HK$20,089,268

On 19 August 2010 the Company resolved to allot and 1ssue an additional 1,600 ?hares to Caywron Limrted,
pursuant to the arrangements under the employee benefit trust for consxderanop of HK$334,141,390

1
On 26 August 2010, 360 shares were issued to the Pre-IPO Investors pursuant to ;the Pre-1PO Investiment
Agreement for cash in return for their combined equrty investment of USS60 million in the share capital of the
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Company {the “Subscription Shares”) The subscripnon price (“Subscription Price”) far the Subscripnon Shares
represented a negonated price and based on the agreed assessment of the value of the Group at the tme of

signing the Pre-IPO Investment Agreement

On 12 QOctober 2010, an aggregate of 2,321,994,840 shares were 1ssued to the shareholders for no consideration
pursuant to the captalisation 1ssue, with each shareholder receving 449,599 new shares for every share then

held

On 21 October 2010, the Company 1ssued 1,040,000,000 shares with a nomunal value of HKS0 01 each at HKS1 80

per share upon listing of the shares on the Stock Exchange

No of shares Uss’000

Authonsed

Ordinary shares of HKS1 Q0 each at date of incorporation 1,000

Subdivision of shares 99,000 -

Increase in authonsed share caprtal 9,999 900,000 12,820

Ordinary shares of HKS0 01 each at the end of the perrod 14,000,000,000 12,820
Allotted, called up and fully paid

At date of incorporation 1

Subdivision of shares 99 -

Issued during the pericd 1,040,005,0690 1,340

Capitahisanon of shares 2,321,994,840 2,990

At 31 December 2010 3,362,000,000 4,330

Details of the ordinary shares of the Company tn 1ssue at the date of Incorporation, ordinary shares of the
Company ssued during the period, and ordinary shares of the Company in1ssue at the end of the penod are

given in the table below

Date Descripnion Price HKS No of shares
4 June 2010 Issue of share capital on incorporation 100 1
14 June 2010 Subdivision of shares Authonsed share capital

1,000 ordinary shares divided into 100,000

ordinary shares of HKS0 01 each 99
14 June 2010 Issue of share capital 001 700
25 June 2010 Issue of share capital oM 800
11 August 2010 Issue of share capital 001 1,600
19 August 2010 Issue of share capital 001 1,600
26 August 2010 Issue of share capital 001 360
12 October 2010 Capitahisation 1ssue of shares 001 2,321,594,840
21 October 2010 Issue of share capital by way of public offer (Note) 001 1,040,000,000
31 December 2010 Number of ordinary shares on 1ssue at the end

of the period 001

3,362,000,000

Note The Company listed its shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Keng with effect from 21 October 2010 and
1issued new shares to the public through the iminal public offering
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{b) Restructure and combination accounting

As set out above, the Company was incorporated on 4 lune 2010 and since that time has undertaken a number of
transactions in order to put in piace the structure for the ishing of the Group on the Stock Exchange (collectively
referred as the “Restructuring”)

These transactons, and the impact on the consolidated financial statements are set out below

1 Thorholdco was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May 2010 as a wholly owned subsidiary of
Petropavlovsk PLC

2 Thorrouble and Thordeliar were incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May 2010, as wholly owned
subsidiaries of Petropaviovsk PLC

3 The Company was incorporated on 4 June 2010, as set out above
On 14 June 2010, Petropavlovsk PLC capitelised Thorholdco by contribuning 1o 1t & promissory note of
U355260,000,000 1n exchange for the ssue by Thorholdco to Petropaviovsk PLC of 15 further shares The
entire share capital of Thorholdco was then transferred to Cayiron Limited in exchange for the 1ssue and
allotment by Cayiron Limited of further shares to Petropaviovsk PLC

5 On 14 June 2010, the Company acquired Thorholdco from Cayiron Limited 1n consideraton for
U5$260,015,001, saashed by the 1ssue of 700 shares at a price of approxmat'eiy USS$371,450 per share,
resulting in share premium of US5260,015,000

& On 25 June 2010, Petropaviovsk PLC subseribed for 100,000 ordinary shares in Thorrouble in consideration for
the issue of prormissory notes of RURG,607,448,778 {equivalent of approximately U$$213,041,112)

7 On 25 June 2010, Petropavlovsk PLC subscribed for 3,000 ordinary shares in Thordollar in consideration for
the 1ssue of promissory notes of US5224,559,090

8 Following the completon of these transactions, Thorrouble and Thordollar were acquirad by the Company
on 25 June 2010 in exchange for the 1ssue or 800 shares to the value or US$437,621,872 which was the book
value of the two companies transferred, resulting in share premium of US$437,621,857 On the same day, the
Company transferred the entire 1ssued share capitat of Thorrouble and Thordolar to Thorholdco n exchange
for the 1ssue and allotment by Thorholdco to the Company of addihonal shares

9 On 25 June 2010, Thorrouble entered into a deed of assignment with Peter Hambro Mining Rouble Treasury
Limited ("PHM Rouble Treasury”), under which Thorrouble assigned the promussory note in paint 6 above
to PHM Rouble Treasury in consideration for the assignment to Thorrouble of the Rouble dencminated
receivables between PHM Rouble Treasury and the Ancom Group ,

10 On 25 June 2010, Thordollar entered into a deed of assignment with Aricom Treasury UK Limited and Artrcom
Roubles Treasury Limited, under which Thordollar assigned the promissory notes in point 7 above to Aricom
Treasury UK Limited and Aricom Roubles Treasury Limrted, respectvely, i consideration for the assignment
to Thordoilar of the US Dollar denominated receivables between Aricom Treasury UK Limited and Aricom
Roubles Treasury Limited and the Aricom Group

11 Following the completion of these transachons, the Company held mvestments 1n Thorholdco, which in turn
held investmenis in Thorrouble and Thordellar The Group had amounts outstanding from Patropavlovsk PLC
of US$260,000,000 which were settled by the transfer of Aricom to Thorholdco, on 5 August 2010 Thorrouble
and Thordollar held the Rouble and US Dollar denominated recevables from the Aricom Group

On 10 June 2010, Aricom disposed aof 1ts interest in Ancom Finance UK Limited and Aricam Treasury UK Limited
and its subsidianies to Petropaviovsk PLC and the consideration receivable remaimned outstanding agarnst
Petropaviovsk PLC's undertaking to pay to Ancom (“Consideration”) These companies have been deconsohidated
from this point in time, with the excess of the net assets of the companies disposed over the consideration
recewved of US$168,509,000 recognised in equity as deemed distribution  The deconsolidation would have
resulted in a signihicant Increase in the loans payable to related parhes Accordingly, Petropaviovsk PLC has
transferred these recevables from Aricom Group to Thordollar and Thorrouble as set out above As described

i note 33(c), these recelvables were transferred to Thordollar and Thorrouble for consideraton less that the
contractual amounts payable The difference of US$205,412,000 has been recogrused as a transfer of equity by
the owner
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The Consideration, combined with further advances provided to Ancom to fund tts continued operations,
increased the total amount owing by Petropaviovsk PLC to Aricom to approximately US$621,977,000 Cn 22
June 2010, Ancom declared a dvidend of US$644,437,000 of which US522,460,000 was paid in cash, with the
remaning amount offset against the total loan receivable amount outstanding from Petropaviovsk PLC

Accordingly, at 31 December 2010 the Group does not have any loans receivable from the Petropavlovsk PLC
Group

Acquisiton of Aricomn by the Compony

Following receipt of the necessary hussmn regulatory approvals on 23 july 2010, Thorholdeo Limited acquired
from Petropavlovsk PLC the entire issued share capital of Ancom, which 1s the indirect holding company of the
Group's mineral and ilmenite assets Accordingly, the U$5$260,000,000 promissory note due from Petropavlovsk
PLC recorded by the Group as detailed in point 11 above, whichis set up as a form of the group re-organisation
detalled above, was set off by the amount paid by Thorholdco to acquire Aricom of U55260,000,000 on 5 August
2010 and has been recognised in accumulated losses for the year ended 31 December 2010

{c) Share capital of Artcom

Aricom
Number ‘000 UsS'000
Authonsed
Ordwnary shares 20 000,000 -
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 2009 1182,864 2 265
Issued during the year - -
Subdivision of shares 10,645 774 -
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 11 828 638 2,265
Exercise of warrant 1,330,000 192
At 5 August 2010 13,158,638 2,457
Detalls of the ordinary shares of Aricom in 1ssue are given in the table below
Date Description Price GBP No of shares
1 January 2009 Number of ordinary shares onissue at the end of year 1,182,863 763
22 Aprit 2009 Subdivision of shares, scheme of arrangement for shares
and warranis became effective  Authornised share capital
2.000,000,000 ordinary shares divided into 20,000,000,000
ordinary shares of GBP 0 0001 each and 133,000,000
warrants doaded inio 1,330,000,000 warrants 10,645,773,867
22 Apnl 2609 Allotment of 2 shares to Petropaviovsk PLC 2
31 December 2009 Number of crdinary shares onssue at 31 December 2009 11,828,637,632
26 May 2010 Exercise of warrants granted 1o Petropaviovsk PLC 008 1,330,000 000

S August 2010 Mumber of ordinary shares on issue at the date of acquisinon
by Thorholdco 13,158,637,632
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The authonsed share capital of 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of Aricom was divided into 20,000,000,000 ordinary shares on
22 Apnil 2009 and the value of each share 15 changed from £0 001 to £0 0001 The authonsed share capital of Aricom was
increased by 18 000,000 000 ardinary shares

Aricom has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income  On 22 Apni 2009, the shareholders
of Aricom passed a resoluton to authorise the subdivision of each ordinary share into 10 shares resulting in the
issue of 10,645,773,867 new shares making a total of 11,828,637,630 shares in the thenissued share capital of
Aricom

Warrants in 1ssue

On 4 June 2007, Aricom ssued 133 million units each comprising three ordinary shares of Aricom and one
tradeable warrant Each warrant then conferred the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of Aricom at a
price of 80 pence (subject to adyustment) On acquisition of Anicom by Petropavlovsk PLC, these warrants were
acquired by Petropaviovsk PLCin exchange for the issue of warrants conferring the right to subscribe to ordmary
shares in Petropavlovsk PLC

At the time of the share split, the warrants were also split by ten, resultng in 1,330,000,000 warrants in issue at
31 December 2009 Each warrant conferred the rnight to subscribe for one ardinary share of Aricom at a price
of 8 pence (subject to adjustment) The imital recogmition and changes in the fair value of the habihity during
this peniod resulted 1n 2 loss of US51 7 million being recarded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

ncome

On 26 May 2010 Petropaviovsk PLC exercised all of these warrants in Aricom  As a result Aricom 1ssued
1,330,000,000 ordinary shares of £0 0001 for consideration of £0 08 per share which amounted to US$154 37
million, and was seltled via a premissory note 1ssued bty Petropavlovsk PLC This promissory note has since been
settlec by tha dividend declared by Arnicom (see note 16 for details)

Issue of Opnions

On 4 June 2007, Aricom completed a private placement with the IFC which included the 1ssue of an option to
subscribe for 17,076,372 ardinary shares at an exercise price of 74 pence per share (subject to adjustment} The
option was due to expire on 4 June 2015 Under the terms of the option agreement the expiry date may be
modthed I

{a) any oaime after the gross revenue from operations of the Group exceeds USS40 muliion and the volume
weighted average closing price exceeds 160% of the exercise price, or
(b} two years after the gross revenue from operanons of the Group exceeds US$40 millton and the volume

weighted average closing price exceeds 130% of the exercise price

On acquisinon of Aricom by Petropavlovsk PLC, this was replaced with an option to allow the IFC to subscribe for
ordinary shares in Petropavlovsk PLC  Accordingly at 31 December 2009 and 2010, this option was no longer
In existence
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Transfer to an equity holder

Prior to the acquisttion of Aricom by Petropaviovsk PLC in April 2009, two of Aricom’s subsidianias, Aricom
Treasury UK Limited and Ancom Roubles Treasury Limited provided inter-company funding to other Aricom
compames Following the acquisition or Aricom by Petropaviovsk PLC in April 2009, the Group's inter-company
receivables balances held by Aricom Treasury UK imited and Aricom Roubles Treasury Limited were transferred
to Peter Hambro Mining Treasury UK Limited, a subsidiary of Petropavlovsk PLC, and subsequent funding te
Aricom was provided by Peter Hambro Mining Treasury UK Limited  In exchange for the recewvables transferred
of US$211 9 mulhon, Aricom received a promissory note with fair value of USS165 3 mullion from Peter Hambro
Mining Treasury UK hmited The difference of USS$46 6 million had been treated as an equity transfer from

the Aricom Group to Petropavlovsk PLC in Apnl 2009 During the year ended 31 December 2010 all amounts
owing to Petropavlovsk PLC by the Aricom Group {including the amounts above) were transferred from Peter
Hambro Mirung Treasury UK Limited to the Company’s subsidiaries, Thorrouble Limited and Thordollar Limited,
for consideration of US$437 9 million  The difference between this amount paid, and the carrying amount of
the loans of US$643 3 million has been treated as a contributen to the Aricom Group by Petropaviovsk PLC of
Us$$205 4 million

The amount of share capital of US$2,265,000 shawn on consohdated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2009 represented the 1ssued capitai of Ancom, which became a subsidiary of the Company during the

year

34. Treasury shares

The Group
2010 2009
Uss'000 US$°000
Balance at the beginning of the year - 24,801
Acquired in the year 43,000 -
Transfer of Aricom shares - {24,801)
dalance at the end of the year 43,000 -

In 2009, treasury shares represented ordinary shares held by the Aricom’s EBT to provide benefits to employees
under the Long-term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”) On acquisition of Aricom by Petropavlovsk PLC, Aricom shares
previously held by the EBT were exchanged for shares in Petropaviovsk PLC {see note 38}

tn 2010, treasury shares represented ordinary shares held by the Company’s EBT to provide benefits to
employees under the LTIP During the year ended 31 December 2010, 116,100,000 shares were acquired and

held under the EBT




1 20 IRC Annual Report 2010

35. Accumulated losses

The Company

2010
Uss000
As at 2 June 2010, date of incorporation _
Loss for the penod 16,294
As at 31 December 2010 16 294
36. Notes to the cash flow statements
(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used 1n operations
2010 2009
Uss’000 Uss$’000
Loss before taxation (78,353) {138,500)
Adjustments for
Deprecianion of property, plant and equipment 4,925 2,267
Financial income (10,928) {15,145)
Financial expense 11,813 10,337
Loss on disposa! of property, plant and equipment 920 230
Inventory written off - 239
Impairment charges 35,972 97,371
Share based payments and LTIP expense {defined i note 38} 1,334 1,892
Share of results of joint ventures 13% a0
Net foreign cxchange (gain) loss (2,074) 6,224
Net change in fair value of iinancial instrurments at FVTPL (1,711} 1,711
{Reversal of allowance) allowance far doubtful debts (42) 3,589
QOther non-cash adjustments 8,206 6,908
Operanng cash flows before movements in working capital (29,804} {22,787)
{Increase) decrease In Inventories (15 009) 294
Increase in trade and cther receivables {13,348) (4,571)
Increase in trade and other payables 9,050 970
Cash used in operations (49,111) (26,094}
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{b} Major non-cash transactions

Following the acquisitien of Aricom by Petropaviovsk PLC, the inter-company recevable balances within Aricom
Treasury UK Limited and Arnicomn Roubles Treasury Limited were transferred to Peter Hambro Mining Treasury UK
imited, a subsidiary of Petropavlovsk PLC, and subsequent funding to Ancom nad been provided by this entity
In exchange for the recevables transferred of US$211 9 mullion Aricom recerved a prormissory nete of US5165 3
mullion from Peter Hambro Mirning Treasury UK Limited  The difference of US$46 6 mullion was treated as an
equity transfer from the Aricom Group to Petropaviovsk PLC {see note 33(c} for further detalls)

On 25 June 2010, Thorrouble entered into a deed of assignment with PHM Rouble Treasury, under which
Thorrouble assigned the promissory note receivable from the Petropavlovsk Group to PHM Rouble Treasury in
consideration for the assignment to Thorrouble of the Rouble denominated receivables between PHM Rouble
Treasury and the Ancom Group

On 25 June 2010, Thordollar entered into 2 deed of assignment with Anicom Treasury UK Limited and Aricorm
Roubles Treasury UK Limited, under which Thordollar assigned the promissory note recevable from the
Petropavlovsk Group to Aricom Treasury UK Limuted and Anicom Roubles Treasury Limited in consideration for
the assignment to Thordollar of the US Dollar denominated receivables between Aricom Treasury UK Limited and
Artcom Roubles Treasury UK Lirmited and the Aricom Group

In 2009, there were certain administrabive expenses of the Aricom Group of US$6 9 milhion borne by the uitmate
holding company, which were recorded in capital reserve as a deemed capital contributnion These expenses are
included in note 36(a) and treated as other non-cash adjustments

During the year ended 31 December 2010, US56 9 million of administrabive expenses and US$3 1 muthon of UK
1an expenses were barne by the ultimate holding company and recorded 1n capital reserve as a deemed capital
contribution These expenses are included in note 36(a) and treated as other non-cash adjustments

On 22 June 2010, Aricom declared a dividend of US5644,437,000 of which U5$22,460,000 was paid in cash, with
the remaining amount cffset aganst the total lean recervable amount outstanding from Petropavlovsk PLC {see
note 16)

During the year ended 31 December 2010, Aricom disposed of a number of its subsidiaries to the Petropavlovsk
PLC Group Consideration was settled via theissue of a promissory note (see note 33(b)}

During the year ended 31 December 2010, a restructuring was undertaken in arder to put the proposed listing
structure in place These transachons did not involve cash consideration as they were settled via promissory
notes {see note 33(b)}

In relation to the bank faclines (see note 41), the Group 1s required to pay Insurance premium of US$22 5 million
as part of the facility agreement, which 1s outstanding as at 31 December 2010
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37. Contingent liabilities

The Group s involved in legal proceedings with Gatnom Capital & Finance bimsted and O M Investments &
Finance Limtted, who are the non-controlling shareholders in Lapwing, the Group’s 99 58% owned subsidiary
inceoratee in Cypius This subsidiary of IRC holds ¢ 100% interest in LLC Ganinsky Mining & Metallurgical
Complex [ GMMC”) The claim was tiled in Septemnbper 2008 in Cyprus and the respandents are Lapwing and
Aricom UK Limited  The clarmants allege their holdings in Lapwing were improperly diduted as the result of

the issuance of addimional shares following a shareholders’ meenng held in September 2007 The claimants
have asked the court to dissolve Lapwing or, alternatively, to order that their shares be purchased at a price
allegedly previously agreed upon o to be determined by an expert appointed by the court On 20 January 2010,
the claimanis withdrew their composite claim and re-fled individueal claims in substantally similar form The
maximum potential hability ansing from the claim cannot currently be reliably estimated although the Directors
believe that the claim 1s of a imited ment

38. Share-based payments

{a) Aricom PLC Share Option Scheme

Up until 22 Aprd 2009, Anicom operated its own equity-settled share option scheme for the directors of Aricom
These options over ordinary shares were issued in accordance with the Aricom PLC share option scheme [“Aricom
share option scheme”) Ophtions granted under the Ancom share option scheme were not subject to performance
critena  Optons were narmally forfeited if the employee left the Aricom Group

As part of the acquisibon of Ancem on 22 Apri) 2009 by Petropavlovsk PLC, the cutstanding options granted
under the Aricom share ophion scheme to the directors of Aricom were exchanged for options over ordinary
shares of Petropavlovsk PLC, exercisable between 19 July 2009 untl 15 July 2012  Following the acquisibon, no
further optians were granted under the Aricom share option scheme

Details of the Aricom plc share options outstanding are as follows

At 31 December 2009 :

Qutstanding Qutstanding

Exerase at Ganted  Forfated  Exerased at

price 1 January dunng 22 Apnl during 31 December

Date of grant Date exerasable £ 2003 the year 2009 the year 2009
19/07/2006 Exchange of exishng
share ophons for share
oplions in

Petropaviovsk PLC 042 3,700,000 - (3,700,000) - -

The Group recognised total expenses of nil and US5153,000 for each of the years ended 31 December 2010 and
2009 respectively 1elabng to the equity settled Aricom Share Option Scheme The information above has not
been represented for the subdwision of Articom shares as descnbed in note 33
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Petropaviovsk PLC share option scheme
|

As part of the acquisition of Ancl:mn on 22 April 2009 by Petropaviovsk PLC, the outstanding options granted
under the Aricom share option scheme (described above) to its directors were exchanged for options over
ordinary shares of Petropaviovsk PLC under the Petropaviovsk PLC share option scheme, exercisable between 19
July 2009 and 19 July 2012

At 31 December 2010

Outstanding Outstanding
Exerase at Granted Forfeited  Exercised at
prce  1Jjanuary during during dunng 31 Decermrber
Date of grant Date exeraisable £ 2010 the year the year the year 2010
2242009 From19 july 2009
to 19 fuly 2012 672 75,000 - - {25,000) 50,000
At 31 December 2009
Cutstancing Outstanding
Exerase at Grantedon  Forfated  Exerased at
prnce  1lanuary 22 Apnl during dunng 31 Decernber
Date of grant Date exerasable £ 2008 2008 the year the year 2009
|
2242000 Aricom share awargs
exchanged for the share
awards of Petropaviovsk PLC 672 - 231,250 - {156,250) 75,000

The weighted average exercise prices of the outstanding Petropaviovsk PLC share options at 31 December 2010
and 2009 was £6 72 and £6 72 respectively The weighted average remaining contractual hife of the cptions
cutstanding at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 was 1 5 years and 2 5 years respectively {exercisable
untd 19 July 2012}

The inputs into the Black-Scholes options pricing model were as follows
Options granted

22 Apnl 2009
Weighted average share price (£} 520
Weighted average exercise price (£) 672
Expected volatiity (%) 102 14
Expected life in years 024
Risk-free rate (%) 086
Expected dividends (£) 000
Fair Value per option (£} 057

The Group recognised total expenses of mil for the year (2009 US542,000) relanng to the equity settled
Petropaviovsk PLC share option scneme




124

IRC Annual Report 2010

(b) Aricom Group long-term incentive plan

In 2007, the Aricom Group estabhshed a cash settled LTIP 10 operate in conjunction with an EBT which held
shares in Aricom for the benefit of employees (the “parncipants®)

On acquisihon of Aricom by Petropavlovsk PLC, the Aricom LTIP was replaced with an equity settled scheme with
awards over Petropaviovsk PLC's shares (“Replacement LTIP”) As a result, 29,000,000 ordinary shares of Aricom
ple held by the EBT were exchanged into 1,812,500 ordinary shares of Petropaviovsk PLC, out of which 430,768
shares were allocated to the existing participants of the Aricom LTIP The Replacerment LTIP award had a sole
performance condition being continued employment with Petropaviovsk PLC untit 6 February 2010 or a good
leaver status

The fair value of awards 1ssued under the long-term mncentive plans was deterrmined using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model using the assumptions detailed in the table below

As at

31 December 2009
Replacement LTIP
Awards tssued

at Apnl 2009 :

|
Weighted average share price {f) 520
Weighted average exercise price (£) 000
Expected volatlity (%) 119 86
Expected hife in years 081
Risk-free rate (%) 087
Expected dividends (£) 000
Fair value per award (£} 520

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group recorded an expense of US5221,000 (2009 US$2,021,000) n
respect of the Replacement LTIP The information above has not been represented for the subdwvision of Aricom
shares as described in note 33

The treasury shares of Aricom previcusly held by the EBT are now he!d by Petropaviovsk PLC (see note 34) The
original loans made by Ancom Services Lirmted 10 the EBT remain cutstanding at the ome of the Replacement
and accordingly had been inctuded in amounts due from related parties

{c) Petropavlovsk PLC Long-term Incentive Plan (the “Petropaviovsk PLC LTIP”}
Petropavlovsk PLC established the Petropavlovsk PLC LTIP which was approved by, 1ts shareholders on 25 june
2009 Certain employees of the Group are entitled to participate in the Petropavlovsk PLC LTIP which includes the

following awards

* Share option awards, being a right to acquire a specihed number of Petropaviovsk PLC ordinary shares at a
specified exercise price,
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* Periormance share awards, being a right to acquire a specified amount of Petropaviovsk PLC ordinary shares
at nil cost, and

+ Deferred Bonus Awards

Performance share awards and share option awards vest or become exercisable subject to the following
provisioens

* 50% of the shares subject to the awards may be acquired based on a condition relating to total shareholder
return (the “TSR Condition”), and

+ 50% of the shares subject to the awards may be acquired based on specific conditions relating to
Petropavlovsk PLC's business developrent and strategic plans (the “Operating Conditions”)

The TSR Condinon relates to growth 1n TSR over a three year period refative to the TSR growth of companiesin a
peer group of hsted international mining companies selected upon establishment of the Petropaviovsk PLC LTIP
{the “Comparator Group”) over the same period

The TSR Condition provides for the awards to vest or become exercisable as follows

% of the award vesting

within top decile 50%
At median 25%
Below median -

The detalled requirements to the Operating Condinons are determined by the Petropavliovsk PLC Remunerabon
Comnutiee and are measured over a three year period from the date of grant

tnitial performance share awards under the Petropaviovsk LTIP were granted on 25 June 2009 with 41,666 shares
allocated to members of the senior management of the Ancom Group, for which Petropaviovsk PLC 1s assuming
the obligabon to 1ssue the remaining shares upen vesting of the LTIP

The fair value of performance share awards was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at

the date of the grant in relation to the proporton of the awards vesting based on the operating perfermance
conditions and using the Monte Carle model in relation to the proportion of the awards vesting based on the TSR
Condition The relevant assumptions are set out below

Petropaviovsk PLC LTIP
performance share awards

vesting based on vesting based on

Operating Conditions TSR Condition

Number of performance share awards granted 20,833 20,833
Share price at the date of grant {£) & 00 & 00
Exercise price (£) - B
Expected volatihity (%) 7258 7298
Expected hife in years 3 3
Risk-free rate (%) 213 213
Expected dividends yield {%) 125 125

Expected annual forfertures - B
Fair value per award {£} 4 083 5778
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The Group recognised total expenses of US$239,000 relating to the Petropavlovsk PLC LTIP, based on an aliocation
of the total performance share awards granted for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009 US$233,000}

Under the Company's LTIP, which was established on 11 August 2010, selected employees and Directors of

the Group (the “Selecied Grantees”} are to be awarded shares of the Company which have been purchased by
Group's trustee  Upon management’s recommendation, the number of shares awarded to the Selected Grantees
shall be determined, with the vesting dates for vanous tranches, by the Board Any Company LTiP awarded

to a Selected Grantee who s a Director of the Company shall be subject to the Board’s approval following a
recommendation from the Remuneration Committee of the Board

The scheme has a 3-year vesting peniod and is subject to the following vesting conditions

25% of the award vesting is relating to the achievement of certain production targets,

« 25% of the award vesting 1s relating to profitablity,

25% of the award vesting 1s relating to the growth and development of the Group, and
»  25% of the award vesting 15 relatnng to the meeong of certain heaith, safety and environmental requirements

(n 3 Novernber 7010, 91 1 mulhon shares of the Company were awarded to Selected Grantees under the
Company’s LTIP The fair value of the services rendered as consideration of the awarded shares was measured
by reference to the fair value of the awarded shares at the award dates of US519 2 million (determined basad
on the closing share price of the Company as of 3 November 2010 of HKS1 64 per share) which is recognised
to the consolidated income statement over the vesting period The amount expensed during the year was
U5%1,029,000

39. Retirement benefit schemes

’

The Group does not operate any retirement benefit schemes, instead making defined contrtbutions to employees
personal pension schemes

The Group parhicipates in various defined contribution penston plans for all of its employees in the UK Under
the rutes schemes, only Aricom participated in the scheme at the rate defined by Aricom for alt its employees
The only obligation of Aricom with respect to the employees’ personal pension scheme was to make required
contribubons based on the gross wages of the employees The renrement beneht scheme contributions charged
to the consolidated mncome statement of USS58,000 for the year (2009 USS$69,000}

Each employee of Arricom chose their own pension plan There were approximately eight different pension plans
where the Company made contnibutons One of these plans was an offshore saving account, all the others were
UK pension plan providers

Arcom contributed in the range between 10% and 17% of the gross wages to the indiwvidual pension plans

In addition, the Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”) for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong The assets of the plans are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
trustegs The contrbutons charged to the consolidated income statement amounted to U5$34,000 and 2009
was nil t

v
i
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40. Financial instruments
Copital and hquidity risk mancgement
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are Lo safeguard the Group's ability to continue as 3 goIng concern in

order to provide returns for snareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 1o aptimise the weighted average
cost of capital and tax efficiency subject to maintaining sufficient inancral flexibility to undertake 1ts investment plans

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, loans due from/to related parhes and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued capital and reserves

Externally impased capital requirement

The Group 15 not subject to externally imposed capital requirements except for the restrichon disclosed in
note 41 in relaton to the bank credit facilites

Stigruficant accounting policies

Details of significant accountbing policies and methods adopted, including the critena for recognition, the basis
of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recogrused, in respect of each class of asset,
financiaf hability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated finanaal statements

Categones of qngncial instruments

The Group
Carrying value as

at 31 December

2010 2009
ussono Uss’000

Finanaal assets
Loans and recevables (including cash and cash equivalents) 242,716 407,400

Finanaal hrabnhties

Amortised cost (38,858) {274,794)
FVTPL - {1,711)
{38,858) {276,505}

The Company
Carrying
value as at
31 December 2010
Uss 060

Financal assets
Loans and recewables {including cash and cash equivalents) 146,804

Financia!l habilihes
Amortised cost {1,657)
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Fingncial nisk managerment objectives

The Group s actvines expose 1t to interest rate risk, fareign currency nisk, nsk of change in the ron ore concentrate price
and the iimenite concentrate price, credit nsk liquidity nsk and equity price risk  The Group's overall nsk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of Ainancial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's hinanctal performance

Risk management 15 carned out by a central inance department and all key nsk management decisions are approved by the
Board of Directors  The Group identhies and evaluates financial nsks in close cooperation with the Group s operating units
Up untl the date 1t was acquured by Petropaviovsk PLC Ancom operated within the Aricom’s 8card’s wiitten principles for
overall risk management which are equally apphcable for the Group as well as guidance covering speafic areas such as
foreign exchange nsk, commaodity price nisk, interest rate risk and investment of excess hquidity

Foreign currency nisk monogement
The Group undertakes certam transactions denominated n foreign currencias, principally Pounds sterling, US Dollars and
Russian Roubles and 1s therefore exposed to exchange rate risk associated with fluctuations in the relative vaiues of US Dollars,

Pounds Sterling and Russian Roubles

Exchange rate risks are mitigated to the extent considered necessary by the Board of Directors, through holding the relevant
currencies At present, the Group does not undertake any foreign currency transaction hedging

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary habilities of the Group and the
Company at the reporting date are as follows

The Group
Assets Liabdlines
2010 2009 2010 2009
uUss’'000 Uss'000 Us5"000 Uss 000
Russian Roubles 86,658 17,518 39,193 329,946
US Dollars 2652 3,144 9 -
Pounds sterhng 13 4,354 296 2,614
Kazakh Tenge 539 461 -
Furos 7 8 - -
Hong Kong Dollars 325 - 61 -
The Company

Assats Liabilines
201C 2010
' Uss'aoo USS 000
Hong Kong Dollars ' 276 56
Pounds sterling - 333
Euros 11 -

Foreign currency sensitivity anolysis

i
The Group and the Company 1s mainly exposed to exchange rate movements between US Dollars, Russian Roubles and Pounds
Sterling  The follawing table detads sensinvity of the Group and the Campany ta a 25% change in exchange rates of funcuonal
currencies of the Group’s compantes and of the Company against the relevant foreign currencies for the year (2009 25%)
The percentage change analysed represents management's assessment of a reasonably possible change n foreign currency
rates

A posive number below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where the functionat currencies of the Group's companies and
of the Company strengthen 25% {2009 25%} against the relevant foreign currencies  For a 25% {2009 25%) weakening of
funcnonal currencies the Group's companies and of the Company against the relevant foreign currencies, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the loss and the balances below would be negative
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The Group
U$ Dollars Russtan Roubles Pounds sterling
currency impact currency impact currency impact
2010 2008 2010 2009 2010 2008
Uss'000 Uss'000 Uss’ 000 USs'000 Uss'coo UsS$'000
Profit or loss (529) {629) (9,493) 50,941 57 (252)

The Company
Pounds sterling
currency impact
2010
Uss$000

Profit or loss 17

The Group’s policy 1s to hold a portion of its cash equivalents in Russian Roubles to cover 1Lts exposure ansing on
capital and operational expenditure incurred tn Russian Roubles

Commodity price risk

The Group intends to generate most of i1ts revenue from the sale of btanomagnente concentrate, magnetite
concentrate and fimenite concentrate The Group’s policy 15 to sell its products at the prevailing market price
The Group does not hedge 1ts exposure to the nisk of fluctuations i the price of its products The forward
commodity prices are a key input in assessing the recoverability of mining assets capitalised on the consolidated
statement of financial pesiton

The Company does not expose to commodity price risk since the Company’s principal activity I1s investment
holding

Interest rate nsk management

The Group and the Company are exposed to interest rate risk through the holding of cash and cash equivalents,
including monies invested into money market funds The interest rates attached to these instruments are at
floating rates The Group and the Company also hold amounts on deposit with fixed rates of interest attached
The mux between hixed and floating rate finanaal assets limats the Group’s interest rate risk  The exposures to
interest rates on these financial assets of the Group and the Company are detalled below

Interest rate sensiivity

The sensiovity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for the average
palance of interest beanng finanoal asset investments held during the year An increase/decrease of 1% in
interest rates has been applied when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates
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The Group

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s resuit for the
year would decrease/increase by approximately USS$1,151,000 {2009 decrease/increase by Us51,843,000)

The Company

if interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other recevables were held constant, the Group's result for the
period would decrease/increase by U551,485,000

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the nisk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 1n iinancial
loss to the Group and the Company The Group and the Company have adopted a policy of only dealing

with creditworthy counterparties The Group’s and the Company’s exposure and the credit ratings of the
counterparties are monitored by the Board of Directors of the Company, and imuts have been estabiished to
ensure that the aggregate value of transactions 1s spread amongst approved counterparnes

The principal financial assets of the Group and the Company are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and
loans due from related parties Cash equivalents represent investments in money market funds and amounts
held on deposit with financial insttutons

The credit risk on hiquid funds held in current accounts and avallable on demand 1s hmited because the
counterparties are primarily banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies

The credit nsk on money market funds s imited because the counterparbes are investment funds with

high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies These investment funds are managed in
accordance with approved investment criteria, requiring that investments have certain credit ratings and imiting
the concentration of Investment in any one security

For operational reasons the Group holds amounts on deposit with banks located in Russia, one of which 1s a
related party, as detailed 1n note 42 Amounts heid on deposit as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 with these
banks were U5521,138,000 and U556,156,000 maturing in 2010, representing 8% and 1 5% of total monetary
assets held by the Group respectively

The table below detals major counterparties at the end of reporting period, the associated credit ratings of
the counterparty and cetails the mvestment gutdelines where appropriate  These, excluding related parbes,
represent 73% of total monetary assets held by the Group at 31 December 2010 {2009 40%) The tabile below
excludes any cash balances held on current accounts, as 1t 1s considered that these would not materially impact
counterparty nsk assessment
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Rating as at Carrying value Carrying value
31 December 33 December 31 December
Type of financial asset Counterparty Currency 2010 2010 2008
Uss'000 Us$'000
Cash equivalent Unicredit Bank Uss BBB- - 8,767
Cash equivalent UBS uss ADA- 42,655 238
Cash equivalent QJSC VTB Bank Uss Baal 2,500 2,400
Cash equivalent QJSC VTB Bank Roubles Baal 1,641 1846
Cash equivalent Royal Bank of Scotland uss A- 143,850 1,087
{“RBS") Asset
Management-Global
Treasury Fund USS™
Cash equivaient Barclays Bank LLC Roubles Bal 4,378 1,912
- deposit accounts
Cash equivalent Asyan-Pacific Bank Roubtles B- 12,619 -
- deposits accounts
Total 207,643 16,250

B The mimmum investment criteria for these funds reguire that investments have a mimmum rating of A-1 {S&P) or Prime-1
{Moody’s) A mimimum of 50% of the portfohe 15 invested in securities rated A 1+ by S&P The investment managers are
permitted to invest an fixed rate securities with maturines up to 387 days, and floating rate notes with maturines up (e two
years However, the weighted average matunity of the fund must be kept below 60 days

Trade receivables consist mostly of amounts outstanding under engineering contracts held by a subsidiary in
Russia A credit evaluabon was performed on these customers prior to the commencement of these cantracts
An analysis of balances past due at 31 December 2010 15 inciuded 1n note 26

The Group was exposed to concentration of credit nsk in relabion to the loans due from related parties as at 31
December 2009 In order to mimimise the credit nsk, management continuously moniters the level of exposure
to ensure that corrective achions are taken as appropriate As at 31 December 2010, the ioans due from related
parties were fully settled

The Group's and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking account of the value of any
collateral obtained, 15 imited to the carrying amount of inanoial assets recorded in the consoitdated statements
of financial position and statement of finanaal posihon respectively

Ligurdity risk management

Ulttmate responsibility for iquidity risk management rests with management At 31 December 2010, the

Group’s and the Company’s principal financial habilines were trade and otner payables The management of

the Company monitors the level of liquid assets avarable to the Group and the level of funding required to meet
s short, medium and long-term requirements The following table details the Group's and the Company’s
remaming contractual maturity for s non-denvatve financiat kabiimes The table has been drawn up based

on the undiscounted cash flows of financial labilines based on the earliest date on which the Group and the
Company can be required to pay The maturnity dates for other non-derwvative inancial labibites are based on the
agreed repayment dates

The table includes principal cash flows To the extent that interest fiows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount Is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporong perrod
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The Group
Due on Cue within Due within Due after
demand or one to two 10 more than
within one year two years five years five years Total
Uss 000 Uss'000 Uss'000 Uss'000 Uss’000
As at 31 December 2010
Trade and other payables 38,858 - - - 38,358
As at 31 December 2009
Trade and other payables 10,636 - - - 10,636
toans due to a related party - 264,158 - - 264,158
Expected future interest paymentst - 54,034 - - 54,034
10,636 318,192 - . - 328,828

ot Expected future interest payments are based on contractual interess payments at 31 December 2009 Loans due to
related parhes and their associated interest payments were settled as part of the Restructuring see note 33(b)

The Company

Due on Due withun Due within Due after
demand or one (o two to more than
within one year two years five years five years Total
LSS’ 000 Uss'000 Uss'cod Uss'000 USs 000
As at 31 December 2010
QOther payables 1,411 - - - 1,411
Amount due to uttimate
holding company 246 - - - 246
1,657 - - - 1,657

Other price risks

As at 31 Decemnber 2009 the Group was exposed to equity price risk in refation to the warrants in1ssue  Changes
in the equity price of Aricom would affect the fair value of warrants recognised in the combined income
statement This was not considered a significant financial nsk, and was not actively managed by the Group The
warrants were exercised on 26 May 2010, and the risk was therefore extinguwished

The Company was not exposed 1o any other price risks as at 31 December 2010
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Fair value measurements recogrised in the consolidated statements of financial position

The rollowing table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subpsequent to mimal
recognitian at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value 15 observable

* Level 1 -fair value measurements are those denved from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or habilines,

« Level 2 - farr value measurements are those dertved from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or hability, either directly {1 e as prices) or indirectly {1 e derived
from prices}, and

« Level 3 - far value measurements are those derived from valuation techmigues that include inputs for the
asset or hability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

2010 2009

ussooo Ussoco

Financial assets at FVTPL at Level 1 - -
Financial habilities at FVTPL at Level 3 - {1,711)

There were no Ainancial instruments measured at far value at Level 2 as at 31 December 2010 The below table s

a reconcibation of Level 3 fair value measurements

2010 2009

Uss'000 Uss’000

At the beginning of the year {1,731} -
Total gains (Josses) recognised 1,711 {1,711}
At the end of the year - (1,711)

The total losses recogrised in proht or loss of US$1,711,000 related to the change in fair value of warrants held
at 31 December 2009 {see note 33{c)) These warrants were exercised in May 2010, accordingly the habihity was
extinguished with a gain recogrised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive ncome
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41. Bank facilities

On 6 December 2010, the Group announced that LLC KS GOK, a subsichary of the Company, had entered into
the HKS3 11 billion (equivalent to US$400 million) Engineering Procuremeant and Construchon Contract with the
China Natonal Electric Engineening Corporation for the construchon of the Group’s mining operations at K&S$

On 13 December 2010, the Group entered into a project finance facility agreement with the Industrnial and
Commaercial Bank of China Limited (“ICBC") {the “ICBC Facility Agreement”) pursuant to which ICBC will lend
US$340,000,000 (equivalent to HKS2 64 billion) to KS, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to be used to
fund the construction of the Group’s mining operations at K&S in time for the start of major construchion works
inearly 2011 Interest under the facility will be charged at 2 80% above London Interbank Offering rate (“LIBOR")
per annum The facility 1s repayable over a period of 11 years

Petropaviovsk PLC has agreed to guarantee the Group’s ebligations under the ICBC Facihity Agreement
Petropavlovsk PLC, the Company and KS have entered into an agreement sething out the terms on which
Petropaviovsk PLCis prepared to give the guarantee (“Recourse Agreement”} No fee will be payable by the
Company in respect of the provision of the guarantee by Petropaviovsk PLC while Petropavlovsk PLC remains
the parent company of the Company In the event that Petropaviovsk PLC ceases to be the parent company of
the Company, a fee established on nermal commercial terms will be payable by the Company to Petropaviovsk
PLC in respect of the guarantee No secunty will be granted by the Group to Petropaviovsk PLC in respect of
the guarantee Pursuant to the Recourse Agreement, Petropavlovsk PLC will have the right to inject funds into
the Group by shareholder loan {on normal commercial terms at the tme) in order to enable the Group to make
payments under the ICBC Facllity Agreement or for other working capital purposes The Recourse Agreement
also contains reporting obligations and customary covenants from the Group which require Petropavlovsk PLC's
consent as guarantor (acting reasonably and taking into account the effect upon the Group’s ability to fulfill its
obhgations under the ICBC Facility Agreement) for certain actions including the 1ssuance, acquisition or disposal

of secunities, and entry Iintc joint ventures

As at 31 December 2010, Petropavlovsk PLC beneficially owns approximately 65 61% of the issued share caprtal
of the Company Under the ICBC Facility Agreement, each of the following will constitute a covenant and non-
compliance with any covenant will constitute an event of default upon which the ICBC Faality Agreement will
become immed:ately due and payable {1} Petropaviovsk PLC must retain a not less than 30% direct or indirect
interest in the Company, (1) Petropavlovsk has an obligation to maintain a minimum tangible net worth of not
less than US$750,000,000, a minimum interest cover ratio of 3 5 1 and a maximum leverage ratio of 4 1, and (m)
there are also certain limuted restrictions on Petropaviovsk PLC's ability to grant security over 1ts assets, make
disposals of 1ts assets, or enter into merger transacbons

As at 31 December 2010, the Group did not utilise any of the bank factlities described above
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42. Related party disclosures

Transactions between the Company and s subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on
consolidathon and are not disciosed in this note Transactions between the Group and 1ts other related parties are
disclosed below All of the transactions were reviewed by independent members of the Board

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parnes

Related parties

Petropaviovsk PLC, the ulimate holding company for the pertod from 22 April 2009 to 31 December 2010 and

its subsidiaries and Joint ventures are considered to be refated partes due to Mr Peter Hambro, Mr George Jay
Hambro and Dr Pavel Maslovskiy's sharehotdings and directorshups in those companies and in Petropavliovsk PLC
prior to 22 April 2009 and the Cempany becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Petropaviovsk PLC on 22 April
2009 As at 31 December 2010, Mr Peter Hambro, Mr George Jay Hambro and Dr Pavel Maslovskiy held 5 66%,
nil and 8 98% respectively of ownership interest in Petropaviovsk PLC  During the year, Mr Peter Hambro, Mr
George tay Hambro and Dr Pavel Maslovskiy held cwnership interest in Petropaviovsk PLCranging from 5 66% to
5 84%, from nil to 0 0044% and from 8 98% to 9 26% respectively

Asian-Pacific Bank is considered to be a related party as Mr Peter Hambro and Dr Pavel Maslovskiy have an
interest In these companies, throughout the years As at 31 December 2010, each of Mr Peter Hambro and Dr
Pavel Maslovskiy indirectly held 16 56% of ownership interest in Asian-Pacific Bank  During the years, Mr Peter
Hambro and Dr Pavel Maslovskiy ndirectly held ownership interest in Asian-Pacific Bank ranging from 16 48% to
16 56% each

0JSC Apatit {“Apatit”), a subsidiary of J5C PhosAgro (“PhosAgro”), 1s considered to be a related party due to
PhosAgra’s non-controthing interest and significant influence in the Group's subsidiary, Giproruda

Mr Peter Hambro 1s a Director and a benehcial awner of Peter Hambro Limited  As at 31 December 2010, Mr
Peter Hambro held 51% of ownership interest i Peter Hambro Limited  During the year, Mr Peter Hambro held a
51% ownership mterest in Peter Hambro Limited

Jiatar Trtanium and Vanadium Joint Venture are joint ventures of the Group and hence are related parties Please
refer to note 11 for further information on the future of the hatar Titamum project

Uralmining 1s an associate of the Group and hence 1s a related party

Transactions with related partes the Group entered into during the year are set out on the following page
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Trading tronsactions

Related party transactions the Group entered into that related to the day-to-day operation of the business are set out below
except for the interest income earned and Interest expenses incurred, which have been disclosed In note 13 and note 14

respectively

Sales
2010 2009 2010 2009
Us$'000 Uss’¢oo Uss'000 US5'000
Petropavlovsk PLC and 1ts
subsidianies and joint ventures
Petropaviovsk PLC 688 148 1,249 405
0QISC Irgiredmet - - 711 378
LLC NPGF Regis 33 13 417 296
LLC Ohereg CHOP - 41 401 300
CJSC Pater Hambro Mining
Engineerning 129 - 5098 3,214
CISC Pokrovsky Rudmk 3,971 1,074 21 85
CJSC Malomyrskiy Rudnik 7 158 - -
Dalgeciogia 146 927 5,565 870
Kapstray 2,734 3,228 17,860 24,858
MC Petropaviovsk 838 800 438 479
PRP Stansu - 4 37 35
Gidrometallurgia 152 94 - -
Odolgo 19 a3 - -
NNQUS 'PGK’ - - - 22
Aricom Rouble Treasury UX Ltd 17 - - -
Aricom Finance UK Ltd 26 - - -
Ancors Treasury UK Lid 27 - - -
Asian Pacific Bank 70 - - -
Trading transactions with
other related parties
Peter Hambro Lirited - . - 501
Apatit 3,974 2,974 - -
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The related party transactons as disclosed above were conducted 1n accordance with terms mutually agreed with
counter parbies and In the Group's ardinary and usual course of business

Except for the lcans due to (from) related partes shown in note 27, the remaining cutstanding balances with related partes at

the end of the reporting penod are set out below

Amounts owed by

related parnes®

Amounts owed 10
related parties®™

2010 2009 2010 2008
uss'coe uss'000 uss'o0o Uss'goo

Petropavlovsk PLC and its

subsidiaries and joint ventures

Petropavlovsk PLC - - 246 -
0JSC Irgiredmet 610 8 5 -
LLC NPGF Regis 4 2 205 290
LLC Cbereg CHOP - 5 42 40

CJSC Peter Hambro Mining
Engineering 1,789 1,310 1,187 618
CJSC Pokrovsky Rudnik 228 331 1 4,146
CJSC Malomyrskiy Rudnik 9 . 800 -
Calgeologia 95 258 625 600
Kapstroy - 559 127 5
MC Petropaviovsk 34 - - 1,992
PRP Stansu - 12 - -
Gidrometallurgia 2 1 - -
Qdolgo P 2 - -
Ancom Rouble Treasury UK Ltd 17 - - -
Ancom Finance UK ttd 26 - - -
Asian Pacific Bank - - - -

Quistanding balances with

other related parties

Apatit 925 398 - -
2,836 3,238 7,691

3741

1k The amounts are recarded in trade and other recewvables, which are unsecured, non-interest beanng and repayable

on demand

®  The amounts are recarded in trade and other payables, which are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable

on demand
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Banking arrangements

Other than the related party transaction as disclosed in note 41, the Group has bank accounts with Asian-Pacific Bank
The bank balances at the end of the reporting penied are set out below

2010 2009
US5'000 USsSs'000
Asian-Pacific Bank 13,531 817

The Group earned interest on the balances held on accounts with the above bank details of which are set

cut below
2010 2009
Uss 000 USS'000
Interest income from cash and cash equivalents 3 1,559

Fingncing transactions

The Group has provided a2 loan to an associate, Uralmining The interest income accrued on Lthe loan to
Uraimining amounted to US5476,000 (2009 US$792,000) for the years ended 31 December 2010 The lean and
Interest income receivable as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 was fully impaired 1n the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as the loan to Uralmining s considered to be unrecoverable

Key Monagement Compensation

During the year ended 31 December 2009, George Jay Hambro, Brian Egan, Yury Makarov and Martn Smith

were considered the key management personnel of Anicom, who after 22 Apnl 2009 were also employed by
Petropavlovsk PLC During the year ended 31 December 2010, George Jay Hambro, Brian Egan and Yury Makarov
were considered the key management personnel of Artcom  For the period from 22 Apnif 2009 to 31 December
2010, a component of their Petropavlovsk PLC remuneraton was ailocated to Aricorn to reflect the propornon of
their roles that related to Aricom husiness The remuneration of key management personnel 1s set out below In

aggregate
2010 2009
UsSS’000 uss'oo0
Short-term benefits 1,795 1,914
Post-employment benents 110 108
Share-based payments 105 1,426
2,010 3,468

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends
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Restructuring

During the year ended 31 December 2010, 2 number of transachons were undertaken beiween the Group and
the Petropavlovsk Group in order to put the IRC isting structure in place

In summary these transactions included
1 Thencorporation of the Company, Thorholdco, Thorrouble and Thordoliar,
2 The transfer of loans receivable from the Ancom Group to Thorrouble and Thordoliar,

3 The disposal of Aricom Finance UK Limited and Anicom Treasury UK Limited and its subsidiartes to the
Petropavlovsk Group, and

4 The payment of a dividend to Petropavlovsk PLC of US5644,437,000

Further detalls of the transaction set out In points 1 - 3 above are set out in note 33(b) Details of the dividend
are set out in note 16

43. Disposal of subsidiaries

On 10 june 2010, the Group disposed of its interest in Aricom Finance UK Limited and Ancom Treasury UK Limited
and its subsidianes to Petropaviovsk PLC These entinies were part of the intercompany fnancing structure of the
Ancom Group and thelr principal assets were group company current accounts, and were not considered to be a
discontinued operation of the Group

Total consideranon of USS468,732,000 has been received for the sale of these entibes The loss on sale of these
entnes of US$168,509,000 was recogrised in equity as a transfer to the equity holder, as it was generated by
the difference between the value of the intercompany receivables in the standaione accounting records of each
entity, compared to the balance eliminated from the conselidated financial statements When these loans

were transferred to Thorrouble and Thordoltar, as set out 1n note 33, the difference between the value of the
consideration paid by these companies and the contractual amounts of the recevables of Us5205,412,000 was
recognised as an offsetting transfer of equity by the owner

There were no cash-flows arising as a result of this transachon
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44, Particulars of principal subsidiaries

Equity interest
attributable to the Group

Issued and fully

Name of company paid share capital

Principal activities

20100 200919
Arnn Limited us$10 000 100% 100% Provision of financing
services for the Group
Brasenose Services Limited Uss2,912 100% 100% Investment holding
Dardanius Lirmited LIS$6,080 100% 100% Investment hoiding
Esimanor Uimirted 1J852,502 100% 100% investment holding
Expokom Limited U5$158,808 100% 100% Investment holding
(formerly Methkita Limited)
Guiner Enterprises Ltd Us5271,080 100% 100% Investment holding
Kapucius Services Limrted USS$32,500 100% 100% Investment holding
Lapwing Limited { ‘Lapwing } €28,795 99 58% 99 538% Investment holding
Lucilius Investments Limited US5522,740 100% 100% Investment holding
Metelius Limited Us53,640 100% 100% Investment holding
Rumier Holdings Ltd Us5270,945 100% 100% Investment holding
Russtan Titan Company Limited Uss5197 100% 100% Investment hoiding
Tenaviva Limited 13$54,650 100% 100% Investment holding
Ancom £1,315,864 100% 100% Investment holding
Aricom UK Limitted £241,481,039 100% 100% Investment holding
Aricom B finance ple/ £2 - 100% Investment holding
Aricom B Limited™ uss100 . 100% Investment holding
Ancom B Roubles RUR1,000 - 100% Provision of financing
Treasury Lumited™ services for the Group
Ancom Finance UK Limited™ £2 - 160% Provision of inancing
services for the Group
Ancom Roubles Treasury RURE2,684,000 - 100% Provision of financing
UK Limiteg™ services for the Group
Ancom Services Lirmited™ Uss1 - 100% Business services for
the Group
Aricom Treasury UK Limyted® £2 - 100% Proviston of financing
services for the Group
Ant HK Limited HKS1 100% 100% Darmant
Ariva HK Limited HKS51 100% 100% Investment holding
Thorholdco Limited uss31 - 100% Investment holding
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Name of company

Issued and fully
paid share capital

Equity interest
attributable to the Group
2010 2009

Principal activities

Thorrouble Limited

Thordoliar Lsroted

LLC Petropeviovsk-lron Ore
{formerly LLC Anicom)

LLC K5 GOK

LLC Olekminsky Rudrik

LLC Rubican

CJSC Soviet Harbour
Maritime Trade Port
{(“CISC SGMTP )™

LLC TOK
0I5C Giproruda™

LLC GMMC

LLC Kostenginskiy GOX

LLC Oriovsko-Sokhatinsky
Rudmik

LLC Garinskaya
Infrastructure

LLC Amursnab

LLC Karier Ushumunskry

RUR100,000

U553,000

RUR10,000,000

RUR141,514,865

RUR1,378,664,935

RUR100,000

RUR1,000,000

RURL0,000
RUR4,639

RUR780,000,000

RUR10 COQ

RUR10,060

RUR1 000,000

RUR10,000,000

RUR1,000,000

- 100%

- 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

70 28% 70 28%

99 58% 99 58%

100% 160%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

Provision of inancing
services for the Group

Provision of hinancing
services far the Group

Business services for
the Group

Exploration and mining
- K&5S

Exploration and mintng
- Kuranakh

Development of bridge
and other infrastructure
projects for the Group

Development of port
for the Group

Dormant
Engineering services

Exploration and mining
- Garinskoye

Exploration and miming
- Kostenginskoye

Exploration and mining
- Garinskoye Flanks

Transportation services
for Garinskoye

Procurement services

Coal production

{a)

v}
]
{4

On 10 June 2010, these entibes were sold to Petropavlovsk PLC, the ultmate holding company as part of the

Restructuring Refer to note 2 for further information on the Restructuning |
CJSC s a Closed Joint Stock Company in Russia CJSCissued shares cannot be freely traded |
QISC s an Open Joint Stock Company in Russia CJSC issued shares can be freely traded |
As at 31 December 2010, except for Thorhgldco Limited and LLC KS GOK, which were directly held by the Company, all |
of interests in remaning subsidianes are mdirectly attributable to the Group, while as at 31 December 2009, except for |
Arfin Limuted, Anicom UK Limited and Arnicom Finance UK Limited, which was drrectly held by Aricom, all of the interasts in |
remaining subsidiaries were indirectly attributable to the Group
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Financial Summary

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December

2007 2008 2009 2010

Uss’'000 Uss'000 uUss$ 000 uss’000

Revenue 4,938 9,674 8,260 25,792

Profit {loss) attributable to shareholders 1,040 (427,377} {139,291) (B2,358)

Earnings (loss) per share (US cents)

Basic and dilutec 008 (24 36) (7 66} {362}
Assets and Lhabtilines of the Group at 31 December

2007 2008 2009 2010

USS'000 Uss’000 Uss 000 uss’'o0o

Total assets 1,164,449 778,682 886,867 867,519

Total lrabthties (22,053} (20,816} (287,527) (62,901)

Net assets 1,142,396 757,866 599,340 804,618




